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 1                            PROCEEDINGS
  

 2                          JANUARY 28, 2015
  

 3                  HEARING OFFICER:  At this time we will
  

 4             formally go on the record.  My name is Greg
  

 5             Kirkpatrick.  I'm the hearing officer in the
  

 6             matter of Linda Shepherd and Joseph Caveness
  

 7             with Drew County Burial Association to be heard
  

 8             before the Arkansas Burial Association Board.
  

 9             Today is January 28, 2015.  The Board has set a
  

10             hearing to determine whether Linda Shepherd,
  

11             Joseph Caveness, and the Drew County Burial
  

12             Association Board violated Arkansas Code
  

13             Annotated Section 23-78-122.
  

14                  The Respondent -- Mr. Harris, I want to
  

15             make sure your Respondents did get notice of
  

16             the matter today.
  

17                  MR. HARRIS:  Yes.
  

18                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  And if it's
  

19             okay, for this part I'm going to go ahead and
  

20             address them and then I'll focus my attention
  

21             on you.
  

22                  Ms. Shepherd and Mr. Caveness, did you both
  

23             -- you both are aware and got the notice of
  

24             this hearing today in the packet.
  

25                  MR. CAVENESS:  Yes.
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 1                  MS. SHEPHERD:  Yes.
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  Excellent.  Mr. Harris,
  

 3             I'm going to focus now on you from here on out.
  

 4             I just wanted to make sure we were on the
  

 5             record with the Respondents.
  

 6                  Mr. Harris, do you have any additional
  

 7             witnesses that you're going to call?
  

 8                  MR. HARRIS:  There are perhaps as many as
  

 9             four additional witnesses; some will be members
  

10             of the burial association.  And I also have
  

11             reserved the potential to call Mr. Brooke,
  

12             who's the auditor.
  

13                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, would you go
  

14             ahead and -- do you have any additional witness
  

15             -- do you have any witnesses you're going to
  

16             bring forward?
  

17                  MS. HODGE:  I do.  I plan to call Amy
  

18             Goode, the executive secretary for the Board,
  

19             and then Ms. Shepherd and Mr. Caveness, also.
  

20                  UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  We can't hear you back
  

21             here.
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  I have heard from the
  

23             audience that maybe sound is going to be an
  

24             issue.  I do apologize up front.  I'll talk as
  

25             loud as I can.  I'm facing you.  Unfortunately,
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 1             I'm afraid most of the testimony is going to be
  

 2             facing the Board.  We'll do the best we can.
  

 3             There is no microphone system in here so,
  

 4             again, I apologize.  If you're having trouble,
  

 5             kind of try to move forward as best you can.
  

 6             But again, I think the primary goal of the
  

 7             hearing is going to be for these Board members.
  

 8             So we'll do absolutely the best we can for the
  

 9             audience in terms of being able -- everyone
  

10             being able to hear.
  

11                  At this time, I want to ask all witnesses.
  

12             So, Mr. Harris, if you'll help me make sure
  

13             your witnesses stand and raise their right
  

14             hand, and the same with you, Ms. Hodge.  If
  

15             you're going to potentially testify in this
  

16             matter as a witness for either the Respondent
  

17             or the State, please stand and raise your right
  

18             hand.  And Ms. Shepherd and Mr. Caveness, if
  

19             you two will also stand and raise your right
  

20             hand for me.
  

21                         (WITNESSES SWORN)
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  You can be seated.  Thank
  

23             you.  This hearing is being held pursuant to
  

24             the Administrative --
  

25                  MR. HARRIS:  One -- and I'm sorry, Mr.
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 1             Hearing Officer.
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  Yes, sir, Mr. Harris.
  

 3                  MR. HARRIS:  I believe we did have one
  

 4             other.  There was Michael Jones.
  

 5                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Jones, if you'll go
  

 6             ahead and raise your right hand.  We'll go
  

 7             through it again.
  

 8                          (WITNESS SWORN)
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, sir.
  

10                  For the record, this hearing is being held
  

11             pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act.
  

12             As the strict rules of evidence don't apply,
  

13             the parties are going to be given some latitude
  

14             in introducing evidence with the goal of
  

15             promoting a fair and efficient hearing.  This
  

16             hearing is subject to the Freedom of
  

17             Information Act and, therefore, all parts of
  

18             the hearing are open to the public.  The
  

19             Board's decision is going to be based solely on
  

20             the evidence that's presented here today.
  

21                  At this time, Ms. Hodge, would you please
  

22             go through the evidence you're going to present
  

23             in the matter.
  

24                  MS. HODGE:  I will.  And I spoke with Mr.
  

25             Harris before the hearing started and we have
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 1             stipulated to exhibits, and so I move to
  

 2             introduce State's Compilation Exhibit 1, by
  

 3             stipulation, no objection from Mr. Harris.  And
  

 4             I will distribute those to the Board.  And I've
  

 5             given an original copy to the court reporter.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Ms. Hodge.
  

 7             And with the stipulation, Mr. Harris, we'll
  

 8             show that as State's Exhibit 1 and it'll be
  

 9             admitted.
  

10                  (WHEREUPON, State's Exhibit Number 1 was
  

11             marked for identification and is attached
  

12             hereto.)
  

13                  MS. HODGE:  State's Exhibit Compilation 1
  

14             is a compilation exhibit encompassing 54 pages.
  

15             It includes December 18th correspondence from
  

16             Amy Goode, the executive secretary, to Ms.
  

17             Linda Shepherd; delivery confirmation of that
  

18             correspondence; the Board's Emergency Order
  

19             signed by Amy Goode on December 18, 2014.
  

20             There's January 06, 2015, correspondence of a
  

21             notice of this hearing to Ms. Linda Shepherd
  

22             and Joseph Caveness, with delivery confirmation
  

23             to both of those individuals on Page 7 and 8.
  

24                  And then a copy of the Notice of Hearing
  

25             for today's hearing from executive secretary
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 1             Amy Goode to Ms. Shepherd and Mr. Caveness
  

 2             dated January 06, 2015.  There is a subpoena to
  

 3             Commercial Bank on Page 13, from Amy Goode, the
  

 4             executive secretary, dated December 22, 2014.
  

 5             There is, on Page 14, December 15, 2014,
  

 6             correspondence from Joseph Caveness.  And then
  

 7             a November 25, 2014, correspondence from a Mr.
  

 8             Michael Jones appears at Page 15.
  

 9                  Pages 16 through 39 are Drew County Burial
  

10             Association bank records.  And I will note for
  

11             the record that, should this case be taken up
  

12             on appeal, that these bank records will be
  

13             redacted according to the court's rules.  On
  

14             Page 40 through 41 is this Board's May 23,
  

15             2012, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law
  

16             concerning Drew County Burial Board's request
  

17             for dissolution.
  

18                  On Pages 42 through 48 is the July 23,
  

19             2012, Amended Petition for Declaratory
  

20             Judgment, which was filed by the Drew County
  

21             Burial Association against this Board in
  

22             Pulaski County Circuit Court.  On Pages 49
  

23             through 50 is the October 2, 2014, Motion for
  

24             Voluntary Dismissal by the Drew County Burial
  

25             Association.  On Pages 51 through 52 is the

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



11

  
 1             October 27, 2014, Motion for Voluntary
  

 2             Dismissal by Intervenors in that same matter.
  

 3             And then on Pages 53 through 54 is the October
  

 4             29, 2014, Order dismissing that action by the
  

 5             Pulaski County Circuit Judge Alice Gray.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, ma'am.  Mr.
  

 7             Harris, what evidence are you going to present
  

 8             in the matter?
  

 9                  MR. HARRIS:  We have -- and I will present
  

10             this -- and we only have one packet -- to the
  

11             hearing officer.  But a letter dated February
  

12             12, 2012, which we've previously forwarded from
  

13             the Drew County Burial Association to the
  

14             Arkansas State Burial Association Board
  

15             encapsulating Drew County's request for the
  

16             Board to approve a voluntary dissolution, along
  

17             with the minutes from the Board of Directors
  

18             Meeting and the members showing their approval.
  

19                  A letter also dated February 12, 2012,
  

20             addressed to the Secretary of State, including
  

21             Articles of Dissolution.  The public notice
  

22             that was run, notice to any potential
  

23             creditors, just showing steps that the burial
  

24             association has taken to notify any potential
  

25             claims as a result of the voluntary
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 1             dissolution.  In the back, it has the minutes
  

 2             attached to it.  In there are Articles of
  

 3             Association for the Drew County Burial
  

 4             Association.
  

 5                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, are you
  

 6             comfortable if we just call that Respondent
  

 7             Compilation Exhibit 1?
  

 8                  MR. HARRIS:  Yes.
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  And Ms. Hodge, these are
  

10             stipulated too, correct?
  

11                  MS. HODGE:  They are.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  So without objection,
  

13             we'll admit them as Respondents' Exhibit 1.
  

14             And I will get a copy.  I'll get this to the
  

15             court reporter.
  

16                  (WHEREUPON, Respondents' Exhibit Number 1
  

17             was marked for identification and is attached
  

18             hereto.)
  

19                  HEARING OFFICER:  Any additional evidence
  

20             to present or anything we need to discuss to
  

21             admit?
  

22                  I do have one matter.  I know there are
  

23             several folks in the audience who are going to
  

24             want to make a comment.  There is a sign-in
  

25             sheet circulating.  It's actually here at the
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 1             front, and there is a pen.  We're going to
  

 2             circulate that sign-in sheet.  I'm going to
  

 3             need every -- if you want to speak, I need your
  

 4             name on the sign-in sheet.
  

 5                  Going to Ms. Hodge and Mr. Harris, I assume
  

 6             we're going to do an opening statement from
  

 7             both of you, or do you find it necessary?
  

 8                  MS. HODGE:  I was going to waive opening.
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Were you going to waive?
  

10                  MS. HODGE:  I'd like to do a closing after
  

11             the evidence, but I'll waive opening.
  

12                  MR. HARRIS:  I will reserve my opening for
  

13             closing.
  

14                  HEARING OFFICER:  We will waive that.  So
  

15             let's circulate it through.  At some point, I'm
  

16             going to call, kind of, a time on it and we're
  

17             going to collect those sign-in sheets.  If your
  

18             name is on it, you will be given an opportunity
  

19             once the testimony and evidence is presented,
  

20             and once the Board members have had an
  

21             opportunity to ask their questions.  And again,
  

22             I would ask to try to be as brief as you can.
  

23             I know there are some feelings that people want
  

24             to express but, really, this hearing is as much
  

25             about getting evidence to the Board to allow
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 1             them to make a decision and a final
  

 2             determination on the Notice of Hearing.
  

 3                  So if we're clear with that and if we're
  

 4             ready to move into the evidentiary portion, Ms.
  

 5             Hodge, I'll turn it over to you.
  

 6                  MS. HODGE:  And I call Amy Goode, the
  

 7             executive secretary for the Burial Board.
  

 8                     EXAMINATION OF AMY GOODE
  

 9   BY MS. HODGE:
  

10   Q    Ms. Goode, would you state your name for the
  

11   record.
  

12   A    Amy Goode.
  

13   Q    And you're currently the executive secretary for
  

14   the Board; is that correct?
  

15   A    That's correct.
  

16   Q    How long have you been executive secretary?
  

17   A    Since July 1st, 2011.
  

18   Q    And were you the executive secretary -- let me ask
  

19   you this question.  Are you familiar with the Drew
  

20   County Burial Association?
  

21   A    Yes.
  

22   Q    And are they an association that operates pursuant
  

23   to this Board's authority?
  

24   A    Yes.
  

25   Q    Were you the executive secretary when the Drew
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 1   County Burial Association first approached the Board
  

 2   about dissolving?
  

 3   A    Yes.
  

 4   Q    Do you know, in what manner did the Drew County
  

 5   Burial Association first present the issue of
  

 6   dissolution to the Board?
  

 7   A    It may have been in the letter that was submitted
  

 8   from Mr. Harris to the Board to make a decision on.
  

 9   That resulted in the hearing in May of 2012, I believe.
  

10   Q    And let me just direct your attention to State's
  

11   Exhibit 1 at Page 40 through 41.  You just testified
  

12   that you are aware that the Drew County Burial
  

13   Association made a request to dissolve and that that
  

14   request resulted in a hearing.  Do you recognize Pages
  

15   40 through 41 to be an Order from this Board regarding a
  

16   request for dissolution?
  

17   A    Yes.
  

18   Q    And what was the Board's decision on whether or not
  

19   the Drew County Burial Association had the authority to
  

20   dissolve?
  

21   A    The Burial Association Act did not provide the
  

22   authority for the Board to concur with the plan to
  

23   dissolve the burial association.  Because of that lack
  

24   of authority, the Board cannot concur with or approve
  

25   the plan of dissolution submitted by Drew County.
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 1   Q    So the Board did not approve their request to
  

 2   dissolve.
  

 3   A    Yes, ma'am.
  

 4   Q    And then I'm looking specifically at Page 41, under
  

 5   "Order".  The Board does not approve or concur with the
  

 6   plan for dissolution of the Drew County Burial
  

 7   Association.
  

 8        Now, in your tenure as executive secretary, after
  

 9   the Board enters an Order on a request or a petition,
  

10   are you aware whether or not there is an appeals
  

11   process?
  

12   A    Yes.
  

13   Q    Have you been involved in other cases where there
  

14   has been appeal from the Board's Orders?
  

15   A    Maybe not with this Board, but with my other Board,
  

16   yes.
  

17   Q    Are you aware --
  

18                  MS. HODGE:  If the Hearing Officer could
  

19             ask the audience to keep comments, because it's
  

20             difficult for me to hear the witness'
  

21             testimony, and I think it's distracting if the
  

22             audience shouts out.
  

23                  HEARING OFFICER:  I agree.  I had not heard
  

24             any until that one and I was going to cut you
  

25             off.  So please, from the audience perspective
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 1             -- you will get an opportunity to speak, but
  

 2             let's maintain as much decorum.  Part of it's
  

 3             the sound.  Part of it's just so everybody can,
  

 4             kind of, stay focused on the issues.  Thank
  

 5             you.  And I will tell you, I will have to have
  

 6             you removed from the room if it's going to be a
  

 7             problem with a specific individual.
  

 8   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Are you aware, in your tenure as
  

 9   the executive secretary, whether or not the Drew County
  

10   Burial Association has ever appealed from this May 23,
  

11   2012, Order?
  

12   A    Not to my knowledge.
  

13   Q    Will you turn with me to State's Exhibit 1 Page 42.
  

14   After the Board entered its Order indicating that it did
  

15   not concur with Drew County Burial Association's
  

16   decision to dissolve, were you aware that they filed a
  

17   declaratory judgment in Pulaski County Circuit Court?
  

18   A    Yes.
  

19   Q    And do you know the result of that petition?
  

20   A    In October of 2014, they requested to voluntary
  

21   dismiss that.
  

22   Q    And when you say "they", you're referring to the
  

23   Drew County Burial Association?
  

24   A    Yes, ma'am.
  

25   Q    And let me direct the Board's attention to Pages 50
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 1   and 51.  Let's start at Page 51, actually.  And on Page
  

 2   51 is a Motion for Voluntary Dismissal, Pulaski County
  

 3   Circuit Court Action 60CV-2012-3199.  And who signed
  

 4   that motion for dismissal on Page 51?
  

 5   A    Page 51?  Attorneys for the Intervenors.  Are we on
  

 6   the same page?
  

 7   Q    On Page 51.  I'm referring to the motion for
  

 8   voluntary dismissal.  And I apologize.  Some of my pages
  

 9   have two page numbers on it.
  

10                  HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah.  Ms. Hodge, if
  

11             you'll clarify.  I'm looking at a page that
  

12             says 51 and then, kind of, over --
  

13                  MS. HODGE:  There's a 49.
  

14                  HEARING OFFICER:  -- it is a 49.
  

15                  MS. HODGE:  Right.
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  Is that the page you're
  

17             referring to?
  

18                  MS. HODGE:  That is the page I'm referring
  

19             to.
  

20   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Are you on page --
  

21   A    I think I'm on the right page now.
  

22   Q    I'm referring to the Motion for Voluntary
  

23   Dismissal.
  

24   A    That would be Jackie Harris.
  

25   Q    And in the initial paragraph on that motion for
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 1   dismissal, who is identified as the Petitioner in that
  

 2   motion?
  

 3   A    Drew County Burial Association.
  

 4   Q    And then if you'll turn with me to Exhibit 1 Page
  

 5   -- on mine, it's 53 or 55.  Flip to Page 53.
  

 6   A    Okay.
  

 7   Q    And do you recognize that as an Order of Dismissal?
  

 8   Did you receive a copy of this Order?
  

 9   A    Yes.
  

10   Q    And as the executive secretary, did you understand
  

11   that Drew County had moved to dismiss their action
  

12   against the Board in Pulaski County Circuit Court and
  

13   that the court had granted that permission?
  

14   A    Yes.
  

15   Q    Did there come a time when you learned that,
  

16   despite the Board's denial of Drew County's request to
  

17   dissolve, and the Order --
  

18                  MR. HARRIS:  I'll object to the
  

19             characterization of the action, the denial of
  

20             Drew County's request to dissolve.
  

21                  MS. HODGE:  We just went through the
  

22             exhibit where the -- and the executive
  

23             secretary just testified that on May 23, 2012,
  

24             the Board denied their petition for
  

25             dissolution.  It did not concur that their plan
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 1             for dissolution and so --
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  What is your basis on
  

 3             this objection, because it is -- there was a
  

 4             motion requesting dismissal by the burial
  

 5             association?
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  The motion for dismissal was
  

 7             for the lawsuit, and I believe Counsel is
  

 8             referring to the actual action that the Board
  

 9             had taken.  So there was no motion from Drew
  

10             County Burial Association to the Board for
  

11             dismissal.  That motion for dismissal was to
  

12             the Pulaski County Circuit Court.
  

13                  And again, the Order speaks for itself as
  

14             to what it is, and it says that the Board does
  

15             not have statutory authority to approve or
  

16             concur, and that's what the Order is.  To
  

17             characterize it as a denial I think is
  

18             incorrect.  I think it muddies the record.
  

19                  HEARING OFFICER:  Do you mind clarifying,
  

20             Ms. Hodge, because we may be using dissolution
  

21             request and dismissal.  Is that where --
  

22                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, it's not the dismissal,
  

23             it's --
  

24                  HEARING OFFICER:  Right.
  

25                  MR. HARRIS:  -- in May -- well, the Order
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 1             is dated June of 2012.  The Board outlined the
  

 2             reasons -- well, let me -- I don't mean to be
  

 3             testifying, but --
  

 4                  MS. HODGE:  And I'm going to object to Mr.
  

 5             Harris testifying.
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  But the Order speaks for
  

 7             itself and that's the only thing.  It says the
  

 8             Board clearly stated they didn't have the
  

 9             statutory authority to approve it.
  

10                  MS. HODGE:  If I may, the executive
  

11             secretary just testified that on May 23, 2012
  

12             -- and we're referring to Page 40 and 41 -- the
  

13             Board's final Order on the Drew County Burial
  

14             Board's Request for Dissolution where the Board
  

15             says it did not concur or approve a plan for
  

16             dissolution.  So the opposite of approval is
  

17             denial, and I was asking the executive
  

18             secretary that following the Board's denial of
  

19             Drew County's Request for Dissolution,
  

20             referring to this May 23rd Order, and that's
  

21             where the objection came.
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  I think the question is
  

23             valid, so I'm going to overrule the objection
  

24             but we'll note it on the record.  So you can
  

25             certainly ask the question.
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 1   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Ms. Goode, following the Board's
  

 2   denial of Drew County's request for a plan of
  

 3   dissolution, did it come to your attention that the Drew
  

 4   County Burial Board had decided to dissolve anyway?
  

 5   A    Sometime after the -- let's see, after we had
  

 6   received that they had, you know, voluntarily dismissed
  

 7   their complaint with the Pulaski County courts, we did
  

 8   find that they had decided to go ahead and dissolve on
  

 9   their own through our then legal counsel at the time,
  

10   who was notified by a board member who was from that
  

11   area and had witness to it.
  

12   Q    And what action did the Board take in response to
  

13   receiving that information?
  

14   A    They scheduled an emergency teleconference board
  

15   meeting.
  

16   Q    And if you would turn with me to Pages 3 through 4.
  

17   Did the Board enter an Emergency Order following that
  

18   hearing?
  

19   A    Yes, they did.
  

20   Q    And did Ms. Shepherd, as secretary/treasurer,
  

21   receive notice of that Emergency Order?
  

22   A    Yes.
  

23   Q    And the Emergency Order, what action did the Board
  

24   take?
  

25   A    They took -- they removed the current officers, Ms.
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 1   Shepherd and Mr. Caveness.  They removed them as
  

 2   officers of the Drew County Burial Association and froze
  

 3   the bank accounts on behalf of the Drew County Burial
  

 4   Association that they held at Commercial Bank.  And then
  

 5   they appointed myself as the interim
  

 6   secretary/treasurer.
  

 7                  MR. HARRIS:  Portions of that I would move
  

 8             to strike.  Object to move to strike that.  The
  

 9             Order, again, speaks for itself, and they were
  

10             not removed but suspended.  And again, the
  

11             Order is clear and it speaks for itself and I
  

12             don't think we have to try to interpret what
  

13             the actual written document said.
  

14                  HEARING OFFICER:  That objection will
  

15             sustain.  That is fair.  So the Order does say
  

16             temporarily -- suspending pending further
  

17             review -- or administrative proceedings.
  

18   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  And I had asked you what action the
  

19   Board took.  And the Order does say that Mr. Caveness
  

20   and Ms. Shepherd were suspended, pending further review.
  

21        After you were appointed secretary following the
  

22   Emergency Order, did you send us a subpoena to
  

23   Commercial Bank regarding Drew County Burial
  

24   Association's bank records?
  

25   A    Yes.
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 1   Q    And will you look with me on Page 13.  And is that
  

 2   the subpoena that you sent on December 22, 2014, to
  

 3   Commercial Bank for records related to the Drew County
  

 4   Burial Association?
  

 5   A    Yes.
  

 6   Q    And did you receive records in response to your
  

 7   request?
  

 8   A    Yes, I did.
  

 9   Q    And if you'll flip over with me to Page 18 -- and I
  

10   think if you look at Page 16 through 39, are these
  

11   copies of the records you received from Commercial Bank
  

12   related to your subpoena for Drew County Burial
  

13   Association?
  

14   A    Yes.
  

15   Q    And reviewing these records, let me have you flip
  

16   over to page -- let's look at Page 24.  Is this a copy
  

17   of the check you received that was written on the
  

18   account of the Drew County Burial Association in
  

19   response to the subpoena you issued?
  

20   A    Let's make sure I'm on the right page.  Twenty-
  

21   four?
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  Is it 24 or 26?
  

23                  MS. HODGE:  It's 22/24.  And I apologize.
  

24             I don't know why double pages got printed.
  

25   A    Yes.
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 1   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  And who signed this check?
  

 2   A    Linda Shepherd.
  

 3   Q    And the amount of it is $4,235.47?
  

 4   A    Yes.
  

 5   Q    And flip over to the next page.  Is this another
  

 6   check drawn on the Drew County Burial Association bank
  

 7   record?
  

 8   A    Yes.
  

 9   Q    And is it signed by Linda Shepherd?
  

10   A    Yes.
  

11   Q    For the amount of $4,709.98?
  

12   A    Yes.
  

13   Q    And we won't go through them all, but if you'll
  

14   just flip over to Page 26 and look with me at Page 26,
  

15   27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, and 34 and tell me if you
  

16   recognize those as checks that are drawn on the account
  

17   of the Drew County Burial Association all signed by Ms.
  

18   Linda Shepherd, and various amounts ranging from $4,000
  

19   to $29,000.
  

20   A    Yes.
  

21   Q    Are you familiar with the specific burial policies
  

22   that are issued by burial associations in our state?
  

23   A    Explain that.
  

24   Q    The amount for the policies.
  

25   A    Yes.
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 1   Q    Are any of them issued for amounts larger than
  

 2   $2,500?
  

 3   A    No.
  

 4   Q    Are any of them issued in amounts for $29,000?
  

 5   A    No.
  

 6   Q    Forty-seven hundred dollars?
  

 7   A    No.
  

 8   Q    Six thousand dollars?
  

 9   A    No.
  

10   Q    So the checks that were issued on the Drew County
  

11   Burial Association's account far exceeded any burial
  

12   policy that would have been written for that
  

13   association; is that a fair statement?
  

14   A    Yes.
  

15   Q    Are you aware of whether or not any burial
  

16   association in our state has the authority under this
  

17   Board's statutes to issue a burial board policy
  

18   exceeding $2,500?
  

19   A    No.
  

20   Q    No, they are not allowed to.  Give me just a
  

21   second.  The records that you received in response to
  

22   your subpoena, those checks were actually cashed or
  

23   deposited from the Drew County Burial Association's
  

24   account; is that correct?
  

25   A    Yes.
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 1   Q    There were others that were not cashed, but these
  

 2   in the record were cashed.
  

 3   A    Correct.
  

 4   Q    Let's take a look back at the records that you
  

 5   received in response to your subpoena for the Drew
  

 6   County Burial Association.  And let's look, for example,
  

 7   at page -- it's 26/28 on my copy.  It would be -- 28 was
  

 8   the real page number, but there's a 26.  The paid to the
  

 9   order on this particular check, which is written in the
  

10   amount of $6,599.24, is it made, are you aware, to an
  

11   investment company or a member of the Drew County Burial
  

12   Association?
  

13   A    It's made payable to a Vera Stanley Wiley.  I do
  

14   not know if she's -- I would assume she's a member of
  

15   the burial association.
  

16                  MR. HARRIS:  Objection, Your Honor, calls
  

17             for speculation.
  

18                  HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.
  

19   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  When you received these records, or
  

20   when you received information that Drew County had
  

21   decided to dissolve, was your understanding that the
  

22   association was making checks payable to its members or
  

23   that it was investing the funds?
  

24   A    Making checks payable to their members.
  

25                  MS. HODGE:  I'll pass the witness at this
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 1             time.
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, you can ask
  

 3             the witness questions.
  

 4                  MR. HARRIS:  Thank you.
  

 5                     EXAMINATION OF AMY GOODE
  

 6   BY MR. HARRIS:
  

 7   Q    Ms. Goode, were the checks which were listed in the
  

 8   previous exhibit, which you've identified, were they
  

 9   issued for the purpose of establishing burial policies,
  

10   to the best of your knowledge?
  

11   A    No.
  

12   Q    They were not?
  

13   A    Repeat your question, I guess.
  

14   Q    Were the checks issued for the purpose of
  

15   establishing a burial policy?
  

16   A    Not to my knowledge.
  

17   Q    So you are testifying, then, that they were -- the
  

18   Drew County Burial Association was not selling or
  

19   providing policies above the limit provided by law; is
  

20   that correct?
  

21   A    I'm not sure how to answer that question.
  

22   Q    Well, let me try to rephrase it.  You testified
  

23   that they were not issued for the purpose of burial
  

24   policies, correct?
  

25   A    I see them as checks being issued to just --
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 1   Q    Well, hear the question.  Hear the question.
  

 2   A    That's -- I'm --
  

 3   Q    But hear the question.
  

 4   A    Okay.
  

 5   Q    You just testified that the checks were not issued
  

 6   for the purpose of establishing a burial policy.  Was
  

 7   that, in fact, your testimony?  Yes?
  

 8   A    I believe it was.
  

 9   Q    So then it would follow, then, that the Drew County
  

10   Burial Association -- in the instance, you testified
  

11   about a check in the amount of $4,000, $6,000, up to
  

12   $29,000.  They were not issuing burial policies for
  

13   those amounts -- in those amounts; is that correct?
  

14   A    I would believe that's correct, yes.
  

15   Q    Now, I want to go back to the findings of facts and
  

16   conclusion of law dated June 7, 2012.  Do you have that
  

17   document in front of you?
  

18                  MS. HODGE:  What page?
  

19                  MR. HARRIS:  It looks like 43/41, yes.
  

20             It's your 42/40.
  

21   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  On Page 41 -- and I'm using the
  

22   top number -- the last paragraph.  I want you to read
  

23   the last paragraph of the Conclusion of Law.
  

24   A    Pursuant to Arkansas code --
  

25   Q    I'm sorry.  Just the last -- not the last
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 1   paragraph, I'm sorry, the last sentence, beginning with
  

 2   because.
  

 3                  HEARING OFFICER:  In the Conclusion of Law
  

 4             section.
  

 5   A    Okay.  I'm sorry.  "Because of this lack of
  

 6   authority, the Board cannot concur with or approve the
  

 7   plan of dissolution submitted by Drew County."
  

 8   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  So that Conclusion of Law would,
  

 9   in fact, state that the Arkansas Burial Association
  

10   Board has no authority as it relates to dissolution, or
  

11   a voluntary dissolution.
  

12   A    There's nothing in our statutes or regulations that
  

13   allow for dissolution.
  

14   Q    And if there is nothing in the statute, then is it
  

15   your testimony here today that the Board lacks authority
  

16   to address or deal with those with a voluntary
  

17   dissolution?
  

18   A    I would say that's what the Board felt at that
  

19   time, yes.
  

20   Q    The Board?  So at the time, the Board felt it had
  

21   no authority whatsoever to deal with a voluntary
  

22   dissolution.
  

23   A    Correct.
  

24   Q    And that it could not grant Drew County's request
  

25   because it doesn't have the authority.
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 1   A    There was no statute or rule giving them guidance
  

 2   to do that.
  

 3   Q    Which means that it didn't have the authority --
  

 4   A    Yes.
  

 5   Q    -- to approve.
  

 6   A    Yes.
  

 7   Q    So then it would follow that they also didn't have
  

 8   the authority to deny a voluntary dissolution.
  

 9   A    They have authority over all the burial
  

10   associations, so I don't know.
  

11   Q    But that's not responsive to the question.  The
  

12   question is, they stated that they lacked the statutory
  

13   authority in the Order to approve or concur with the
  

14   request made by the Drew County Burial Association; is
  

15   that correct?
  

16   A    That's what it says right here.
  

17   Q    So then it would follow, then, that they don't have
  

18   the statutory authority to deny a voluntary dissolution,
  

19   also.
  

20   A    I don't have a good answer for that.  I'm sorry.
  

21   Q    Well, the good answer would be --
  

22                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object.  Mr.
  

23             Harris can't give a good answer.  He can't
  

24             testify.  The witness said that she does not
  

25             have --
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 1                  MR. HARRIS:  This is all cross-examination
  

 2             and I can lead the witness.
  

 3                  MS. HODGE:  If you'll ask Mr. Harris to let
  

 4             me finish my objection for the record.
  

 5                  MR. HARRIS:  Sure.  Please.  I'm sorry.
  

 6                  MS. HODGE:  Mr. Harris, (A) the question
  

 7             has been asked and answered three times.  She
  

 8             answered the first question by reading from the
  

 9             Order.  Her answer to his question was, she
  

10             doesn't know how to answer the question.  And
  

11             then Mr. Harris is getting ready to tell the
  

12             answer to the question.  He can't testify for
  

13             the witness.  He can cross-examine the witness,
  

14             but he can't testify for her.
  

15                  HEARING OFFICER:  I sustain that objection.
  

16             You can ask it one more time, but if we
  

17             continue to get a similar answer --
  

18                  MR. HARRIS:  And I'll move on.
  

19                  HEARING OFFICER:  Sure.
  

20                  MR. HARRIS:  And I apologize for
  

21             interrupting your objection.
  

22   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Let's move to the Emergency Order,
  

23   which is dated December 18.
  

24                  HEARING OFFICER:  Top Number 3, Page 3 of
  

25             State's Exhibit 1.
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 1   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  I believe you testified earlier
  

 2   that you received information from a board member; is
  

 3   that correct?
  

 4   A    No, our counsel at the time.
  

 5   Q    You received information from legal counsel?  What
  

 6   information did you receive from legal counsel?
  

 7                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object because
  

 8             that's covered by attorney/client privilege.
  

 9             She said she -- I asked her in her direct if
  

10             she became aware that Drew County had decided
  

11             to dissolve and how she became aware of it, and
  

12             she said through the information from legal
  

13             counsel, and so whatever else was discussed
  

14             would be protected by attorney/client
  

15             privilege.
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to sustain the
  

17             objection.
  

18                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, my response to the
  

19             objection would be, she opened the door, first
  

20             of all, to me cross-examining about what
  

21             counsel said.  And second of all, all of the
  

22             testimony -- this would be subject to FOI, and
  

23             I don't believe in this instance that the
  

24             conversation that Ms. Goode had with legal
  

25             counsel would be protected by attorney-client
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 1             privilege.
  

 2                  MS. HODGE:  There was not a public meeting,
  

 3             so FOI would not apply.  She had a conversation
  

 4             just the executive director with legal counsel
  

 5             and that's not a public meeting, which would be
  

 6             covered by FOI.
  

 7                  And to respond to Mr. Harris' opening the
  

 8             door.  I asked how she became aware, and so
  

 9             there wasn't -- we didn't open the door for any
  

10             specifics of the conversation of how she became
  

11             aware that Drew County was acting contrary to
  

12             the Board's previous Order, and that's how she
  

13             became aware of it.  But there was no public
  

14             meeting or public record to which FOI would
  

15             apply to.
  

16                  MR. HARRIS:  I'll move on and back into the
  

17             question.
  

18   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Now, counsel just directed that
  

19   there was -- that Drew County was not complying with an
  

20   Order.  The Drew County Burial Association was not
  

21   complying with an Order from the Arkansas Burial
  

22   Association Board.  Would you agree that that's what you
  

23   became aware of?
  

24   A    Yes.
  

25   Q    How was Drew County not compliant?  I'm going to
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 1   ask you a two-part question.  Well, let me ask it this
  

 2   way.  Which Order was the Drew County Burial Association
  

 3   not complying with?
  

 4   A    I would say, the Order that was assigned June 2012.
  

 5   Q    And what does that Order say?  What is Drew County
  

 6   ordered to do in the June 7, 2012, Order that Drew
  

 7   County was acting contrary to?
  

 8   A    Let me find out what page that was on again.
  

 9   Q    I think it was 41.
  

10                  HEARING OFFICER:  Top number 40 of State's
  

11             Exhibit 1.
  

12   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  But the Order, again, was that the
  

13   Board does not approve.  So how was Drew County acting
  

14   contrary to the Board?
  

15   A    The Board has supervisory power over the Drew
  

16   Burial Association pursuant to Arkansas Code 23-78-109.
  

17   The Board has express statutory authority to grant and
  

18   revoke charters of the burial association.  Arkansas
  

19   Code 23-78-108. the Burial Association Act does not
  

20   provide authority for the Board to concur with plans to
  

21   dissolve a burial association, and because of this lack
  

22   of authority, the Board cannot concur with or approve
  

23   the plan of dissolution submitted by Drew County.  That
  

24   is what I'm saying.
  

25   Q    So how were they in violation of that particular
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 1   paragraph?  That the Board -- all the Board said is they
  

 2   cannot approve or concur with the dissolution.  So how
  

 3   was Drew County in violation of anything included in
  

 4   that Order?
  

 5                  MS. HODGE:  I think she's answered it.  You
  

 6             asked her and she explained by reading the
  

 7             Conclusions of Law that the Board has
  

 8             supervisory power over the Board and they --
  

 9             over the association and they did not approve
  

10             their plan of dissolution.  Asked and answered.
  

11                  MR. HARRIS:  And we understand that's a
  

12             statute not the Order.  That's just a
  

13             recitation from the statute and not the Order.
  

14             However, what was Drew County ordered to do in
  

15             the June 7, 2012 Order?
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to allow that
  

17             question.  I think we can get an answer.
  

18   A    What were they ordered to do?
  

19   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Correct.  That's the question.
  

20   A    Remain a burial association.
  

21   Q    Show me in the Order where Drew County was ordered
  

22   to remain a burial association.
  

23   A    It's not in there.
  

24   Q    Thank you.  Now, I want to get to the Emergency
  

25   Order of December 18th and I want to go back to the
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 1   issue of what you became aware of.  And you became aware
  

 2   of, as you testified, obviously it wasn't that Drew
  

 3   County was acting contrary to any Order, because you
  

 4   just testified there's not any Order.  What did you
  

 5   become aware of prior to issuing the Emergency Order on
  

 6   December 18, 2014?
  

 7   A    I became aware that the Board determined that they
  

 8   were -- the Board felt that they were in -- not obeying
  

 9   the Order that was issued in June of 2012.
  

10   Q    But what was the basis for that finding?
  

11   A    Based on information that we had received that they
  

12   had dissolved the association.
  

13   Q    What information was that, that you had that Drew
  

14   County had dissolved the burial association?
  

15   A    My legal counsel had called me to let me know he
  

16   had received information of that.
  

17   Q    And so I'm asking again -- I just -- the Board
  

18   acted on the advice of counsel and you leveled certain
  

19   allegations against the Respondents here.  What were the
  

20   -- what information did counsel provide to you that led
  

21   the Board to believe that the Drew County Burial
  

22   Association was in violation of the June 7, 2012, Order?
  

23   A    That there was suspicion that they had dissolved
  

24   the association, and when we had received that
  

25   information, we contacted Ms. Shepherd -- Mr. Brooke, I
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 1   think, contacted Ms. Shepherd and she confirmed that
  

 2   that's what had happened.
  

 3   Q    And when did you get that information?  Or when did
  

 4   you contact Ms. Shepherd?
  

 5   A    I believe it was the same date of this Order, the
  

 6   18th.  It may have been the day before, but I'm not 100
  

 7   percent.
  

 8   Q    Now, the Order states that the Board has certain
  

 9   powers to issue an Order in an emergency.  Would you
  

10   agree that this is the December 18th Emergency Order?
  

11   A    Yes.
  

12   Q    And the statutory provision that's cited for
  

13   emergency action -- I believe in the very first
  

14   paragraph, it's the very end, it's Arkansas Code
  

15   Annotated 25-15-211.  Are you familiar with that
  

16   statute?
  

17   A    Somewhat, yes.
  

18   Q    And what does that statute cover, to the best of
  

19   your knowledge?
  

20   A    Oh goodness.  That if the Board or -- let me think
  

21   here how it words.  If there's a risk of public health,
  

22   safety, and welfare, that the Board can temporarily
  

23   suspend licenses until a formal hearing can be held on
  

24   the matter.
  

25   Q    And that's the Paragraph C.  I believe it's 211(c),
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 1   which was cited in the Order, correct?
  

 2   A    Yes.
  

 3   Q    So now, are you familiar with how officers are
  

 4   elected to burial association, the local boards?
  

 5   A    Are you talking about actual burial associations,
  

 6   how --
  

 7   Q    Yes.
  

 8   A    -- they're elected?
  

 9   Q    Are you -- let me ask it a different way.  Are you
  

10   familiar with how the Drew County Burial Association
  

11   elected its officers?
  

12   A    It should have been in an annual meeting of the
  

13   Drew County Burial Association that they have annually,
  

14   and they elect officers.
  

15   Q    But they elect them by a vote; is that correct?
  

16   A    Yes, or by proxy.
  

17   Q    Which they would send a vote by proxy.
  

18   A    Right, or they didn't show up and didn't send that
  

19   vote, then the secretary/treasurer has their proxy.
  

20   Q    Which the secretary/treasurer would vote.
  

21   A    Right.
  

22   Q    So it was by a vote?
  

23   A    Right.
  

24   Q    And in Order for either president or
  

25   secretary/treasurer to serve as an officer of the Drew
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 1   County Burial Association, are they required under
  

 2   Arkansas Law to obtain a license?
  

 3   A    No, not an actual license.
  

 4   Q    But that's the provision which was cited.  It's
  

 5   under the licenses provision.  So then it would appear
  

 6   that the Board's Order -- the Emergency Order from
  

 7   December 18 did not -- in fact, wasn't even cited in the
  

 8   statutory authority as grounds for suspending Mr.
  

 9   Caveness and Ms. Shepherd as officers.  Would you agree?
  

10   A    Repeat that again.
  

11   Q    Let me ask the question.  In the Order of December
  

12   18, 2014, under what authority -- what authority is
  

13   cited granting the Board the authority to suspend
  

14   officers of the corporation?
  

15   A    I don't have a copy of our statutes in front of us.
  

16   Q    And I'm sorry.  I'm meant to say association, not a
  

17   corporation.
  

18   A    That gives the Board the authority to, you know,
  

19   remove an officer if they are found in violation of any
  

20   of our rules and regulations.  There is a statute or a
  

21   rule and I just don't have it.
  

22   Q    Well, you're correct.  There is a statute that
  

23   provides for that, but there are certain conditions that
  

24   have to be met prior to the Board taking immediate
  

25   action under the statute.  Would you agree to that?
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 1   A    No, I can't agree or disagree, I'm sorry.
  

 2   Q    So you're not aware of any authority.  You cite
  

 3   vaguely to some authority, which I do agree, but under
  

 4   these circumstances, which is a summary suspension,
  

 5   there is no authority.  There is no authority, I would
  

 6   submit to you.
  

 7                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object that --
  

 8                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'll sustain the
  

 9             objection.
  

10                  MS. HODGE:  -- Mr. Harris is testifying.
  

11             Ask the witness a question.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.
  

13   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Are you aware of any authority
  

14   which allows for the summary suspension of officers from
  

15   a burial association?
  

16   A    Yes.
  

17   Q    What is that authority?
  

18   A    I do not have the statute in front of me, so I
  

19   cannot --
  

20   Q    I have a complete copy of the burial association
  

21   laws here.  I can provide it to you.  I have a complete
  

22   copy of the rules and regulations.  I can provide it if
  

23   you need it.
  

24   A    I think it falls under 23-78-124.  The Board shall
  

25   also have the power to order -- if the Board determines
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 1   that a burial association or a person is guilty of a
  

 2   violation of any of the provisions of this chapter, its
  

 3   or his/her Certificate of Authority, charter license, or
  

 4   other authority should be revoked.
  

 5   Q    But you didn't cite that provision, did you?  You
  

 6   cited 25 -- let me get back to the Order.
  

 7   A    That's under the APA Emergency.  We don't have an
  

 8   emergency.
  

 9   Q    Exactly.
  

10   A    So we have to go to the APA for -- to have an
  

11   emergency.
  

12   Q    But this Board doesn't have -- it does actually, if
  

13   you look at your Rules and Regulation 32, which provides
  

14   that there is a shortage.
  

15                  MS. HODGE:  Objection.  Ask a question.
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.  Question.
  

17                  MR. HARRIS:  I will -- I can't say withdraw
  

18             the question, because I didn't ask one, did I?
  

19                  MS. HODGE:  You started testifying.  You
  

20             didn't ask.  Ask a question.
  

21   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Isn't that the provision that
  

22   gives the Board authority to take immediate action?
  

23   A    Rule 32?
  

24   Q    Rule 32.  If you would go down, anytime a shortage
  

25   is found in this sentence.
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 1   A    It says, anytime a shortage is found in a burial
  

 2   association by the auditors, it shall be considered
  

 3   prima facie violation of the Burial Association Act,
  

 4   Arkansas Code Annotated 23-78-101, et. seq -- whatever
  

 5   that stands for.  I'm sorry.  I know it remains for the
  

 6   other statues -- and the Board may immediately take
  

 7   steps to remove the secretary/treasurer and/or revoke or
  

 8   suspend the certificate of authority granted under said
  

 9   Act.
  

10   Q    And that's the only provision -- is that the only
  

11   provision, either statutory or rules and reg, that gives
  

12   the Board authority to take immediate action or
  

13   emergency action?
  

14   A    I don't believe that's the only authority, no.
  

15   Q    Well, show me any other.
  

16   A    I'm trying.
  

17   Q    While you're looking --
  

18                  MS. HODGE:  If I may.  I think, again, this
  

19             is asked and answered.  Mr. Harris asked her
  

20             and she testified, when they cited to their
  

21             statutes in that paragraph and when they don't
  

22             have an emergency section, they go to the APA,
  

23             which is why they relied on the APA for the
  

24             specific Emergency Order.  It's asked and
  

25             answered twice.
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 1                  MR. HARRIS:  This provision under the APA
  

 2             has no applicability.
  

 3                  MS. HODGE:  And objection.  That would be
  

 4             for closing argument that you make to the
  

 5             Board, but as far as this --
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  I understand.
  

 7                  MS. HODGE:  Let me finish and make my
  

 8             record.  But as far as this witness' testimony,
  

 9             he has asked her 500 different ways and her
  

10             answer has been the same.  She's now reviewed
  

11             the statutes and given him the statute and what
  

12             she's relying on, but if his closing argument
  

13             is going to be the Board has no authority, he
  

14             can't testify here, and the witness had already
  

15             answered the question.
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to sustain the
  

17             objection.  You have asked.  She has answered
  

18             in many, many different ways.  Is there
  

19             anything else you'd like to get from this
  

20             witness?
  

21                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, if there is a provision,
  

22             I would like for her to testify to it.  She
  

23             says there is and I've not yet heard what that
  

24             provision is.
  

25                  MS. HODGE:  The witness testified that it
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 1             was Ark. Code Annotated 23-78-124.  That was
  

 2             her testimony.  And for the record, in the
  

 3             exhibit the Board references 23-78-109.
  

 4                  MR. HARRIS:  And if you look to -- I'll
  

 5             move on.
  

 6   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  If you look to the Emergency
  

 7   Order, 23-78-109 is that the power of the affairs of the
  

 8   burial association.  Would you agree that's --
  

 9   A    All burial associations --
  

10                  MS. HODGE:  What was the question?  I'm
  

11             sorry.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  Would you mind restating
  

13             the question?
  

14   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Would you agree that Arkansas Code
  

15   Annotated 23-78-109 provides for the, I guess, exclusive
  

16   authority of the burial association?
  

17   A    All burial associations organized or operating in
  

18   the State of Arkansas shall be under the authority,
  

19   supervision, and control of the burial association.
  

20   Q    But that does not show or state that the Board has
  

21   any emergency powers, just the exclusive authority to
  

22   regulate burial associations, correct?
  

23   A    Right, that's why we had to go to the APA.
  

24   Q    And so when you look at the APA provision which you
  

25   cited, it deals with the suspension of licenses.
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 1                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to go back to
  

 2             the objection that I sustained, because I think
  

 3             Ms. Goode's done the best she can.  She's not
  

 4             an expert on the APA.  I feel like at this
  

 5             point that would be best held for closing and
  

 6             making your argument to the Board as to whether
  

 7             or not that was the correct cite or not for
  

 8             their action.
  

 9                  MR. HARRIS:  Fair enough.
  

10                  HEARING OFFICER:  So at this time I'll let
  

11             you move on.
  

12   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  I'll move on.  The Board also
  

13   cited that there was a public welfare emergency in this
  

14   instance, in the Order.  Do you see those provisions?
  

15   A    In the Order?
  

16   Q    Yes, Finding Number 2.
  

17   A    Yes.
  

18   Q    What was the public welfare emergency that was
  

19   articulated by the Board?
  

20   A    And I'm not a voting Board member.  The only thing
  

21   I can say is, the Board felt that they were trying to
  

22   protect what was left of that burial association by
  

23   issuing this Emergency Order to have this formal hearing
  

24   today.
  

25   Q    Well, actually that was to get the Emergency Order,
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 1   not the hearing.  That notice came later, would you not
  

 2   agree?
  

 3   A    Yes, but when you have an Emergency Order, you've
  

 4   got to immediately have an actual hearing when you
  

 5   temporarily suspend someone's license or charter or
  

 6   whatever.
  

 7   Q    But the APA provision you believe -- and I need to
  

 8   be clear.  Maybe --
  

 9                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object.
  

10   A    I need a copy of the APA, because I don't know
  

11   exactly what it says.
  

12                  MS. HODGE:  You instructed Mr. Harris to
  

13             move on.
  

14                  HEARING OFFICER:  Let's move on from the
  

15             APA.
  

16   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  I'll move on.  But that was -- the
  

17   public imperative was what?  You didn't -- I don't
  

18   believe I got an answer to that.  What was the public
  

19   welfare imperative?
  

20   A    The burial association acted without authority from
  

21   the burial board to dissolve.  That's why they felt it
  

22   was an emergency, to keep it from completely dissolving.
  

23   Q    But you just testified earlier that, pursuant to
  

24   the June 7, 2012, Order, the Board had no authority
  

25   regarding dissolution.
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 1   A    Correct.
  

 2   Q    Let's move to, who is -- in your understanding, who
  

 3   owns the funds held in burial associations?
  

 4   A    Policyholders.
  

 5   Q    Policyholders.
  

 6   A    Members.
  

 7   Q    The members.  And it's your testimony that the
  

 8   Board felt that there was a public welfare imperative
  

 9   because the officers gave the money to the members, when
  

10   you say that's who it belongs to.  That's a public
  

11   welfare imperative that requires immediate action?
  

12   A    They were dissolving the association without the
  

13   Board's approval.
  

14                  HEARING OFFICER:  Keep going, Mr. Harris.
  

15             We'll continue.  Hold your thought for closing
  

16             on that assessment.
  

17   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  There were copies of checks which
  

18   were included in the State's exhibit.  I believe they
  

19   were in range from pages -- and I'll go from 22, which
  

20   is the top number, through, it looks like, 38, I
  

21   believe, in those various amounts.
  

22   A    23/21 through --
  

23   Q    Actually -- okay, yeah, 21.  I did miss one.  I'm
  

24   sorry.  That was information you obtained, it looks
  

25   like, dated December 22, 2014, pursuant to the subpoena
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 1   which you issued.
  

 2   A    Yes.
  

 3   Q    You received that information from Commercial Bank
  

 4   in Monticello; is that correct?
  

 5   A    Yes.
  

 6   Q    And I believe you testified earlier that you don't
  

 7   believe that any of these persons named were investment
  

 8   banks, but that you believe them to be members.
  

 9   A    Correct.  I would believe them to be members.
  

10   Q    So these were checks issued to members of the
  

11   burial association.  Would you agree to that?
  

12   A    To the best of my knowledge, yes.
  

13   Q    And this was the reason for the Emergency Order,
  

14   correct?
  

15   A    Correct.
  

16   Q    Does that seem to be inconsistent to you that you
  

17   testified that the funds in the burial association are
  

18   owned by the policyholders, the members, and then when
  

19   they issued the funds to the members, you claim that
  

20   there is an emergency, and there is an Order freezing
  

21   the account?  Is that not inconsistent?
  

22   A    I can't answer that.
  

23   Q    I'm sorry?
  

24   A    I'm sorry, I can't answer that.  I don't --
  

25   Q    You can't answer it, or you don't understand the
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 1   question, or --
  

 2   A    I don't know.
  

 3                  THE WITNESS:  Counsel, can you help me?
  

 4   A    I don't know how to answer the question.
  

 5   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Well, I guess, truthfully would be
  

 6   how to answer that.  And --
  

 7                  MS. HODGE:  Why don't you try and rephrase
  

 8             it.
  

 9   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  And that's what I'm asking.  If
  

10   you don't understand the question, maybe I need to ask
  

11   it differently.
  

12   A    Try that.
  

13   Q    So if you testified earlier that the funds in the
  

14   burial association belong to the members and when the
  

15   burial association begins to issue those funds to the
  

16   members, you claim it's a public imperative and issue an
  

17   Order, aren't those two things inconsistent with each
  

18   other?
  

19   A    I guess so.
  

20                  MR. HARRIS:  I'll pass the witness.
  

21                  HEARING OFFICER:  Any redirect.
  

22                  MS. HODGE:  I do.
  

23                 FURTHER EXAMINATION OF AMY GOODE
  

24   BY MS. HODGE:
  

25   Q    Ms. Goode, let me try to cover some of these issues
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 1   that Mr. Harris just asked you about.  Do you have a
  

 2   copy of the Administrative Procedures Act in front of
  

 3   you?
  

 4   A    No, I do not.
  

 5   Q    And I only have one copy.
  

 6                  MS. HODGE:  Do you have another?
  

 7                  MR. HARRIS:  I don't have a complete copy.
  

 8   A    I can pull it up on my phone.
  

 9   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  No, let's -- well, I'll give you
  

10   mine and we'll do this the best way we can.
  

11                  MR. HARRIS:  Could I see that --
  

12                  MS. HODGE:  Yeah, sure.
  

13                  MR. HARRIS:  -- just to make sure.
  

14   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  I'm going to refer -- and I'll read
  

15   it in the record.  I'm going to refer to Ark. Code
  

16   Annotated 25-15-202, which is the Definition section of
  

17   the Administrative Procedures Act, which was referenced
  

18   in the court's Emergency Order.  And Mr. Harris asked
  

19   you several questions about whether or not the Board
  

20   acted properly when it relied on the APA's licensing
  

21   emergency revocation.  I'd like for you to read, for the
  

22   record, the definition of license, which is found at
  

23   Subsection 3 in the APA.
  

24   A    License includes any agency permit, certificate,
  

25   approval, registration, charter, or similar form of
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 1   permission required by law.
  

 2   Q    So when Mr. Harris asked you whether or not Ms.
  

 3   Shepherd or Mr. Caveness had been issued a license, your
  

 4   testimony was no, but under the definition of the APA,
  

 5   they have been given, by this Board, authority or
  

 6   permission to act.
  

 7                  MR. HARRIS:  Objection.  This is her
  

 8             witness and I'd say she's leading the witness.
  

 9   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  I'll rephrase the question.  Can
  

10   Ms. Shepherd and Mr. Caveness only act with authority
  

11   from this Board?
  

12   A    Yes.
  

13   Q    Mr. Harris asked you a question about the Board's,
  

14   is it, June 7th Order?  He asked you a series of
  

15   questions about what Order the Board entered on June.
  

16   Will you read, just for the record, the definition of
  

17   Order from the APA?
  

18   A    Order means the final disposition --
  

19                  MR. HARRIS:  I would objection.  I mean,
  

20             the APA says what it says, and if we're going
  

21             to -- the hearing officer take judicial notice
  

22             of it.  I don't know that in this particular
  

23             instance that it's relevant to what we're here
  

24             for.
  

25                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to let her keep
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 1             going, partially because the previous line of
  

 2             questioning, I think, touched on the APA so
  

 3             much.  I think it's fine to get into the
  

 4             record.  You will have an opportunity to re-
  

 5             cross, Mr. Harris.
  

 6   A    Order means the final disposition of an agency in
  

 7   any matter other than rule making, including licensing
  

 8   and rate making, in which the agency is required by law
  

 9   to make its determination after notice and hearing.
  

10   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  And that June 2012 Findings of Fact
  

11   and Conclusion of Law, was that an Order entered after a
  

12   Notice of Hearing?
  

13   A    Yes.
  

14   Q    Now, in that Notice of Hearing, which is found at
  

15   Page 40 and 41, Mr. Harris asked you what portion of
  

16   that Order -- and I'm paraphrasing his question -- the
  

17   Drew County Burial Association had violated.  What were
  

18   they ordered to do, I think was his question, and I
  

19   think your testimony was that they were not ordered to
  

20   do anything.  But prior to this Order, had Drew County
  

21   Burial Association sought approval for dissolution from
  

22   this Board?
  

23   A    Prior to?
  

24   Q    Prior to the -- when I say "this", I mean the Order
  

25   found on Page 40/41 -- the June 7, 2012, Order.
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 1                  MR. HARRIS:  If I may, and it may help with
  

 2             the question.
  

 3                  MS. HODGE:  Let me ask it -- let me just
  

 4             make sure the witness is on the same page.
  

 5   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Are you looking at --
  

 6   A    I'm looking at the Order that I signed on June the
  

 7   7th.
  

 8   Q    That's what I'm asking.
  

 9   A    Okay.
  

10   Q    You look like you're not with me.  And let's just
  

11   start at the top.  Maybe that will be the easiest.  The
  

12   Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order.
  

13   A    Okay.
  

14   Q    On Wednesday, May 23, 2012, the Burial Association
  

15   Board considered a request to approve previously
  

16   submitted plans for the dissolution of the Drew County
  

17   Burial Association.  Did I get that correct?
  

18   A    Yes.
  

19   Q    And so my question was, had the Drew County Burial
  

20   Board sought this Board's permission to dissolve prior
  

21   to the Board entering this June 7, 2012, Order?
  

22   A    Yes.
  

23   Q    And did the Board give them that permission?
  

24   A    No.
  

25   Q    Now, Mr. Harris asked you, under the Conclusions of
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 1   Law section, whether or not the Board had the authority,
  

 2   and then he asked you the converse of that question was,
  

 3   well then they don't have the authority to deny if they
  

 4   didn't have the authority to approve.  Do you remember
  

 5   that line of questioning?
  

 6   A    Yes.
  

 7   Q    And the Board -- according to this Order, did the
  

 8   Board find, however, that --
  

 9                  MR. HARRIS:  Objection.  She's leading.
  

10             You can ask her what the Board found.
  

11                  MS. HODGE:  I haven't finished my question.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  Make it sustained.
  

13   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Let me hold that question and go
  

14   back to -- do you have a copy of the Board's statutes in
  

15   front of you?  Do you still have that copy?
  

16   A    (Inaudible)
  

17                  HEARING OFFICER:  An inaudible answer.
  

18   A    Yes.  I'm sorry.
  

19   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  What authority does any burial
  

20   association in this state have to operate?  From what
  

21   source does that authority come?
  

22   A    From this Board.
  

23   Q    Is there any other source of authority in the
  

24   statutes that gives any association, including the Drew
  

25   County Burial Association, an authority to act?
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 1   A    An authority to act on what?
  

 2   Q    To dissolve.  To be established.  Any act.
  

 3   A    Not without permission from this Board.
  

 4   Q    And if you'll look with me at Arkansas Code
  

 5   Annotated 23-78-102(b) -- (a) and (b), and we'll read
  

 6   (b).  All burial associations organized in this state
  

 7   from and after February 18, '53, shall be subject to the
  

 8   authority, control, and supervision of the Board and all
  

 9   of the provisions of this chapter.  Did I read that
  

10   correctly?
  

11   A    Yes.
  

12   Q    And you testified that you've been the executive
  

13   secretary since 2011.  Did I get that right?
  

14   A    Yes.
  

15   Q    And that you were the executive secretary for this
  

16   Board back in 2012 when Drew County initially approached
  

17   this issue of dissolution.
  

18   A    Correct.
  

19   Q    During your time as executive secretary and dealing
  

20   with this issue of dissolution for Drew County, were
  

21   there ever any concerns brought to your attention or the
  

22   Board's attention about a negative effect for
  

23   dissolution for Drew County Burial Association?
  

24                  MR. HARRIS:  I'm going to object.  We're
  

25             here on whether or not the Respondents violated

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



57

  
 1             a provision of the statute here.  I'm not sure
  

 2             if that's relevant to --
  

 3                  MS. HODGE:  And if I can respond.  Mr.
  

 4             Harris asked Ms. Goode 100 times whether or not
  

 5             there was any public welfare -- supporting
  

 6             danger to public welfare supporting the Board's
  

 7             Emergency Order and that's where this line of
  

 8             question is going.  I think he opened the door
  

 9             when he asked her --
  

10                  HEARING OFFICER:  I agree.
  

11                  MS. HODGE:  -- the grounds.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  I think we can get an
  

13             answer to it.  Again, you'll have an
  

14             opportunity to re-cross, Mr. Harris.  So I
  

15             overrule the objection.
  

16   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Were there any concerns brought to
  

17   the Board's attention concerning any harmful or negative
  

18   impacts for the dissolution of the Drew County Burial
  

19   Board?
  

20   A    Yes.
  

21   Q    For example?
  

22   A    Members who were on SSI getting a large sum of
  

23   money and the adverse effect that could be, of getting
  

24   kicked out of a nursing home, things like that.  That
  

25   was concerns that the Board had with them a member
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 1   getting a large sum of money and they couldn't tie it up
  

 2   in a pre-paid funeral plan.  They had concerns about
  

 3   that.
  

 4                  MS. HODGE:  I think that's all I have.
  

 5             Thank you.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, re-cross.
  

 7                  MR. HARRIS:  Yes.
  

 8                 FURTHER EXAMINATION OF AMY GOODE
  

 9   BY MR. HARRIS:
  

10   Q    The concerns of the large sums of money, and you
  

11   mentioned about, I think, social security and nursing
  

12   home were two primary things that were a concern; is
  

13   that correct?
  

14   A    I believe so, yes.
  

15   Q    Did the Board establish any committees to look into
  

16   those concerns?
  

17   A    Yes.
  

18   Q    And, in fact, the Board established the rules
  

19   committee and one of the purposes -- not the only
  

20   purpose, but one of the purposes was to attempt to
  

21   create a rule for voluntary dissolution, was it not?
  

22   A    Yes, of general applicability.
  

23   Q    And weren't the issues of the social security
  

24   benefits and the nursing home benefits addressed during
  

25   the rule-making process -- well, the rules committee
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 1   meetings?  Were they not addressed?
  

 2   A    I would say yes, several times.
  

 3   Q    And, in fact, wasn't it a result of the rules
  

 4   committee that the rules committee had, in fact, crafted
  

 5   a rule which attempted to address all of those concerns,
  

 6   and submitted it to the Board?
  

 7   A    Yes.
  

 8   Q    And what did the Board do with that rule?
  

 9   A    The Board as a whole could not approve it.
  

10   Q    So the Board had an opportunity to address the so-
  

11   called public welfare concerns by crafting a rule
  

12   itself, did it not?
  

13                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object to the form
  

14             of the question.
  

15                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to sustain it.
  

16             I think, since we're on re-cross, get to the
  

17             point of the question.
  

18                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, that --
  

19                  HEARING OFFICER:  And I do feel like the
  

20             witness has probably answered, but I'll let you
  

21             take one more shot at it and then we'll move
  

22             on.
  

23                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, she has not answered
  

24             whether or not the Board had the opportunity to
  

25             address those concerns.  That was the question.
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 1   A    I thought I answered that.
  

 2   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  What was your answer then?
  

 3                  MS. HODGE:  The witness testified that they
  

 4             addressed concerns during the rule, but the
  

 5             Board didn't pass the rule, and so after
  

 6             that --
  

 7                  MR. HARRIS:  No, that's not the question.
  

 8             The question is, did the Board have an
  

 9             opportunity to address those concerns or to
  

10             vote on those concerns which were addressed by
  

11             the Rules Committee.
  

12                  MS. HODGE:  And I'm going to object to the
  

13             form of the question.  And mainly, if the Board
  

14             addressed, meaning if they discussed or
  

15             considered this concern, is not the same as
  

16             whether or not that particular rule would have
  

17             fixed whatever concern, and that's where Mr.
  

18             Harris is going.  And I think -- I don't think
  

19             the witness can give that testimony.  The rule
  

20             didn't -- the Board didn't pass that rule and I
  

21             think it's an improper question for this
  

22             witness.
  

23   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Let me ask -- let me back into it
  

24   then.  Were you a part of the Rules Committee?
  

25   A    Yes.
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 1   Q    So you were a part of those meetings?
  

 2   A    Yes.
  

 3   Q    You were a part of those discussions?
  

 4   A    Yes.
  

 5   Q    Was this rule submitted to the Board?
  

 6   A    Yes.
  

 7   Q    And the Board declined to pass or accept that rule,
  

 8   correct?
  

 9   A    Correct.
  

10   Q    Thank you.  Now, I want to go back to the
  

11   definition -- I believe you were using the APA
  

12   definition of license, and it was any permission that's
  

13   required by law, was one of the provisions, I believe,
  

14   in Subsection 3.
  

15   A    Uh-huh.
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  For the record, can you
  

17             give the specific --
  

18                  MS. HODGE:  I'm sorry.  It's 25-15-202
  

19             Subsection 3, the definition of license.
  

20                  MR. HARRIS:  And can I just take that to
  

21             Ms. Goode again --
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  Sure.
  

23                  MR. HARRIS:  -- so she has that in front of
  

24             her?
  

25   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Now, Ms. Goode, could you read the
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 1   definition of license again.  And I’m sorry I have to go
  

 2   back through this again, but there's just some testimony
  

 3   come up since then and I kind of lost my way here on my
  

 4   notes.
  

 5   A    License includes any agency permit, certificate,
  

 6   approval, registration, charter, or similar form of
  

 7   permission required by law.
  

 8   Q    So did you suspend or -- and I say "you", I mean
  

 9   the Board, in the Emergency Order, any charter -- were
  

10   you attempting to suspend a charter in the Emergency
  

11   Order?
  

12   A    I don't believe so.
  

13   Q    It wasn't a charter.  A certificate?  It doesn't
  

14   say that in the Order, but were you attempting to
  

15   suspend a certificate?
  

16   A    I'm not sure.
  

17                  MS. HODGE:  I think, if I could, the
  

18             statute refers to it as a certificate of
  

19             authority --
  

20                  THE WITNESS:  I was thinking that's what it
  

21             said.
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  The Burial Association
  

23             statute?
  

24                  MS. HODGE:  Yeah, 23-78-108 refers to it as
  

25             a certificate of authority, and I think if we
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 1             keep going down the definition of license,
  

 2             we'll get certificate and authority or
  

 3             permission, which I think are all covered by
  

 4             the definition of license.
  

 5                  HEARING OFFICER:  Continue your question,
  

 6             Mr. Harris.
  

 7                  UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  I see a police here.
  

 8             Y'all excuse me.
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ma'am, I'm going to have
  

10             to ask you to please sit down.
  

11                  UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Well, I think I'm the
  

12             oldest person here and I got (inaudible)
  

13                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ma'am, I'm so sorry, but
  

14             we're in the middle of the hearing.  I'm going
  

15             to have to have you sit down or go ahead and
  

16             leave the room.  That would be helpful.
  

17                  UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  I'm going to leave the
  

18             room.
  

19                  HEARING OFFICER:  Let's go off the record
  

20             for just a moment.  We're going to close the
  

21             record.
  

22                  (WHEREUPON, after a break was taken, the
  

23             proceedings resumed as follows, to wit:)
  

24                  HEARING OFFICER:  We're formally back on
  

25             the record.  We had an individual come forward.
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 1             I don't believe it caused any prejudicial
  

 2             occurrence in the matter.  For the Board's
  

 3             sake, I think I want Mr. Harris to finish his
  

 4             re-cross and then confirm that there are no
  

 5             questions for Ms. Goode from the Board, and
  

 6             then we will take a break, so I understand
  

 7             everybody's need to do that.  So Mr. Harris, at
  

 8             this point, if you're ready to continue,
  

 9             I'll --
  

10                  MR. HARRIS:  Sure.  I only have just a
  

11             couple more questions.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  Sure.
  

13   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Ms. Goode, the Emergency Order
  

14   didn't attempt to revoke, or at least it doesn't state
  

15   -- you may be able to help.  Does it attempt to revoke
  

16   any certain authority of the officers?
  

17   A    The Order did specifically suspend Linda Shepherd
  

18   and Joseph Caveness pending further administrative
  

19   proceedings.
  

20   Q    But you use the APA provision for license as the
  

21   authority to do that, correct?  And I'm not going to go
  

22   back down the APA line.  That's where we were looking at
  

23   the license.
  

24   A    I'm going to say yes.
  

25   Q    And so --
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 1                  MS. HODGE:  You asked -- what was the
  

 2             question?  The question -- the answer was yes
  

 3             to what?
  

 4                  THE WITNESS:  The license.  Go ahead and
  

 5             let him say it.
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  That the authority under which
  

 7             the Board took action --
  

 8                  MS. HODGE:  Was the APA.
  

 9                  MR. HARRIS:  -- was pursuant to the APA,
  

10             which references the license and the provision,
  

11             and we're now looking at the definition of
  

12             license.
  

13                  MS. HODGE:  Okay.
  

14                  MR. HARRIS:  I just wanted to kind of get
  

15             back to where we were.
  

16   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  But there was no license that the
  

17   Board suspended.
  

18   A    They suspended a certificate.
  

19   Q    What certificate was suspended?
  

20   A    Certificate of Authority.
  

21   Q    And is there not a provision under the statute, not
  

22   the APA -- under the burial association statutes that
  

23   provide for -- that provide a process for that?
  

24                  MS. HODGE:  I think we're back where we
  

25             were prior to my redirect, which is back on
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 1             this APA, whether or not the APA was the proper
  

 2             statute for the emergency hearing.  I think
  

 3             we're replowing the ground that the hearing
  

 4             officer has already said is settled.
  

 5                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, my response --
  

 6                  MS. HODGE:  For testimony purposes, rather.
  

 7                  MR. HARRIS:  My response to that was, Ms.
  

 8             Goode had not testified earlier that the Board
  

 9             was suspending a Certificate of Authority and
  

10             that's why I asked that question.
  

11                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to allow that
  

12             question with the objection to be noted.  Mr.
  

13             Harris, we have been down this path.  I think
  

14             because we've gone a little deeper into the
  

15             APA, we've read definitions and specific
  

16             provisions of it, you can continue to ask, but
  

17             stick with this newer area and move on.
  

18                  MR. HARRIS:  And I think I may be able to
  

19             move it further along.
  

20   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  You testified earlier, Ms. Goode,
  

21   that Mr. Caveness and Ms. Shepherd were not required to
  

22   have a license to act as officers of the association,
  

23   correct?
  

24   A    They are given that authority as officers by the
  

25   membership.
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 1   Q    By the membership, correct?  Okay.  That's where I
  

 2   -- that's really the only place that I was going.
  

 3                  MR. HARRIS:  And I'll pass the witness.
  

 4                  HEARING OFFICER:  Any redirect?
  

 5                  MS. HODGE:  I don't have any questions.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Members of the Board, any
  

 7             questions of the witness?
  

 8                   (No audible response given.)
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Hearing none, at this
  

10             time, let's take a short break.  Ms. Hodge, let
  

11             me actually -- do you have an additional
  

12             witness to call?
  

13                  MS. HODGE:  I was going to call Ms.
  

14             Shepherd and Mr. Caveness, and I can even do
  

15             that in Mr. Harris' case by cross or I can call
  

16             them in my case.  It doesn't matter.  Whatever
  

17             is the easiest.
  

18                  HEARING OFFICER:  If you're comfortable
  

19             with that, and if those were going to be the
  

20             only two State's witnesses, then let's go ahead
  

21             and, if you're comfortable, close the State's
  

22             presentation and then when we re-adjourn, we're
  

23             going to start with you, Mr. Harris, on the
  

24             Respondents.
  

25                  We'll take a very short break.  Try to do
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 1             it in five minutes.  Again, no conversation
  

 2             among the members of the Board.  No
  

 3             communication with the public that's here.  And
  

 4             consider the hearing closed temporarily.
  

 5                  (WHEREUPON, after a break was taken, the
  

 6             proceedings resumed as follows, to wit:)
  

 7                  HEARING OFFICER:  At this time we will go
  

 8             back on the record for the matter of Linda
  

 9             Shepherd, Joseph Caveness, Drew County Burial
  

10             Association.  For our own, I guess, future
  

11             record keeping, members of the Board and
  

12             Counsel, State's Exhibit 1 that we have has two
  

13             numbers at the bottom, so it's got a main
  

14             number and then a superscript number.  I've
  

15             conferred with the court reporter and the top
  

16             number is the number on her documents, so from
  

17             here on out we'll only reference, to the best
  

18             you can, the top number.  That way I think
  

19             we'll have a little bit cleaner record.
  

20                  And at this time, Mr. Harris, I will turn
  

21             it over to you.
  

22                  MR. HARRIS:  Thank you.  I will call Mr.
  

23             Joseph Cavenesss.
  

24                  EXAMINATION OF JOSEPH CAVENESS
  

25   BY MR. HARRIS:
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 1   Q    Mr. Caveness, could you state your name and your
  

 2   position in the Drew County Burial Association.
  

 3   A    Joseph Caveness, president, Drew County Burial
  

 4   Association.
  

 5   Q    And Mr. Caveness, you received the Emergency Order
  

 6   suspending you and Ms. Linda Shepherd as officers on or
  

 7   about December 18th, I believe, 2014?
  

 8   A    Yes.
  

 9   Q    And as a result of -- what happened, to the best of
  

10   your knowledge, to the assets of the burial association
  

11   as a result of that Order?
  

12   A    As a result of the Order, the assets had been
  

13   frozen.
  

14   Q    And I want to -- had you distributed any of the
  

15   assets, or caused any of the assets to be distributed?
  

16   A    Well, the answer to that, some of the assets had
  

17   been distributed, yes.
  

18   Q    And did you agree or did you approve the
  

19   distribution?
  

20   A    Yes.
  

21   Q    And under what authority did you approve the
  

22   distribution?
  

23   A    Under the authority that the State Board had said
  

24   that they did not have the authority to deny the
  

25   dissolution of the burial association, but in 1954,
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 1   where the Drew County Burial Association was given
  

 2   permission, I'll say.  In their Article of Association,
  

 3   Paragraph 3 says that they can voluntarily dissolve the
  

 4   association.  Which if you didn't have the authority,
  

 5   then we go back to what our regulation says that we do,
  

 6   and that's what we did.
  

 7   Q    Now, Mr. Caveness is referring to one of the
  

 8   exhibits in Respondents' exhibits.  Mr. Caveness, I'm
  

 9   going to hand you a copy of the document that you
  

10   referenced.  The heading on that document -- could you
  

11   read the heading on that document.
  

12   A    Article of Association of the Drew County Burial
  

13   Association.
  

14   Q    And you testified earlier that that was 1954,
  

15   somewhere thereabout?
  

16   A    It was approved by the State Board on 9/7/1954.
  

17   Q    Now, you also referenced a specific paragraph which
  

18   you believe gave the burial association the authority to
  

19   pursue a voluntary dissolution.
  

20   A    Yes.
  

21   Q    Could you read that paragraph, please.
  

22   A    The period for which this association shall exist,
  

23   unless at an earlier date voluntarily dissolved by
  

24   proper action of officers and board of directors, shall
  

25   be perpetual.
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 1   Q    Thank you.  Now, proper action of the board and the
  

 2   directors.  Did you take some action as a Board as it
  

 3   relates to voluntarily dissolving?
  

 4   A    Yes, sir.
  

 5   Q    And what actions did you take?
  

 6   A    We met with the -- all of the Board and we came to
  

 7   the decision to dissolve, and we went before the members
  

 8   and the members voted unanimous at that meeting to
  

 9   dissolve.
  

10   Q    Mr. Caveness, I'm going to -- and this, again, is a
  

11   part of Respondents' 1, and it's composed of three pages
  

12   labeled Minutes of the Special Meeting of the Board of
  

13   Directors for Drew County Board Association to Adopt the
  

14   Plan of Liquidation.  When you referenced that the --
  

15   you testified that the Board took certain action.  Do
  

16   the minutes there -- do you recognize those minutes?
  

17   A    Yes.
  

18   Q    And do the minutes reflect the particular action
  

19   that the Board took at that time?
  

20   A    Yes.
  

21   Q    And of the board of directors were present, who was
  

22   present?
  

23   A    Joseph Caveness, Linda Shepherd, Willard Watkins,
  

24   Louis Dunlap.
  

25   Q    And who are -- I know who you are.
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 1   A    Joseph Caveness, president; Linda Shepherd,
  

 2   secretary/treasurer; Willard Watkins, vice president;
  

 3   Louis Dunlap, assistant secretary/treasurer.
  

 4   Q    Do you have any other Board members, members that
  

 5   comprise your board of directors?
  

 6   A    No.
  

 7   Q    So all of the Board members were present at this
  

 8   meeting --
  

 9   A    Yes.
  

10   Q    -- to adopt this plan of liquidation?
  

11   A    Yes.
  

12   Q    Was this plan of liquidation subsequently submitted
  

13   to the members?
  

14   A    Yes.
  

15   Q    I'm going to hand to you another document, it's
  

16   part of Respondents' 1, and it is titled the Minutes of
  

17   The Special Meeting of Members of Drew County Burial
  

18   Association to Adopt a Plan of Liquidation.  Do you
  

19   recognize that document?
  

20   A    Yes, I do.
  

21   Q    And what is that document?
  

22   A    The minutes of the special meeting of members of
  

23   Drew County Burial Association to adopt a plan of
  

24   liquidation.
  

25   Q    And was the plan of liquidation presented to the
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 1   members of the Drew County Burial Association?
  

 2   A    It was.
  

 3   Q    And was there a period of time allowed when the
  

 4   plan was submitted to the members of the association for
  

 5   discussion?
  

 6   A    Yes, it was.
  

 7   Q    At the close of the discussion, what action did the
  

 8   members of the Drew County Burial Association take
  

 9   regarding the proposed plan of liquidation?
  

10   A    They voted to adopt the dissolution.
  

11   Q    So they voted to approve that the Board move
  

12   forward; is that correct?
  

13   A    Yes.
  

14   Q    Now, was this the first time that the Drew County
  

15   Burial Association addressed the issue of either
  

16   dissolving or, basically, ending?
  

17   A    No, it wasn't the first time that they addressed,
  

18   or we addressed the issue of dissolving or ending the
  

19   burial association when it was voted to -- what's the
  

20   word -- to merge -- not merge but be assumed by an
  

21   insurance company.
  

22   Q    And when did that happen, approximately?
  

23   A    2011.
  

24   Q    Sometime in 2011?
  

25   A    2011.
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 1   Q    And did Drew County Burial Association pursue the
  

 2   assumption by an insurance company?
  

 3   A    They did.
  

 4   Q    What was the result of that pursuing the assumption
  

 5   by an insurance company?
  

 6   A    Well, the insurance company went through a lot of
  

 7   the motion, and we went to the Board, the State Board,
  

 8   about a plan, and then we went to the insurance company.
  

 9   But at some point in time the insurance company decided
  

10   that they did not want to bear all of the responsibility
  

11   and the cost of the assumption.
  

12   Q    And that's one of the provisions in the rules and
  

13   regulations, correct?
  

14   A    Right.
  

15   Q    And so the assumption failed, for lack of a better
  

16   term?
  

17   A    Right.
  

18   Q    And so what happened after the failed assumption?
  

19   A    Then we started to discuss or come up with some
  

20   idea in which the members could get better use for their
  

21   funds, and we started talking about dissolution.
  

22   Q    So let's talk about Drew County Burial Association
  

23   and the funds.  Are you privy to the financial condition
  

24   of other burial associations?  Do you have any
  

25   knowledge --
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 1                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object to
  

 2             relevance.
  

 3                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to sustain it.
  

 4   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Mr. Caveness, you testified that
  

 5   you wanted the members of the Drew County Burial
  

 6   Association to get -- could you restate what you
  

 7   testified about.
  

 8   A    That the members of the burial association get
  

 9   better use of the funds which is in the association.
  

10   Q    Was Drew County Burial Association solvent?
  

11   A    Yes.
  

12   Q    Did Drew County Burial Association have a surplus?
  

13   A    Yes.
  

14   Q    Was that surplus significant?
  

15   A    Yes.
  

16   Q    And so that was the purpose of either being assumed
  

17   -- what benefits would have flowed from being assumed by
  

18   the insurance company?
  

19   A    That the members would be given policies more than
  

20   what the burial association certificate would be, and
  

21   they would not have to have continued paying on those
  

22   policies.
  

23   Q    So they could have done a paid-up premium?
  

24   A    Paid-up premium.
  

25   Q    Were there any other options for the burial
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 1   association other than dissolution?  Were there any
  

 2   options that were provided by the regulations and state
  

 3   laws for the burial association that the burial
  

 4   association could have pursued to get that same or
  

 5   similar benefit?
  

 6   A    Not that I know of.
  

 7   Q    Were you aware of any other types of things?  Is
  

 8   there any possibility of other options that the burial
  

 9   association could have pursued?
  

10   A    Not that I'm aware of.
  

11   Q    Did the Drew County Burial Association ever
  

12   consider a merger with another burial association?
  

13   A    Not really.
  

14   Q    Explain when you say not really.
  

15   A    I say not really because, in merging with another
  

16   association, it would continue to have the members
  

17   continue paying, and they were already, I say, overly
  

18   funded, and a lot have paid more than what the
  

19   certificates are worth.  So to merge with another
  

20   insurance company would not be a good idea.  Plus we did
  

21   not need -- there is no need to merge with another
  

22   burial association.
  

23   Q    So the members --
  

24   A    (Inaudible)
  

25   Q    I'm sorry, go ahead.
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 1                  MS. HODGE:  I couldn't hear that last part.
  

 2   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  The last part.
  

 3   A    We are overly funded already, so why merge with
  

 4   another association.  It doesn't make sense.
  

 5   Q    Were there any other burial associations in the
  

 6   area that that could have even been a possibility?
  

 7   A    Probably a possibility, yes.
  

 8   Q    What other burial associations in that area where
  

 9   merger could have been a possibility?
  

10                  MS. HODGE:  And I'm going to object now to
  

11             relevance.  He's given some background
  

12             information about the options the burial board
  

13             pursued.  This hearing is not about a merger
  

14             with another burial association.
  

15                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, we're trying to
  

16             establish some background as to what options
  

17             were available and then what the Drew County
  

18             Burial Association, what actions that they took
  

19             in pursuing those options before even coming to
  

20             the Board, and then what they did in coming to
  

21             the Board before taking the action that they
  

22             did, subsequently.
  

23                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to allow it,
  

24             but try to make it, I guess, as succinct as
  

25             possible.
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 1   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  So go ahead and answer the
  

 2   question.
  

 3   A    Repeat the question.
  

 4   Q    Were there any other burial associations in the
  

 5   area?
  

 6   A    Yes, there is other another burial association in
  

 7   the area.
  

 8   Q    And what's that other burial association?
  

 9   A    I believe it's Stephenson Burial Association.
  

10   Q    Would that have -- did the Board consider that?
  

11   A    No.
  

12   Q    Why not?
  

13   A    For two reasons.
  

14   Q    Okay.
  

15   A    One is, I have stated already, that our association
  

16   is solvent and that to merge it with the Stephenson
  

17   Association, which have a small amount of reserve, or
  

18   what you call money, it would effect our association,
  

19   and I don't know why we would want to do that.
  

20   Q    So would your members have not received the same
  

21   benefit had the assumption that you were looking at --
  

22   the assumption -- you're saying that the merger with
  

23   Stephenson Burial Association would have been better or
  

24   -- more beneficial or less beneficial?
  

25   A    Less beneficial.
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 1   Q    So you read from the minutes of the board of
  

 2   directors meeting and the member meeting that you had to
  

 3   vote for the dissolution, correct?
  

 4   A    Yes.
  

 5   Q    And I am going to -- and this has the minutes
  

 6   attached to that.  But I'm going to hand you another
  

 7   document.  Can you identify that document that I just
  

 8   handed to you?
  

 9   A    The State of Arkansas, Arkansas Burial Association
  

10   Board.
  

11   Q    And is that a letter that you directed me to send
  

12   to the Burial Association Board?
  

13   A    Yes, it is.
  

14   Q    And basically informing the Burial Association
  

15   Board of the board of directors and the meeting; is that
  

16   correct?
  

17   A    That is correct.
  

18   Q    And this is, in fact, the letter sent requesting
  

19   some sort of guidance/approval of the Board's action?
  

20   A    Yes, it is.
  

21   Q    I'm going to hand you another document and that
  

22   document is a letter.  Who is it addressed to?
  

23   A    To the Board members, Arkansas Secretary of State
  

24   Business and Commercial Services.
  

25   Q    And that is sending notice to the Secretary of
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 1   State that you had planned to dissolve.  That's
  

 2   basically a letter of dissolution, correct?
  

 3   A    Correct.
  

 4   Q    And we've already stipulated to all of these, but
  

 5   that document that I just handed you, what is that
  

 6   document?
  

 7   A    This is proof of publication from The Commercial at
  

 8   Pine Bluff, Arkansas.  It gave notice to creditors
  

 9   pending in the court.
  

10   Q    So that was public notice of the Drew County Burial
  

11   Association's plan to dissolve or liquidate the assets?
  

12   A    Yes.
  

13   Q    Did you receive any creditor claims?
  

14   A    No.
  

15   Q    So subsequent -- and you've heard a lot of
  

16   testimony about the June 7, 2012, Order.  Do you recall
  

17   that?
  

18   A    Yes.
  

19   Q    We went to it -- based on that letter dated
  

20   February 14, 2012, a hearing was held, correct?
  

21   A    Correct.
  

22   Q    What was the outcome of the hearing?  Before the
  

23   State Burial Board, what was the result of the hearing?
  

24   The Order, and I believe it's --
  

25   A    Are you referring to the State Board?
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 1   Q    Yes.
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  It's State's Exhibit Page
  

 3             40 and 41.
  

 4   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Is that Order the result of the
  

 5   hearing?
  

 6   A    Yes, it is.
  

 7   Q    And what is your understanding, based on what you
  

 8   read there, or that you read there at the time?  Did the
  

 9   Board order you to do anything?
  

10   A    No, it didn't.
  

11   Q    What did the Board –- what were the Board's
  

12   findings?
  

13   A    The Board –- it was my idea that they said that it
  

14   was not -- the conclusion of law and fact was that they
  

15   did not have the authority to say yes or no to a
  

16   dissolution.
  

17   Q    And that's on Page 41 -- at the top of Page 41,
  

18   correct?
  

19   A    Conclusion of law, yes.  And the Order was, they
  

20   did not approve.  But if they did not have the authority
  

21   to say yes or no, they did not have the authority to
  

22   approve or disapprove.
  

23   Q    And as a result of your understanding of that
  

24   Order, did you subsequently take some action based on
  

25   some other governing document?

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



82

  
 1   A    Yes, we did.  That's where we referred to our -- to
  

 2   the Drew County Board.
  

 3   Q    You're referring to your Articles of Association?
  

 4   A    Articles of Association.
  

 5   Q    What is your understanding of who owns the funds of
  

 6   a burial association?
  

 7   A    My understanding is that the members own the funds
  

 8   from the burial association.
  

 9   Q    And you heard Ms. Goode testify that that was her
  

10   understanding as well, correct?
  

11   A    Correct.
  

12   Q    So on or before December 18, which is when the
  

13   Order was entered, you took steps to give the members
  

14   the funds in the burial association; is that correct?
  

15   A    That is correct.
  

16   Q    After the June 7, 2012, Order, was there any other
  

17   effort made or attempt made by the Drew County Burial
  

18   Association to the State Board to have a rule adopted or
  

19   drafted?
  

20   A    Well, the rules committee was formed by the State
  

21   Board and they tried to come up with a rule, the rules
  

22   committee, to present to the Board, to the State, that
  

23   would give them authority to say yea or nay to a
  

24   dissolution.
  

25   Q    And what's your understanding of what happened with
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 1   the rules committee and any proposed rule?
  

 2   A    That they did propose a rule to the Board and the
  

 3   Board rejected the rule.
  

 4   Q    Now, there have been allegations made and a
  

 5   complaint from the Board that you have violated the
  

 6   Arkansas State law by using what's been dubbed mortuary
  

 7   funds.  Are you familiar with the term mortuary funds?
  

 8   A    Yes, I am.
  

 9   Q    And how are those mortuary funds to be used?
  

10   A    To pay benefits to the members.
  

11   Q    Is there a certain percentage that has to be used
  

12   to pay benefits?
  

13   A    I believe it is 75 percent of the funds to be used
  

14   to pay benefits.
  

15   Q    And is it your understanding -- how much of the
  

16   funds that you authorized to be distributed, what
  

17   percentage of that went to pay benefits?  Well, strike
  

18   the question.
  

19        Was at least 75 percent of the funds of the Drew
  

20   County Burial Association used to pay benefits?
  

21   A    I would say yes.
  

22   Q    Have you looked to see -- strike that.
  

23        At any time since the January 17, 2012, meeting
  

24   where the members of the Drew County Burial Association
  

25   voted to approve a voluntary dissolution, has, at any
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 1   time subsequent to that meeting, the members of the Drew
  

 2   County Burial Association approached the board of
  

 3   directors or you personally and requested that you stop
  

 4   pursuing a dissolution?
  

 5   A    No.
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  I pass the witness.
  

 7                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, any questions
  

 8             of Mr. Caveness?
  

 9                  MS. HODGE:  I do.
  

10                  EXAMINATION OF JOSEPH CAVENESS
  

11   BY MS. HODGE:
  

12   Q    Mr. Caveness, did I understand your testimony that
  

13   you authorized and approved the dissolution of the Drew
  

14   County Burial Association.
  

15   A    Yes, using the --
  

16   Q    I'm sorry, say it again.
  

17   A    I said, yes, using the association -- Article of
  

18   Association of the Drew County Burial Association
  

19   approved by the State Board in 1954.
  

20   Q    And if you'll just listen to my question and answer
  

21   my question it'll go a lot better for the both of us.
  

22   How long have you had in your possession those Articles
  

23   of Incorporation?
  

24   A    Ever since I have been president.
  

25   Q    And how long has that been?
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 1   A    I don't really remember.  I think, 1997 or
  

 2   something like that.
  

 3   Q    Did you consider dissolution in 1997?
  

 4   A    To be honest with you, yes.
  

 5   Q    The answer is yes?
  

 6   A    Yes.
  

 7   Q    You didn't, however, take action pursuant to the
  

 8   Articles of Incorporation in 1997, though, did you?
  

 9   A    No, I didn't.
  

10   Q    And I think your attorney showed you some documents
  

11   that were sent to the State Board, the Secretary of
  

12   State, in January and February of 2012, regarding the
  

13   dissolution, Respondents' Exhibit 1.  Do you remember
  

14   looking at these?
  

15   A    Yes.
  

16   Q    You didn't authorize the issuance of checks --
  

17   A    No.
  

18   Q    -- even at this time, either, did you --
  

19   A    No.
  

20   Q    -- pursuant to those Articles of Incorporation?
  

21   A    No, I didn't.
  

22   Q    And, in fact, I don't see in these letters to the
  

23   State Board concerning your request for dissolution any
  

24   reference to those Articles of Incorporation; is that
  

25   correct?
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 1   A    That is correct.
  

 2   Q    So when you initially sought permission from the
  

 3   Board to dissolve, you were not relying on the Articles
  

 4   of Incorporation to support your dissolution?
  

 5   A    No.  When we -- do our answer yes or no?
  

 6   Q    Yes.  You said no, and now you are getting ready to
  

 7   say?
  

 8   A    I was getting ready to say why that we didn't,
  

 9   because we were waiting on the Board to react to what we
  

10   were asking them to do.
  

11   Q    And so that leads me to my next question.  You
  

12   understood at this time that you needed the Board to
  

13   make a determination on your request for dissolution as
  

14   early as February 2012?
  

15   A    Well, we were trying to work along with the Board
  

16   to --
  

17   Q    And my question was, you understood you needed to
  

18   seek an action from the Board on your request for
  

19   dissolution; is that correct?
  

20   A    Yes.
  

21   Q    After the Board indicated that it did not approve
  

22   your request for dissolution, you didn't then, in June
  

23   of 2012, issue checks pursuant to a dissolution; is that
  

24   correct?
  

25   A    Correct.
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 1   Q    And you didn't take an appeal from the Board's June
  

 2   2012 Order relying on your Articles of Incorporation,
  

 3   did you?
  

 4   A    No, we didn't.
  

 5   Q    And were you aware, or did you authorize to the
  

 6   declaratory action filed on behalf of the Drew County
  

 7   Burial Association in Pulaski County Circuit Court?
  

 8   A    Yes, I was aware.
  

 9   Q    And are you aware that in that petition you did not
  

10   rely on your authority from your Articles of
  

11   Incorporation for dissolution?
  

12   A    No.
  

13   Q    No, you weren't aware or no, you didn't?
  

14   A    No, I didn't.
  

15   Q    Let me ask a better question.  You did not rely on
  

16   your Articles of Incorporation when you filed your
  

17   declaratory judgment in Pulaski County Circuit Court as
  

18   grounds for approval of dissolution; is that correct?
  

19   A    No, I didn't.
  

20   Q    And so is it fair to say that only after the Board
  

21   decided to not approve your plan for declaratory
  

22   judgment, and only after you dismissed your case in
  

23   Pulaski County Circuit Court, then did you fall back on
  

24   this idea that your Articles of Incorporation allow you
  

25   to dissolve?
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 1   A    Yes, in that, kind of --
  

 2   Q    And your answer is yes?
  

 3   A    Yes.
  

 4   Q    You said yes, kind of.  But is your answer yes or
  

 5   no?
  

 6   A    Yes.
  

 7   Q    Yes, it was after the fact.  Now, do you understand
  

 8   that your Article of Incorporation only allow
  

 9   dissolution if proper?
  

10   A    Yes.
  

11   Q    And so at the point the Board has said you don't
  

12   have approvals to dissolve, you understand now that your
  

13   action was improper?
  

14   A    No.
  

15   Q    And what statute would you rely on that authorizes
  

16   the Drew County Burial Association to dissolve after the
  

17   Board has entered an Order that does not approve the
  

18   dissolution?
  

19   A    That they did not have the authority to approve or
  

20   disapprove.
  

21   Q    And what statute would you rely on that gives
  

22   you --
  

23   A    I don't know the statute.
  

24   Q    Let me ask my question.  What statute would you
  

25   rely on that gives you the authority to dissolve?
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 1   A    In our association.
  

 2   Q    I'm asking about a statute?
  

 3   A    Well, there isn't -- we do not have a statute.  We
  

 4   have regulations.
  

 5   Q    That allow for dissolution?
  

 6   A    We have regulations.
  

 7   Q    Let me ask you a question.  Do you understand that
  

 8   there are statutes that have been enacted that give the
  

 9   Board the authority to supervise and control burial
  

10   associations?
  

11   A    Yes, I do.
  

12   Q    And do you understand that the Drew County Burial
  

13   Association can only act pursuant to the authority
  

14   granted by this Board?  It's not your testimony that
  

15   your Articles of Incorporation can override state law,
  

16   is it?
  

17   A    No.  But there –- it's my -- there have to be a
  

18   state law that prohibit.
  

19   Q    And I'm asking you, are you aware that the only way
  

20   a burial association in the State of Arkansas can act is
  

21   pursuant to the authority granted by this Board?
  

22   A    No.
  

23   Q    You disagree with that?
  

24   A    Yes.
  

25   Q    Do you still have the exhibit packet in front of
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 1   you?
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  State's exhibit.
  

 3   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  State's exhibit 1.  Mr. Caveness,
  

 4   you were aware -- well, let me ask you this question
  

 5   first.  Did you receive a distribution, a check, in the
  

 6   dissolution?
  

 7   A    Yes, I did.
  

 8   Q    And if you will look with me at State's Exhibit
  

 9   Page 36.
  

10                  MS. HODGE:  Are we looking at the
  

11             superscript number?
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  Yes, the superscript
  

13             number.
  

14                  THE WITNESS:  Is that the number at the
  

15             top?
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  Yes, sir, at the top.
  

17                  MS. HODGE:  Yes, sir, the number at the
  

18             top.
  

19   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Mr. Joseph Caveness received
  

20   $7,847.75.
  

21   A    Yes.
  

22   Q    On a check signed by Ms. Linda Shepherd.
  

23   A    Yes.
  

24   Q    And then if you'll look with me on Page -- did
  

25   another member of your family, likewise, receive a check
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 1   out of the distributions?
  

 2   A    Yes.
  

 3   Q    That's what I'm looking for.
  

 4   A    That's on page -- it looks like 22 at the bottom.
  

 5   Q    Let me get to Page 22.  So is Ms. Caveness your
  

 6   wife?
  

 7   A    No, that's my daughter.
  

 8   Q    So your daughter also received $4,235.47; is that
  

 9   correct?
  

10   A    Correct.
  

11   Q    Now, what is the amount of your burial policy?
  

12   A    Five hundred dollars.
  

13   Q    And when you became a member of the Drew County
  

14   Burial Association, did you understand that you would be
  

15   receiving a benefit of $500?
  

16   A    No.  I understood that someone in my family would.
  

17   Q    Yes.  Well, whoever the policy is.  Not that you,
  

18   on your behalf for your funeral.  You understood when
  

19   you became a member of the Drew County Burial
  

20   Association --
  

21   A    I did.
  

22   Q    -- the benefit that you would be receiving would be
  

23   valued at $500?
  

24   A    I did.
  

25   Q    And you voluntarily became a member of the Drew
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 1   County Burial Association understanding that the benefit
  

 2   that you would be entitled to would be valued at $500?
  

 3   A    I did.  At the time at which I became a member.
  

 4   Q    Now, Mr. Harris asked you about the mortuary fund
  

 5   and your understanding of what the mortuary funds could
  

 6   be used for, and I believe your testimony was that it
  

 7   could be used to pay benefits to the members; is that
  

 8   correct?
  

 9   A    Correct.
  

10   Q    But you understand that that benefit, let's use you
  

11   for example, would be valued at $500; is that correct?
  

12   A    At that time and for that purpose, yes.
  

13   Q    My question is -- I asked you when you became a
  

14   member of the Drew County Burial Association and became
  

15   a member, you understood that the benefit would be $500,
  

16   and your answer was yes.  So now I'm asking you, when
  

17   Mr. Harris asked you about the use of the mortuary fund,
  

18   you understand as president of the Drew County Burial
  

19   Association that the benefit that should be paid out of
  

20   the mortuary fund is that $500 benefit that you
  

21   initially understood you would be getting as a member;
  

22   is that correct?
  

23   A    That's correct.
  

24   Q    And so you will agree with me that you have -- the
  

25   association has now spent above and beyond, out of the
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 1   mortuary fund, the $500 benefit that you understood you
  

 2   would be receiving when it cut you a $4,000 check.
  

 3   Would you agree with me about that?
  

 4   A    I would agree with you that it was spent, but not
  

 5   out of the mortuary fund.  It was spent out of the funds
  

 6   in which the burial association had, and that included
  

 7   more than the mortuary fund.
  

 8   Q    Is your testimony today the Drew County Burial
  

 9   Association still has a mortuary fund?
  

10   A    It's my opinion that they don't because -- or if
  

11   the money was not frozen --
  

12   Q    Listen to my question.  Is it your testimony today
  

13   that the Drew County Burial Association still maintains
  

14   a mortuary fund?
  

15   A    No.
  

16   Q    And so the funds that were distributed necessarily
  

17   had to come from your mortuary fund if you don't have
  

18   one now; is that correct?
  

19   A    Yes.
  

20   Q    You gave some testimony about options the Drew
  

21   County Burial Board considered before it sought the
  

22   Board's permission to approve its plan of dissolution,
  

23   and one of those was an assumption by an insurance
  

24   company.  Did you only consider that one insurance
  

25   company?
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 1   A    No.
  

 2   Q    You considered more than one insurance company?
  

 3   A    Yes.
  

 4   Q    And is it your testimony that every insurance
  

 5   company you considered refused to assume the Drew County
  

 6   Burial Association?
  

 7   A    No.
  

 8   Q    I thought I understood your testimony to be that
  

 9   when you had sought assumption by an insurance company
  

10   -- and let me ask you this question.  Are you aware that
  

11   there is a rule or a statute that permits assumption by
  

12   an insurance company?
  

13   A    Yes.
  

14   Q    And so before the Drew County Burial Association
  

15   sought to dissolve, you attempted assumption by an
  

16   insurance company because that's covered by a rule; is
  

17   that correct?
  

18   A    Yes.
  

19   Q    And I understood your earlier testimony to be that
  

20   one insurance company did not want to undertake the
  

21   responsibility of assumption; is that correct?
  

22   A    That's correct.
  

23   Q    But I guess I understand your testimony now to be
  

24   that there were other insurance companies that
  

25   considered assuming Drew County; is that correct?
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 1   A    Yes, that's correct.
  

 2   Q    And you didn't pursue that?
  

 3   A    We didn't pursue that.
  

 4   Q    Give me just a second.  I want to look at
  

 5   Respondents' exhibits.  Now, the document that you
  

 6   submitted to the Board are dated February 14, 2012, the
  

 7   Plan of Liquidation, and then you didn't dissolve the
  

 8   association until 2014.  Was there another Plan of
  

 9   Liquidation that you followed for the 2014 dissolution
  

10   or did you rely on these 2012 documents?
  

11   A    We relied on the 2012 documents.
  

12   Q    Were the funds in the account at that time not
  

13   different than the ones you provided in this document,
  

14   the amount of funds?
  

15   A    Yes.
  

16   Q    And so Mr. Caveness, will you look at State's
  

17   Exhibit 1 -- Mr. Caveness, look at Page 14 of State's
  

18   Exhibit -- it's 14/16, but it's really 14 for the
  

19   record.  It's the December 15, 2014, correspondence from
  

20   Joseph Cavenesss.  Is this a letter you authored and
  

21   signed by you?
  

22   A    Where is it?
  

23   Q    It's on Page 14, December 15, 2014.  Did you author
  

24   this letter?
  

25   A    Did I write this?
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 1   Q    Yes, sir.
  

 2   A    It was with the help, I think, it was
  

 3   secretary/treasurer assisted.
  

 4   Q    But you read it and you sent it out.  That's your
  

 5   signature at the bottom.
  

 6   A    Yes, I did.
  

 7   Q    You understood at the time that you sent this
  

 8   letter that dissolving Drew County Burial Association
  

 9   might negatively impact some of your members, didn't
  

10   you?
  

11   A    No, I didn't.
  

12   Q    Let me direct your attention to the middle, this
  

13   bolded in the exhibit.  There is a separate paragraph
  

14   that is in bold and set apart from the rest of the
  

15   letter that says, "Each member currently receiving
  

16   Medicare, Medicaid or social security benefits and is
  

17   projected to receive a distribution should consult an
  

18   attorney or accountant of your choosing for additional
  

19   information regarding the potential impact of the
  

20   distribution on your continuing eligibility in that
  

21   program!"
  

22   A    Yeah.
  

23   Q    And so you're giving notice to some of your members
  

24   that their continued eligibility --
  

25   A    Might be --
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 1   Q    -- let me finish my question -- in these particular
  

 2   programs might be affected to the extent that you're
  

 3   encouraging them to seek legal advice; is that correct?
  

 4   A    That's correct.
  

 5   Q    So you did understand that your distribution of
  

 6   this money might be harmful to some of your members?
  

 7   A    Not necessarily harmful, just because they --
  

 8   that's why they consult an attorney or an accountant,
  

 9   that it might impact their decision, but not necessarily
  

10   harm them.
  

11   Q    Would you consider –- well, your letter says on
  

12   your continuing eligibility of that program.  Did I read
  

13   that right?
  

14   A    Yes.
  

15   Q    Would you consider, for example, if one of your
  

16   members was not able to receive Medicare or Medicaid as
  

17   harmful impact on the distribution?
  

18   A    It depends on how you look at it.  If it's enough
  

19   that they might not get something for a month, it may
  

20   not be harmful.
  

21   Q    But it could be.
  

22   A    It could be.  Possible.
  

23   Q    You understand that these programs (Medicare and
  

24   Medicaid or social security benefits) might be providing
  

25   health insurance for some of your members?
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 1   A    Possible.
  

 2   Q    Or stays at nursing homes?
  

 3   A    Possible.
  

 4   Q    In Respondents' Exhibit 1, there is, attached to
  

 5   this February 14, 2012 letter, several documents,
  

 6   including a meeting of the Drew County Burial
  

 7   Association in January 17, 2012, at 6:00 p.m.  It's an
  

 8   attendance sheet.  About how many people do you think
  

 9   attended the meeting?
  

10   A    I think it was 29.
  

11   Q    Twenty-nine members?  And how many members are
  

12   there in the Drew County Burial Association?
  

13   A    Probably 243.
  

14   Q    I thought I saw somewhere 290?
  

15   A    Two hundred -- it might have been --
  

16   Q    At that time.
  

17   A    -- 290.
  

18   Q    And that's what we're talking about, the time of
  

19   the dissolution, 290 members and 29 members showed up at
  

20   the meeting.
  

21   A    Yes.
  

22   Q    So ten percent of your membership was aware that
  

23   this dissolution meeting occurred?
  

24                  MR. HARRIS:  Objection.
  

25   A    I wouldn't say that.
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 1                  MR. HARRIS:  I will object.  Now she's
  

 2             calling            for evidence that's not --
  

 3             she's basically calling for something that's
  

 4             not in evidence as to what the people knew or
  

 5             didn't, whether or not they got notice or not.
  

 6                  MS. HODGE:  Well, I'll ask the question a
  

 7             different way.
  

 8   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Ten percent of your membership
  

 9   attended the meeting regarding dissolution; is that
  

10   correct?  About ten percent?
  

11   A    Yes.
  

12                  MS. HODGE:  I pass the witness.
  

13                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, redirect?
  

14                  MR. HARRIS:  Thank you.
  

15             FURTHER EXAMINATION OF JOSEPH CAVENESS
  

16   BY MR. HARRIS:
  

17   Q    Mr. Caveness, the meeting in which Counsel for the
  

18   State is referring to where I believe you said it was
  

19   29 --
  

20   A    Yes.
  

21   Q    So approximately 40 members attended?  Whatever the
  

22   number was, was that standard of the participation for
  

23   any meeting?
  

24   A    Basically, yes.
  

25   Q    Was that meeting conducted according to Arkansas
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 1   law?
  

 2   A    Yes.
  

 3   Q    Did you send a notice out pursuant to Arkansas law?
  

 4   A    Yes.
  

 5   Q    Mr. Caveness, can you make people come to a
  

 6   meeting?
  

 7   A    No.
  

 8                  HEARING OFFICER:  Let me remind the
  

 9             audience to please remain quiet.
  

10   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  I want to ask about the -- there
  

11   was at least one other insurance company that was
  

12   considered for the assumption.
  

13   A    Yes.
  

14   Q    Yet that was not -- that option was not pursued.
  

15   A    No.
  

16   Q    Why not?
  

17   A    Because the members voted not to pursue it.
  

18   Q    You didn't unilaterally make that decision on your
  

19   own?
  

20   A    No, I didn't.
  

21   Q    To the best of your knowledge, when you get ready
  

22   to call a meeting, do you have to -- well, strike that.
  

23        To the best of your knowledge, when a check is
  

24   written, do you have to call the State Board and get
  

25   approval to write a check?
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 1   A    No.
  

 2   Q    Do you have to call the State Board to authorize
  

 3   the secretary/treasurer to write a check?
  

 4   A    No.
  

 5   Q    So you don't have to call the State Board to get
  

 6   approval to do a lot of different things to operate as a
  

 7   burial association; is that correct?
  

 8   A    That's correct.
  

 9   Q    To the best of your knowledge, is there any state
  

10   law, regulation, or any case law that prohibits the
  

11   voluntary dissolution of a burial association?
  

12   A    Not that I know of.
  

13   Q    Mr. Caveness, in 2012, when you submitted the plan
  

14   of liquidation to the Arkansas State Burial Board, did
  

15   you do that with the understanding that you had to get
  

16   authority from the Board?
  

17                  MS. HODGE:  Would you repeat the question.
  

18   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  When you submitted the plan of
  

19   liquidation to the Arkansas Burial Association Board,
  

20   did you do so with the understanding that you needed the
  

21   State Board's authority or permission, if you would, to
  

22   do a voluntary dissolution?
  

23   A    It was submitted -- the plan was really submitted
  

24   in order to inform the State Board of what we were
  

25   doing.  I don't think we did it in order to really get
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 1   approval from the State Board.
  

 2   Q    And so when the State Board, in their June 7, 2012,
  

 3   Order, stated that they didn't have statutory authority
  

 4   to approve or concur, was that surprising to you?
  

 5   A    No.
  

 6   Q    Well, why not?
  

 7   A    Well, I really can't say.
  

 8   Q    Did that come as –- was that new to you?  Did you
  

 9   learn that for the first time in that Order?
  

10   A    That they did not have the authority?
  

11   Q    That the State Board does not have the authority to
  

12   approve a plan for voluntary dissolution?
  

13   A    Yes, I guess so.
  

14   Q    And is it also not true that even understanding
  

15   that --
  

16                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object to leading.
  

17                  HEARING OFFICER:  I concur.  Restate the
  

18             question.
  

19   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Why did you submit –- why did you
  

20   agree, then, to not pursue, or to delay the lawsuit
  

21   against the State Board?
  

22   A    Because they were trying to come up with the
  

23   regulation in which they could approve dissolution.
  

24   Q    So you weren't trying to get out in front of the
  

25   Board?
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 1   A    No.
  

 2   Q    So what, then, was your thought process when the
  

 3   Board ultimately declined to adopt the rule?
  

 4   A    Was to go on and do the dissolution, because they
  

 5   did not have -- it had been stated that they did not
  

 6   have the authority to approve or disapprove the
  

 7   dissolution.
  

 8   Q    At that point you authorize the voluntary dismissal
  

 9   of the lawsuit; is that correct?
  

10   A    Yes.
  

11   Q    And why was that option taken?
  

12   A    That we might could move forward with the
  

13   dissolution.
  

14   Q    Now, you testified earlier that you considered
  

15   dissolution in as early as 1997.
  

16   A    Yes.
  

17   Q    Did the members of the Drew County Burial
  

18   Association take a vote on voluntary dissolution in
  

19   1997?
  

20   A    No.
  

21   Q    Was the vote in 2012 the first vote for voluntary
  

22   dissolution taken?
  

23   A    Yes.
  

24   Q    And is that the reason why you hadn't pursued it
  

25   before then?
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 1   A    Well, before then, in '97 when we started talking
  

 2   about it, Dr. Watkins came to the Board and talked with
  

 3   some of the members, or he may have talked to, I
  

 4   believe, at that time, the secretary/treasurer and we
  

 5   were trying to find ways in which we could use the money
  

 6   for the people, for the members' benefit, and that was
  

 7   one of the things that he said, no, and he came back and
  

 8   he told us what they had said, so we didn't pursue it at
  

 9   that time.
  

10   Q    So all of this dissolution, this has gone on for a
  

11   while, wouldn't you agree?
  

12   A    I'm thinking, yes.
  

13   Q    Why go through all of the trouble?
  

14   A    The members.
  

15   Q    Say again.  I'm sorry?
  

16   A    For the members.  Benefit for the members.
  

17   Q    Do you believe that it was improper to take the
  

18   steps that the members of the association had approved
  

19   to voluntarily dissolve the association?
  

20   A    No, I don't.
  

21   Q    And those checks which Counsel for the State has
  

22   referenced in State's Exhibit 1, are all of those people
  

23   members of the Drew County Burial Association?
  

24   A    Yes, they are.
  

25   Q    What would happen if -- strike that.
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 1        Who would receive the funds -- well, strike that.
  

 2        You testified earlier that you were over funded.
  

 3   Do you recall that testimony?
  

 4   A    Yes.
  

 5   Q    What do mean by that?
  

 6   A    It means that there is more money in our
  

 7   organization than the amount to pay, is what you would
  

 8   call the mortuary fund.  If everybody -- possibly, if
  

 9   everybody were to die at one time and we paid all of the
  

10   certificates, there would still be over a million
  

11   dollars left in the fund.  So I feel that since it is
  

12   overly funded and so forth, this money belong to the
  

13   people.  Whatever you call it, mortuary or not, all of
  

14   this money belong to the people, to its members.
  

15   Therefore, I feel that we should be able to distribute
  

16   these funds to the people fairly.
  

17   Q    And has Drew County Burial Association ever been
  

18   unable to pay a benefit to any member who presented
  

19   their certificate?
  

20   A    No.
  

21   Q    So they've always paid?
  

22   A    Always paid.
  

23   Q    And you said that there would be a million dollar
  

24   surplus?
  

25   A    There would be a million dollar surplus.
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 1   Q    What's your understanding, what would happen to
  

 2   those funds should, as you testified to, everyone die?
  

 3   A    The surplus that would be left, my understanding,
  

 4   as far as I know, would go to the State Board.
  

 5   Q    And so the State -- based on your understanding, do
  

 6   you believe that to be a fair outcome?
  

 7   A    No, I don't.
  

 8   Q    And you testified there's nothing prohibiting Drew
  

 9   County Burial Association from voluntary dissolution.
  

10   A    That is correct.
  

11                  MR. HARRIS:  I pass the witness.
  

12                  MS. HODGE:  I just have a couple questions.
  

13             FURTHER EXAMINATION OF JOSEPH CAVENESS
  

14   BY MS. HODGE:
  

15   Q    Mr. Caveness, I understand your testimony to be
  

16   that in 1997, when you considered dissolution, the
  

17   members didn't want it?
  

18   A    No.
  

19   Q    I thought I heard you say the members at that time
  

20   said no.
  

21   A    No.
  

22   Q    That's what I wrote down.
  

23   A    No, that's not what I said.
  

24   Q    What did you say?
  

25   A    I said Dr. Watkins came to the State Board and he
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 1   talked with somebody here, which I think was the
  

 2   secretary/treasurer at that time, and she said to him,
  

 3   no, and he came back and he said to us, and we did not
  

 4   pursue it.
  

 5   Q    So I guess I understand your testimony to be that
  

 6   as early as 1997 your Board was aware that it did not
  

 7   have permission to dissolve, and that that was reported
  

 8   back to you by Dr. Watkins and you didn't pursue it?
  

 9   A    No.
  

10   Q    Well, let me ask you a different question.  Dr.
  

11   Watkins was the then president of the --
  

12   A    No, he wasn't.  I was the president.
  

13   Q    But Dr. Watkins came on your behalf to visit with
  

14   the secretary/treasurer in 1997 about dissolution; is
  

15   that correct?
  

16   A    Yes.
  

17   Q    And he reported to you that the answer from the
  

18   Board at that time was no, the dissolution would not be
  

19   permitted?
  

20   A    That they didn't have anything on dissolution.
  

21   That was the answer to us.
  

22   Q    And then you, after receiving that information, did
  

23   not pursue dissolution in 1997?
  

24   A    Did not pursue, right.
  

25   Q    Are you required to maintain books?
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 1   A    Yes.
  

 2   Q    Are you required to submit to an audit by the State
  

 3   Board?
  

 4   A    Yes.
  

 5   Q    Are you required to submit reports to the State
  

 6   Board?
  

 7   A    Yes.
  

 8   Q    Could you write a check for $50,000 for, I don't
  

 9   know, landscaping?
  

10   A    It depends if it fell within the 25 percent.
  

11   Q    If it was more than 25 percent?
  

12   A    If it was more than 25 percent?
  

13   Q    Do you have operating expenses that include
  

14   landscaping?
  

15   A    No.
  

16   Q    So you would have no reason to be writing a $50,000
  

17   check for landscaping is my point; is that correct?
  

18   A    No, I wouldn't.
  

19   Q    And if in an audit it was discovered that you wrote
  

20   a check for $50,000 for landscaping, you understand you
  

21   would have to answer to the Board about that; is that
  

22   correct?
  

23   A    That's correct.
  

24   Q    Did I hear you testify that you wanted to be sure
  

25   that the members received a fair distribution of the
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 1   funds?
  

 2   A    Yes.
  

 3   Q    And who made the determination that the
  

 4   distribution that you made was fair?
  

 5   A    The Board and the members.
  

 6   Q    When did they make that determination?
  

 7   A    When we presented it to them, and we presented to
  

 8   them the means and the way in which the members would be
  

 9   -- in which the distribution would be made.
  

10   Q    At that meeting with the 29 individuals, is that
  

11   when you're referring to?
  

12   A    Yes.
  

13   Q    So 29 people made a determination that the checks
  

14   that everybody else would be receiving was fair?
  

15   A    They were the ones at the meeting.
  

16   Q    I'm sorry?
  

17   A    I said, they were the ones at the meeting, yes.
  

18                  MS. HODGE:  That's all the questions I
  

19             have.
  

20                  HEARING OFFICER:  Members of the Board, any
  

21             questions of Mr. Caveness?
  

22                  MR. BERNA:  I got a couple.
  

23                  HEARING OFFICER:  If you'll go ahead and
  

24             say your name for the court reporter, please.
  

25                  MR. BERNA:  Scott Berna.  I notice on the
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 1             checks that there are -- on Page 24 and 25,
  

 2             there are a two checks made out to Michael
  

 3             Jones, and one states for administration
  

 4             expenses.  Can you explain to me why that
  

 5             individual got two checks?
  

 6                  THE WITNESS:  One is for, he is a
  

 7             participant.  He's a member of the association.
  

 8             And the other one, as you said is for
  

 9             administrative expenses.
  

10                  MR. BERNA:  What type of experience was
  

11             that?
  

12                  THE WITNESS:  He is the one that did all of
  

13             the work on where the people would be
  

14             distributed the funding.
  

15                  MR. BERNA:  Did anyone else get two checks?
  

16                  THE WITNESS:  Yes, possibly.  If they were
  

17             working in a capacity where they would have
  

18             been working with the dissolution and preparing
  

19             some of the stuff in which -- the work in which
  

20             needed to be done in order to dissolve the
  

21             association.
  

22                  MR. BERNA:  And were any attorney's fees
  

23             paid out of the --
  

24                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

25                  MR. BERNA:  May I ask how -- am I permitted

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



111

  
 1             to ask how much?
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  You can ask it could be
  

 3             objected to.  So you're welcome to ask the
  

 4             question and we'll see what Counsel --
  

 5                  MR. HARRIS:  Objection.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  We'll sustain it.  It is
  

 7             not listed in the exhibits.
  

 8                  MS. HODGE:  He can ask the witness, can't
  

 9             he, if the witness knows how much attorney's
  

10             fees are paid out?
  

11                  HEARING OFFICER:  Sure, you're welcome to
  

12             ask.
  

13                  MS. HODGE:  And again, the hearing is about
  

14             improper dissolution and use of funds that
  

15             belong to the burial association, and if that's
  

16             the Board's decision, which is why we're having
  

17             the hearing, they have a right to inquire where
  

18             the funds were spent and how they were spent.
  

19                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you for clarifying.
  

20             Yes, ma'am, you're exactly right.
  

21                  MR. HARRIS:  Then may I voir dire the
  

22             witness prior to the question, because the
  

23             witness --
  

24                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object to that.
  

25                  MR. HARRIS:  -- may not have the knowledge
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 1             as to what was actually written.  He didn't
  

 2             sign the checks.
  

 3                  MS. HODGE:  Well, he can ask the witness
  

 4             and then if this witness doesn't know he can
  

 5             ask the witness that signs the checks, and we
  

 6             don't need to voir dire the witness or lead
  

 7             him.
  

 8                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, I'd ask the Hearing
  

 9             Officer to allow me to voir dire the witness to
  

10             see if that's a proper question of this
  

11             witness.
  

12                  MS. HODGE:  I object.  I think it's a
  

13             proper question for the witness.
  

14                  HEARING OFFICER:  I think in his capacity
  

15             it's a proper question for the witness, so ask
  

16             your question.
  

17                  MR. BERNA:  May I ask you, sir, how much
  

18             attorney's fees the association paid?
  

19                  THE WITNESS:  I don't know.
  

20                  MR. BERNA:  Do you know if it exceeded 25
  

21             percent?
  

22                  THE WITNESS:  I don't know that either.
  

23             Twenty-five percent of what?
  

24                  MR. BERNA:  Administration -- what you're
  

25             allowed -- you talked about the $50,000 for
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 1             landscaping and you said that would be fine if
  

 2             it was in the 25 percent -- if it didn't exceed
  

 3             the 25 percent.
  

 4                  THE WITNESS:  I don't know that.
  

 5                  MR. BERNA:  Then, do you know what
  

 6             percentage the attorney's fees ended up being
  

 7             in the actual distribution?
  

 8                  THE WITNESS:  No, I don't.
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Any additional questions
  

10             of the Board?
  

11                  MR. GILCHREST:  I have one.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  Yes, sir.
  

13                  MR. GILCHREST:  Mr. Caveness, based on the
  

14             amounts of the checks, I'm assuming there was
  

15             some type of formula that was used.  Can you
  

16             tell what that formula was based on?
  

17                  THE WITNESS:  To be honest with you, I
  

18             can't.
  

19                  MR. GILCHREST:  Can you tell me who
  

20             determined the formula itself that was used in
  

21             this process?
  

22                  THE WITNESS:  Yeah, Mr. Jones; Michael
  

23             Jones.
  

24                  MR. GILCHREST:  Michael Jones.  So he
  

25             actually determined --
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 1                  THE WITNESS:  Yeah, he can tell you what --
  

 2             how it was determined.  And I think it was
  

 3             based on the amount of time one had been in
  

 4             plus what they had paid in plus something.  I
  

 5             really don't know.  I'm not an accountant.
  

 6                  MR. GILCHREST:  So if I hear the answer
  

 7             correctly, it was based on either longevity or
  

 8             the amount of the policy or both?
  

 9                  THE WITNESS:  Both, probably.  I think.
  

10                  MS. HODGE:  Did he say both, probably?
  

11                  THE WITNESS:  I think it was both.  I'm not
  

12             sure.
  

13                  MS. HODGE:  Well, he doesn't know.
  

14                  MR. HARRIS:  He says he's not sure.
  

15                  HEARING OFFICER:  I think he's answered.
  

16             Do you have any additional questions?
  

17                  MR. GILCHREST:  No.
  

18                  HEARING OFFICER:  Any additional questions
  

19             of this witness?
  

20                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  I have a question.
  

21             Haylee Harris-Hill.  I would like to know who
  

22             besides this Michael Jones specifically
  

23             received more than one check for purposes other
  

24             than being a member of the association.
  

25                  THE WITNESS:  I just answered that.
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 1                  MR. HARRIS:  If I may, the Board has access
  

 2             to all of that information, all of those
  

 3             accounts.  I think we've provided a document
  

 4             showing who.  I think it would be difficult for
  

 5             Mr. Caveness or perhaps even Ms. Shepherd to
  

 6             specifically identify that.  But that
  

 7             information was provided, the stubs on the
  

 8             checks.  Did you get those?
  

 9                  MS. HODGE:  I don't think we received a
  

10             copy of all the checks that were written to
  

11             every member -- to all 290 members.
  

12                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, it wasn't 290 at the
  

13             time.
  

14                  MS. HODGE:  So no, I don't have it.
  

15                  MR. HARRIS:  So that information -- yes,
  

16             that's what we attempted --
  

17                  MS. GOODE:  It was given to me --
  

18                  MR. HARRIS:  -- to provide them, and so I
  

19             think all of that --
  

20                  MS. HODGE:  You got it this morning?
  

21                  MS. GOODE:  This morning.
  

22                  MR. HARRIS:  -- which will also show,
  

23             should show the check that was written for the
  

24             attorney's fees.
  

25                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  Well, I would -- I have a
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 1             question.  This was given to us today and we
  

 2             are in the hearing now.  I don't know how many
  

 3             of the Board members sitting here today have
  

 4             seen this information, since it was just given
  

 5             to Amy today.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Let me just interject.  I
  

 7             think we just -- I just found out about this
  

 8             also so --
  

 9                  MS. HODGE:  Me too.
  

10                  HEARING OFFICER:  -- we're going to figure
  

11             out where to go with this.  In terms of your
  

12             question, go ahead and ask Mr. Caveness your
  

13             question, and then, Mr. Caveness, if you don't
  

14             know, however you want to answer that question,
  

15             you'll and then we'll move to the next.
  

16                  THE WITNESS:  Repeat your question.
  

17                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  Did you specifically
  

18             receive more than one check?
  

19                  THE WITNESS:  Me?
  

20                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  Yes.
  

21                  THE WITNESS:  No.
  

22                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  To your knowledge, did
  

23             anyone else that was a member of the Drew
  

24             County Board, the association board members,
  

25             receive more than one check?
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 1                  THE WITNESS:  Board members --
  

 2                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  Yes.
  

 3                  THE WITNESS:  -- or members of the
  

 4             association?
  

 5                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  No, Board members?
  

 6                  THE WITNESS:  Board members?
  

 7                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  Yes.
  

 8                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

 9                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  Who received those
  

10             checks?
  

11                  THE WITNESS:  Well, Ms. -- the
  

12             secretary/treasurer is the only one that
  

13             received two checks.
  

14                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  Do you know what that
  

15             amount was for?
  

16                  THE WITNESS:  No, I don't.
  

17                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  Thank you.
  

18                  HEARING OFFICER:  Any additional questions
  

19             of Mr. Caveness?
  

20                  MS. HODGE:  Can we take a recess and review
  

21             the documents?
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  We will.  I want to --
  

23                  MS. HODGE:  There may be more questions of
  

24             Mr. Caveness depending on what those records
  

25             reveal.
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 1                  HEARING OFFICER:  Right.  And we'll be able
  

 2             to call him back.  So I if it's okay, I want to
  

 3             make sure we kind of close this part of it.
  

 4                  MR. BERNA:  Is it permissible for me to ask
  

 5             a couple more?
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Yes.  Absolutely.
  

 7                  MR. BERNA:  And I'm not sure how I -- stop
  

 8             me if I'm going the wrong direction.  A
  

 9             considerable amount of time has been spent on
  

10             this for a couple years now, Mr. Caveness, and
  

11             I don't recall seeing you at the meeting, so I
  

12             assume your representative gave you input on
  

13             what happened at the meetings.  Were you aware
  

14             that -- or were you made aware that the Board
  

15             acknowledged that there was an overage in the
  

16             association?
  

17                  THE WITNESS:  No, I'm not aware of anything
  

18             the Board has done or taken.  And some of the
  

19             meetings I was there.  In meetings which
  

20             involved Drew County Burial Association, I was
  

21             there.  Others, I may not have been there.
  

22                  MR. BERNA:  And were you made aware that
  

23             the Board, with court guidance, would entertain
  

24             dissolution?
  

25                  THE WITNESS:  I'm not following what you
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 1             mean.
  

 2                  MR. BERNA:  Were you made aware that the
  

 3             Board did not want to create a precedence
  

 4             because this was the first time this had been
  

 5             asked of us?
  

 6                  THE WITNESS:  Well, I was aware that the
  

 7             Board did not accept the recommendation from
  

 8             the rules committee.
  

 9                  MR. BERNA:  And were you made aware that
  

10             the Board, with court guidance, would revisit
  

11             the issue?
  

12                  THE WITNESS:  No.
  

13                  HEARING OFFICER:  Anything else for Mr.
  

14             Caveness?
  

15                   (No audible response given.)
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  Hearing nothing, at this
  

17             time, let's take a recess.  Ms. Hodge and Mr.
  

18             Harris, I want to get with you two to go over
  

19             the information that was brought today and
  

20             determine where to proceed from there.  Let's
  

21             take a short recess/break.  Again, no
  

22             communicating with each other.  Go off the
  

23             record.
  

24                  (WHEREUPON, after a break was taken, the
  

25             proceedings resumed as follows, to wit:)
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 1                  HEARING OFFICER:  At this time, let's go
  

 2             back on the record in the matter of Linda
  

 3             Shepherd and Joseph Cavaness, Drew County
  

 4             Burial Association.  When we left, Mr. Cavaness
  

 5             had been called as a witness.  He's been
  

 6             directed and crossed, and the Board members
  

 7             have had an opportunity to ask him questions.
  

 8                  Mr. Harris, do you have any follow-up
  

 9             redirect for Mr. Cavaness?
  

10                  MR. HARRIS:  No.
  

11                  HEARING OFFICER:  And I'm asking because
  

12             there may be some follow up on a cross for him,
  

13             so I will give you an opportunity to redirect
  

14             at the appropriate time.
  

15                  Ms. Hodge, what do you have?
  

16                  MS. HODGE:  I do.  I have two documents I
  

17             want to show Mr. Cavaness.
  

18             FURTHER EXAMINATION OF JOSEPH CAVENESS
  

19   BY MS. HODGE:
  

20   Q    Mr. Cavaness, as the president of the --
  

21                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, do we need to
  

22             get those introduced into evidence?
  

23                  MS. HODGE:  Yes.  Do you want me to lay a
  

24             foundation?  Or let me readdress and then I
  

25             might could lay a foundation.  And for the
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 1             record, I'm showing him minutes from the Drew
  

 2             County Burial Association meetings for July
  

 3             2014 -- two different meetings in July of 2014
  

 4             that address the dissolution issue.
  

 5                  HEARING OFFICER:  Actually, one was '13.
  

 6                  MS. HODGE:  July 3, 2013, and then July 24,
  

 7             2014.
  

 8                  MR. HARRIS:  No objection.
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Let's show the minutes
  

10             for 2013 as State's Exhibit 2, and the minutes
  

11             from 2014, let's go ahead and show it as
  

12             State's Exhibit 3.
  

13                  (WHEREUPON, Exhibits Number 2 and 3 were
  

14             marked for identification and are attached
  

15             hereto.)
  

16   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Mr. Cavaness, do you preside over
  

17   Drew County Burial Association meetings as the
  

18   president?
  

19   A    I do.
  

20   Q    And then do you or Ms. Shepherd dictate the
  

21   minutes?
  

22   A    Ms. Shepherd.
  

23   Q    Ms. Shepherd does?
  

24                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Cavaness, I hate to
  

25             do this, but would you mind speaking up a
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 1             little so everyone can hear.  Thank you, sir.
  

 2   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Let me show you -- and I'll just
  

 3   stand with you, because we don't have copies of this one
  

 4   -- the July 3, 2013, minutes.  Did you preside over
  

 5   this?  It looks like you presided over this meeting.
  

 6   A    Yes, I did.
  

 7   Q    And you submitted these minutes to Amy Goode, as
  

 8   the executive secretary, on July 3, 2013.
  

 9   A    Ms. Shepherd did.
  

10   Q    Now, I just want to ask you here.  Do you recall
  

11   discussing with the membership the issue of dissolution?
  

12   And if you need to read that document --
  

13   A    I need to read it.  (Witness reading State's
  

14   Exhibit 2.)  Yes, I do.
  

15   Q    And I reviewed these minutes during the recess and
  

16   it looks like there were questions that the membership
  

17   had about the dissolution, and that there, to date, had
  

18   not been a regulation that had been passed.  And it
  

19   looks here that the membership had discussions continued
  

20   with members asking if there's anything they could do to
  

21   help the process, because the members have high hopes of
  

22   utilizing the benefits but are dying.  And President
  

23   Cavaness stated, he knows of nothing the members can do
  

24   except for continue paying their premiums.
  

25   A    Until further notice.
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 1   Q    Until further notice.  Did I read that correctly?
  

 2   A    Yes, you did.
  

 3   Q    Now, you testified earlier that in 2012 the
  

 4   membership voted to dissolve the Drew County Burial
  

 5   Association, but let me show you the 2014 minutes where
  

 6   you had your membership meeting.  Let me ask you that
  

 7   before I ask you a specific question.  Do you have any
  

 8   way of knowing if the 29 people who signed in, in 2012
  

 9   to dissolve are present at this July 24, 2014, meeting?
  

10   A    No, I don't.
  

11   Q    Do you have a sign-in sheet for all of your
  

12   meetings?
  

13   A    Yes.
  

14   Q    And on the second page of the minutes it looks like
  

15   there was a discussion of the dissolution, and that a
  

16   Mr. James Ambrose moved the dissolution of Drew County
  

17   Burial Association be taken to court.  Did I read that
  

18   correct?
  

19   A    Yes.
  

20   Q    And that a Mr. Larry Gragg second the motion, which
  

21   was carried with no further discussion --
  

22   A    Yes.
  

23   Q    -- is that correct?
  

24   A    That's correct.
  

25   Q    So the membership as of July 24, 2014, wanted court
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 1   action not dissolution.
  

 2   A    No, it wanted court action to dissolve.
  

 3   Q    And you dismissed your court action; is that
  

 4   correct?
  

 5   A    It was dismissed because of --
  

 6   Q    Just answer my question.
  

 7   A    Yes.
  

 8   Q    You dismissed your court action.
  

 9   A    Yes.
  

10   Q    So you did not receive court permission, following
  

11   this meeting, to dissolve the Drew County Burial
  

12   Association?
  

13   A    No.
  

14                  MS. HODGE:  Those are all the questions I
  

15             have.
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, any redirect?
  

17                  MR. HARRIS:  Yes.
  

18             FURTHER EXAMINATION OF JOSEPH CAVENESS
  

19   BY MR. HARRIS:
  

20   Q    Mr. Caveness, during that meeting you just
  

21   testified, what was the context of the motion?  Could
  

22   you provide the context.
  

23                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object.
  

24   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Do you recall being at the
  

25   meeting?
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 1   A    Yes.
  

 2   Q    And do you recall the items that were discussed at
  

 3   the meeting?
  

 4   A    Yes.
  

 5   Q    And the subject, as noted by the minutes, came up
  

 6   about seeking court permission to proceed.  Do you
  

 7   recall that item?
  

 8   A    Yes.
  

 9   Q    Could you provide some context for the Board as to
  

10   how that came about.
  

11   A    It came about because of the -- it had been stated
  

12   that the Board had not made a decision, or that the
  

13   Board had decided not to approve the dissolution, and we
  

14   talked about some ways in which we could go on, and Mr.
  

15   Ambrose suggested that we go to court rather than to
  

16   continue to wait for the Board to make a decision.
  

17   Q    Now, this wasn't a new court filing, was it?
  

18   A    No, it wasn't.
  

19   Q    It was, in fact, only the same action that had been
  

20   previously filed, correct?
  

21   A    To the best of my knowledge, yes.
  

22   Q    And we had yet to -- there had been no hearing set.
  

23   Do you recall that?
  

24   A    To the best -- no, I don't.  I don't remember what
  

25   the -- when the hearing was set.
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 1   Q    But could that be a possible explanation to add
  

 2   context to the minutes?
  

 3   A    Yes.
  

 4                  MR. HARRIS:  I pass the witness.
  

 5                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, do you have
  

 6             any recross?
  

 7                  MS. HODGE:  I do.
  

 8             FURTHER EXAMINATION OF JOSEPH CAVENESS
  

 9   BY MS. HODGE:
  

10   Q    Mr. Caveness, and I know this is 2013 and so this
  

11   has been a year and a half ago, but I want to direct
  

12   your attention to your July 3, 2013, minutes, and it
  

13   looks like questions arose regarding the earlier
  

14   hearings.  President Caveness answered that each of the
  

15   hearings was continued by the court due to conflicts in
  

16   scheduling.  And so as of July 3, 2013, there had been
  

17   hearings scheduled.  I understand the minutes reflected
  

18   that they were continued, but there were hearings
  

19   scheduled as early as July of 2013.
  

20   A    Yes.
  

21   Q    That you discussed that with the membership.
  

22   A    Yes.
  

23   Q    And so when you're discussing this vote back in
  

24   2014, I think you testified that you didn't think that
  

25   there were any hearings scheduled, but the minutes
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 1   reflect that you did discuss that with the membership
  

 2   back in 2013.
  

 3   A    2013.
  

 4                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, any redirect?
  

 5                  MR. HARRIS:  Nothing further.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Members of the Board, any
  

 7             questions of Mr. Caveness?
  

 8                   (NO AUDIBLE RESPONSE GIVEN)
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Hearing none, Mr. Harris,
  

10             will you call your next witness.
  

11                  MR. HARRIS:  I call Ms. Linda Shepherd.
  

12                  EXAMINATION OF LINDA SHEPHERD
  

13   BY MR. HARRIS:
  

14   Q    Would you state your name and your position in the
  

15   Drew County Burial Association.
  

16   A    Linda Shepherd, it was the secretary/treasurer.
  

17   Q    Ms. Shepherd, how long have you served as the
  

18   secretary/treasurer of the Drew County Burial
  

19   Association?
  

20   A    I believe, for 12 years.
  

21   Q    What role do you serve, or what duties do you
  

22   perform as the secretary/treasurer of the Drew County
  

23   Burial Association?
  

24   A    I schedule meeting, contact members, send out
  

25   letters, call members, contact, write letters, make
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 1   deposits, perform audits, do the audit report, gather
  

 2   the information for the audits, meet with the auditor,
  

 3   talk with Amy, provide any materials or information
  

 4   that's needed by whomever.
  

 5   Q    Has there --
  

 6   A    Excuse me.  I also write checks when someone has
  

 7   passed, pay out benefits.
  

 8   Q    And I want to move to the question of dissolution.
  

 9   You've been present throughout the time that Mr.
  

10   Caveness has just previously testified, correct?
  

11   A    Correct.
  

12   Q    And as it relates to the November 22nd, I believe
  

13   it was, 2011, Board meeting, were you present at that
  

14   meeting?
  

15   A    Yes.
  

16   Q    And at that meeting, was the vote whether or not to
  

17   recommend to the full body the plan of dissolution?
  

18   A    Yes.
  

19   Q    And did you concur?  Did you vote to recommend that
  

20   the burial association pass, or approve, the plan of
  

21   liquidation?
  

22   A    Yes.
  

23   Q    Prior to that meeting, did you send out notice to
  

24   the members?
  

25   A    Yes, sent out notices and put it in the newspaper.
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 1   Q    And is that required by law?
  

 2   A    Yes, to notify the members.
  

 3   Q    And that was for the January 17, 2012 --
  

 4   A    Right.
  

 5   Q    -- just to be clear, was the meeting for which you
  

 6   sent out the notice.
  

 7   A    Uh-huh.
  

 8   Q    And --
  

 9   A    I always try to contact -- I contact as many
  

10   members as I can to notify them about the meetings,
  

11   whether it's by phone call or talking directly to that
  

12   person, or putting it on the radio, sometimes; putting
  

13   it in the newspaper.
  

14   Q    So you use more than one avenue to provide notice
  

15   to the members of the meeting?
  

16   A    Yes.
  

17   Q    Does the state law require you to put it on the
  

18   radio?
  

19   A    I think it just require that I contact the members,
  

20   or the members be informed of the meetings.  I don't
  

21   think they say how.
  

22   Q    And do you attend -- have you attended each of the
  

23   meetings since you've been the secretary/treasurer?
  

24   A    Yes.
  

25   Q    And what has the average attendance been like
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 1   during that 12-year period?
  

 2   A    It's not been very high.  It's usually in the teens
  

 3   for the meetings.  But on the one that you keep
  

 4   referring to, I think there were 40 people rather than
  

 5   29 people that attended that meeting.  There was a
  

 6   second sheet to the sign-in.
  

 7   Q    So you had higher attendance when you sent out the
  

 8   notice that you were going to take a vote on the
  

 9   dissolution --
  

10   A    Right.
  

11   Q    -- than what is normal?
  

12   A    Right.
  

13   Q    What happens when you get that amount, or that
  

14   number of members to be present at the meeting?  How do
  

15   you constitute -- what constitutes a quorum in a meeting
  

16   like that?
  

17   A    I don't know.
  

18   Q    Is the secretary/treasurer authorized to vote for
  

19   the absent members, by proxy?
  

20   A    Yes.
  

21   Q    Did that, in fact, happen on January 17, 2012?  And
  

22   when I say "that", I'm meaning the members showed up
  

23   and, as the secretary/treasurer, you voted the remaining
  

24   members vote.  You cast a vote for the remaining members
  

25   in favor of the dissolution.
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 1   A    I voted in favor of the dissolution.  I didn't say
  

 2   for the other 200 members that this is -- that I voted
  

 3   for.  I didn't count a vote for the other 200 members.
  

 4   I just counted the votes of the members that were there.
  

 5   Q    But I guess the burial association provided notice
  

 6   to the meeting within the confines, or as prescribed by
  

 7   law?
  

 8   A    Yes.
  

 9   Q    And the vote -- was it a unanimous vote for the
  

10   dissolution?
  

11   A    Yes.
  

12   Q    And we've gone through a lot of the 2012 submitting
  

13   the plan of liquidation.  Do you recall the February 14,
  

14   2014, letter that was submitted to the Arkansas Burial
  

15   Association State Board?
  

16   A    I probably need to be refreshed.
  

17   Q    That letter, does that refresh your recollection?
  

18   A    Yes.
  

19   Q    And so you are aware that this letter went out to
  

20   the Board requesting approval for the plan of
  

21   liquidation?
  

22   A    Yes.
  

23   Q    Did the Board -- strike that.
  

24        I want to move that the Board subsequently declined
  

25   to accept -- or stated that the Board did not have the
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 1   statutory authority to approve or concur with a
  

 2   voluntary dissolution.  Do you recall that?
  

 3   A    Yes.
  

 4   Q    And we've discussed that from the June 7th Order I
  

 5   believe it is.
  

 6   A    Yes.
  

 7   Q    And do you recall any discussions that the board of
  

 8   directors would have had regarding what steps to take
  

 9   next, after the Board stated that it had no statutory
  

10   authority to approve or concur with a voluntary
  

11   dissolution?
  

12   A    Yes.  I know the board of directors, we got
  

13   together and we wondered what then would be the next
  

14   step, what should we do.  We talked about the voluntary
  

15   dissolution of the Board, that if the members wanted the
  

16   dissolution and the members had voted saying that they
  

17   did, we wondered what could we do.  We thought we needed
  

18   to give the State Board the opportunity, because it had
  

19   been said that other people would probably follow and
  

20   they needed some direction -- people would need
  

21   direction, that it would -- it was taking us longer to
  

22   get done what was being done, but it would help someone
  

23   else that come along.  So we decided to give the Board
  

24   some time to work it out.
  

25   Q    And did that happen?
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 1   A    No.
  

 2   Q    And when you say "work it out", what do you mean by
  

 3   that?
  

 4   A    To have meetings, to provide rules and provisions
  

 5   so that if there were other questions that came up, if
  

 6   some other association wanted to dissolve, then it would
  

 7   -- there would already be rules and provisions made for
  

 8   that.
  

 9   Q    So the board of directors for Drew County Burial
  

10   Association wasn't just contemplating what would happen
  

11   to the Drew County Burial Association?
  

12   A    No.  That was our first thought.  We wanted to work
  

13   forward to help our members, but we also realized that
  

14   there were other people in the same situation as our
  

15   members were in and, really, we thought we were being
  

16   helpful working with the Board here, the State Board.
  

17   Q    Did your efforts with the Board have an end result
  

18   of a rule being promulgated?
  

19   A    No.
  

20   Q    Now, you may have heard -- and I forget, I think it
  

21   was Mr. Berna that stated that the Board was waiting for
  

22   -- would adopt a rule with court approval.  Do you
  

23   recall that statement being made?
  

24   A    Yes.
  

25   Q    And to the best of your understanding, is that
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 1   required, court approval, for this Board to act?
  

 2                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object to the
  

 3             question.  She can't testify about --
  

 4                  HEARING OFFICER:  I will sustain the
  

 5             objection.
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  She can testify as to what her
  

 7             knowledge is about this Board's function.
  

 8                  HEARING OFFICER:  As it relates to the
  

 9             court system --
  

10                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, this Board's function.
  

11             All morning we've heard that this Board has the
  

12             exclusive authority, and this Board can do
  

13             this, and this Board can do that, and I'm just
  

14             asking her about what her understanding is.
  

15             I'm not asking her to give an expert opinion
  

16             about what the Board can do, but just a lay --
  

17             her lay opinion.  Because it goes to whether or
  

18             not -- and I guess it goes to the issue of
  

19             whether or not they believe what authority the
  

20             Board had, given the June 7, 2012, Order, and
  

21             also given Mr. Berna's statement.
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, do you
  

23             still --
  

24                  MS. HODGE:  I mean, I don't know how it's
  

25             relevant.  I mean, it's not relevant.  I want
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 1             Mr. Harris to restate.  I guess I don't
  

 2             understand what his position is.  It goes to
  

 3             show her knowledge of what the Board understood
  

 4             their authority to be?
  

 5                  MR. HARRIS:  No, what she understood the
  

 6             Board's authority to be.
  

 7                  MS. HODGE:  But she can't give testimony
  

 8             about what the Board's authority is.
  

 9                  MR. HARRIS:  And I think there's a little
  

10             bit of a distinction between what you're saying
  

11             and what I'm asking.
  

12                  MS. HODGE:  Yeah, maybe we're not on the
  

13             same page, and I apologize.
  

14                  MR. HARRIS:  That's okay.
  

15                  HEARING OFFICER:  Go ahead and state the
  

16             question and then we'll see what happens.
  

17   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  What is your understanding --
  

18   based on Mr. Berna's statement that the State Board was
  

19   waiting on court direction to craft a rule, what is your
  

20   understanding of this Board's authority to promulgate a
  

21   rule?
  

22   A    I thought the Board had said they didn't have the
  

23   authority to promulgate a rule.  I thought -- when I got
  

24   a letter it stated that the Board was unable to make a
  

25   decision, did not have the authority to do that, and
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 1   that's what I thought, they couldn't do it.
  

 2   Q    And I'll move on.  And with that in mind that it
  

 3   was your understanding that the Board had no authority
  

 4   to approve or concur, and now that we're waiting for the
  

 5   court --
  

 6                  MS. HODGE:  I'm going to object to that
  

 7             question because I don't think that's what the
  

 8             witness testified.  And I can't -- the witness
  

 9             can't testify that she acted some way in the
  

10             past based on Mr. Berna's question presented in
  

11             the hearing today, which is what I hear Mr.
  

12             Harris' question posing, that based on the
  

13             Board's decision to wait for court action,
  

14             which is only stated today by Mr. Berna to her,
  

15             that she decided in the past to take some
  

16             decision I think is a complete
  

17             mischaracterization of Mr. Berna's question and
  

18             the witness' testimony.
  

19                  HEARING OFFICER:  Can you get there, Mr.
  

20             Harris, without referencing the question today?
  

21                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, let me go back, because
  

22             Mr. Berna referenced a prior time where he made
  

23             the statement.
  

24                  MS. HODGE:  And was the witness aware of
  

25             that statement at the prior time?
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 1                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, that's what we're
  

 2             getting to.
  

 3                  MS. HODGE:  Well, she hasn't testified, so
  

 4             your question, based on your understanding, and
  

 5             then you started this --
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  Of the Board's authority.
  

 7                  MS. HODGE:  -- about the court --
  

 8                  HEARING OFFICER:  When you lay a foundation
  

 9             that she was even here to hear that statement
  

10             at a prior time from the Board of their
  

11             willingness to, work.
  

12                  MR. HARRIS:  I will.
  

13   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  You heard the question to Mr.
  

14   Caveness by Mr. Berna ask Mr. Caveness whether or not he
  

15   was aware that the Board had stated that they would be
  

16   willing to craft a rule with court direction.  Were you
  

17   aware -- well, you heard that statement.
  

18   A    I heard it.
  

19   Q    And you heard the question.
  

20   A    Uh-huh.
  

21   Q    Were you aware of that statement prior to today?
  

22   A    Was I aware of the statement that the Board --
  

23                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, would you
  

24             object to allowing Mr. Berna to state his
  

25             question?
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 1                  MR. HARRIS:  Not at all.
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  You would not object if
  

 3             he --
  

 4                  MR. HARRIS:  I would not object.
  

 5                  HEARING OFFICER:  Because I'm not 100
  

 6             percent sure that's how it was worded.
  

 7                  MR. HARRIS:  I would have no objection to
  

 8             Mr. Berna restating his --
  

 9                  MR. BERNA:  I'm not sure I can restate my
  

10             question.
  

11                  HEARING OFFICER:  Well, if you don't mind,
  

12             give it a shot.  And, Mr. Harris, if you feel
  

13             like it's not appropriate --
  

14                  MR. HARRIS:  I really can move on from this
  

15             question.
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  I'll leave that up to
  

17             you.  I think it's -- the question was asked of
  

18             Mr. Caveness and he said he wasn't at the
  

19             meeting, and I think now we've got a new
  

20             witness, and whether she was at the meeting or
  

21             not may be relevant.
  

22                  MS. HODGE:  And I think -- but the question
  

23             -- if she wasn't at the meeting --
  

24                  HEARING OFFICER:  If she wasn't at the
  

25             meeting --
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 1                  MS. HODGE:  -- then she's not aware.
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  -- then I don't think --
  

 3                  MR. HARRIS:  The question was, was he made
  

 4             aware.  That was the question.
  

 5                  HEARING OFFICER:  Right.
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  That was at least what I
  

 7             understood.
  

 8                  HEARING OFFICER:  Nor was he at the
  

 9             meeting.
  

10                  MR. HARRIS:  Right.  I understood he wasn't
  

11             at the meeting, but I understood the question
  

12             to be was he aware that the Board had made such
  

13             a statement.
  

14                  MR. BERNA:  I believe what I -- and don't
  

15             quote me on it, but I believe my question was,
  

16             were you made aware that the Board would
  

17             possibly entertain direction from -- after the
  

18             court, because at that point the court
  

19             proceeding was moving forward.  We, as a Board,
  

20             had determined that, according to our rules and
  

21             regs, we had no legal standing to approve it;
  

22             we could just say no because there's no ruling.
  

23             So I asked him, had he been made aware of the
  

24             Board's willingness to revisit this after court
  

25             intervention, and I believe his answer was no.
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 1                  HEARING OFFICER:  So Mr. Harris, I guess
  

 2             now we'll ask the current witness the same
  

 3             question.
  

 4   A    And what was your question?
  

 5   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Next question.  I'm going to move
  

 6   on.  I'm going to move on.  If she wasn't aware, and I
  

 7   don't believe she was, then I'll move on.
  

 8        Based on the June 7, 2012, Order, what was your
  

 9   understanding of this Board's authority as it relates to
  

10   approving or denying or prohibiting the Drew County
  

11   Burial Association from pursuing the voluntarily
  

12   dissolution?
  

13   A    I didn't think they could.  I didn't think that
  

14   they could deny or approve because there were no
  

15   provisions.
  

16   Q    Then what did you -- what served as the basis for
  

17   moving forward with the voluntary dissolution?
  

18   A    The members.  The members saying this is -- again,
  

19   over and over, this is what they want.  The voluntary
  

20   article for the -- that the Drew County Burial
  

21   Association had in its possession, because it hadn't --
  

22   no one had said, okay, you can go on and do it, so we
  

23   went on to do it.  No one said you couldn't do it, so we
  

24   did.
  

25   Q    I want to hand you a document that's Articles of
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 1   Association.  Is that the document that you relied on?
  

 2   A    Yes.
  

 3   Q    Now, you testified earlier that you had been
  

 4   secretary/treasurer for 12 years; is that correct?
  

 5   A    Yes, it's been almost 12 years.
  

 6   Q    Approximately 12 years.
  

 7   A    Right.
  

 8   Q    And had the -- now, Mr. Caveness testified that as
  

 9   early as 1997 there was discussion about the voluntary
  

10   dissolution.  Do you recall that?
  

11   A    I recall him testifying to that.
  

12   Q    Were you present during those discussions?
  

13   A    No, not in 1997.  No.
  

14   Q    In 1997, were you a member of the Drew County
  

15   Burial Association?
  

16   A    Yes.
  

17   Q    And that discussion never got to the members.
  

18   A    I didn't attend the meetings at that time.
  

19   Q    You weren't aware of it being discussed as early as
  

20   1997?
  

21   A    No.
  

22   Q    And in determining -- after the Board, in 2014,
  

23   declined to adopt a rule, Drew County Burial Association
  

24   moved forward with the voluntary dissolution, correct?
  

25   A    Correct.
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 1   Q    And what steps did you take in helping to
  

 2   effectuate the voluntary dissolution?
  

 3   A    I talked with members again, even during the
  

 4   meetings.  During the meetings and after meetings,
  

 5   members and I talked.  I took the CD's.  I went to the
  

 6   bank.  I liquified the funds, made sure that it was all
  

 7   in the account.
  

 8   Q    What type of account did you ultimately deposit
  

 9   those funds into once you liquidated the CD's?
  

10   A    The checking account.
  

11   Q    Is it permissible to hold funds in a checking
  

12   account?
  

13   A    Yes, it's permissible.
  

14   Q    What other steps did you take?
  

15   A    I wrote checks.  I wrote checks to the members,
  

16   mailed those checks out.
  

17   Q    Had you received any claims by any creditor from
  

18   the Drew County Burial Association?
  

19   A    No.
  

20   Q    And when I examined Mr. Caveness, that notice was
  

21   published.  You recall that, correct?
  

22   A    Right.
  

23   Q    You received no claims from any other creditor
  

24   stating that Drew County Burial Association owes them
  

25   money?

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



143

  
 1   A    No.
  

 2   Q    And on or about what date did you write checks?
  

 3   And you said you mailed the checks, correct?
  

 4   A    Correct.  I started actually writing, putting in
  

 5   the figures around the 14th, I think.  I started putting
  

 6   names on checks before then.  And on some of those it
  

 7   might even have an earlier date, but I didn't put in
  

 8   figures until about the 14th.
  

 9   Q    And when were they actually mailed to the members?
  

10   A    I think on the 16th, I think.
  

11   Q    I'm going to show you a document from the State's
  

12   Exhibit 1, and it's the letter to the members of the
  

13   Drew County Burial Association dated December 15th.  Are
  

14   you familiar with that letter?
  

15   A    Yes.
  

16   Q    And the question arose about the language that's in
  

17   bold print.  What was the purpose of that language?
  

18   A    To make sure that the members understood, because
  

19   -- to make sure that the members understood that there
  

20   might be a problem, and if there were a problem, to
  

21   address it before time, or during the time, or seeing
  

22   just where they would -- what would happen.  We weren't
  

23   afraid for any of the members because we had already
  

24   talked about all of this, what could happen, what might
  

25   happen.  So there wasn't -- we just wanted to make sure
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 1   that they understood that there could be some
  

 2   ramifications.
  

 3   Q    You said that there could be a problem.  What do
  

 4   you mean by that?
  

 5   A    For those who were in the nursing home -- and we do
  

 6   have a couple of -- did have a couple of members in the
  

 7   nursing home -- that there might be a problem with them
  

 8   staying in the nursing home or having to give up the
  

 9   funds for that -- to the nursing home for their care.
  

10   That there would be additional taxes added, because they
  

11   would be getting funds more than what they had paid in,
  

12   so they would be liable for the taxes on that.
  

13        I had been to meetings here where there was a lot
  

14   of discussion about those who were on social security,
  

15   receiving Medicare or Medicaid, that they might have
  

16   some problems with that, and we wanted the members to
  

17   understand that if you were receiving social security
  

18   that you might be cut off for a while, or they might
  

19   have some problems with the funds that you were getting.
  

20   But members understood that.
  

21        Members talked about that and they understood that
  

22   at a certain age that it didn't seem to matter about how
  

23   much they were receiving.  They understood that they
  

24   needed to report it.  And that's all we wanted to make
  

25   sure that the things were done in order, that they
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 1   report.
  

 2   Q    Now, are you an accountant by profession --
  

 3   A    No.
  

 4   Q    -- or practice?
  

 5   A    No.
  

 6   Q    And so was this intended for tax advice or legal
  

 7   advice of any kind?
  

 8   A    It wasn't intended for advice.  It was intended so
  

 9   that the members would be aware.  I wasn't trying to
  

10   say, look, you're going to be charged this and this and
  

11   that.  I couldn't tell them that, but I could say to be
  

12   aware, to warn, as I would anybody if I thought
  

13   something was coming up, to warn them.
  

14   Q    And were you aware of how any distribution would
  

15   impact any or all of the -- each of the members?
  

16   A    Was I aware?
  

17   Q    Were you aware of -- financially.  Were you aware
  

18   of their financials to the degree that you would know
  

19   the answer to how it would impact them or not impact
  

20   them?
  

21   A    No.
  

22   Q    And I think Mr. Gilchrest asked Mr. Caveness about,
  

23   how was the amount of the distribution determined.  Do
  

24   you recall that question?
  

25   A    Yes.
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 1   Q    And are you familiar with how the amount was
  

 2   determined?
  

 3   A    Yes.
  

 4   Q    Explain.
  

 5   A    It was determined by the amount of premium paid in
  

 6   times the number of premiums paid in, plus a pro rata
  

 7   share of the reserves.
  

 8   Q    So in other words, you gave the members back the
  

 9   dues that they had paid in?
  

10   A    Yes.
  

11   Q    And if I can understand this, then determined a pro
  

12   rata share of what was left?
  

13   A    Yes.
  

14   Q    And then made that -- that was the formula for
  

15   distribution?
  

16   A    (Witness shaking head up and down.)
  

17   Q    Is the secretary/treasurer authorized to refund
  

18   premiums or dues?
  

19   A    Yes, sir.  I think it's in the regulations there.
  

20   Q    And at the point that all of the members had been
  

21   refunded their dues or premiums, what happens to the
  

22   burial association?
  

23   A    There is no burial association.
  

24   Q    And so what happened with the rest of the money?
  

25   A    The rest of the money was given to the members.
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 1   The money belonged to the members, so we gave it to the
  

 2   members.  Members have asked us that, what are you going
  

 3   to do with our money, what's happening with our money,
  

 4   and all we ever said is, it's our money, it belongs to
  

 5   the members of the burial association, and those were
  

 6   the ones we're going to give it to.
  

 7   Q    Do you believe that that was a payment of benefit
  

 8   to the members?
  

 9   A    I don't -- it wasn't a payment for burial, but --
  

10   not a payment for burial.
  

11                  MS. HODGE:  What?  I couldn't hear you.
  

12   A    Not a payment for burial.
  

13                  MR. HARRIS:  I pass the witness.
  

14                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, any questions?
  

15                  MS. HODGE:  Just a few.
  

16                  EXAMINATION OF LINDA SHEPHERD
  

17   BY MS. HODGE:
  

18   Q    Ms. Shepherd, you testified that the norm for your
  

19   association meetings were in the teens; is that correct?
  

20   A    Usually.
  

21   Q    Out of 250 or 290 members; is that correct?
  

22   A    Yes.
  

23   Q    And that for the dissolution meeting there was 40
  

24   members present who decided to vote in favor of
  

25   dissolution?
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 1   A    Yes.
  

 2   Q    Did all 40 vote in favor of dissolution?
  

 3   A    I think it was 30 who voted in favor and I think 10
  

 4   did not vote one way or the other at that time.
  

 5   Q    And then did I understand your testimony to be that
  

 6   the other 240 people who weren't present just weren't
  

 7   given an opportunity to cast -- you didn't cast a vote
  

 8   for or against for those people?
  

 9   A    I didn't write a vote in, but I did talk to members
  

10   and --
  

11   Q    I'm just talking about those who weren't present at
  

12   the meeting.
  

13   A    I know.
  

14   Q    And you're saying you talked to people who were not
  

15   present at the meeting?
  

16   A    I did.
  

17   Q    All 240?
  

18   A    Did I talk to all 240?
  

19   Q    Or whatever.  If the figure is 290 at that time and
  

20   40 were there, there would have been 250 members.
  

21   A    I don't know if I talked to every person, but I
  

22   know at one time or another I had made an effort to talk
  

23   to every member of Drew County Burial Association about
  

24   the dissolution.
  

25   Q    I mean at the time the vote was cast.  You're
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 1   saying after you all already voted you made contact with
  

 2   these 250 people.
  

 3   A    And I did before the vote was cast, because I knew
  

 4   some of them could not be there.  Yes, ma'am.
  

 5   Q    So you were anticipating that you wouldn't have
  

 6   people that would be able to attend?
  

 7   A    Yes, we knew.  We have people who don't live in the
  

 8   State of Arkansas who are members of the burial
  

 9   association.
  

10   Q    But those persons weren't given an opportunity to
  

11   vote via proxy?
  

12   A    They weren't given?
  

13   Q    I'm asking, because you said those who were not in
  

14   attendance were not given a vote one way or the other.
  

15   A    I didn't say I'm voting this one for a sister in
  

16   Illinois.  But didn't anyone say to me they didn't want
  

17   it to happen.  I didn't vote for or against in their
  

18   name.
  

19   Q    And I hear your testimony to be that you talked to
  

20   all of these people before the vote on the dissolution.
  

21   Am I misunderstanding your testimony?
  

22   A    No, I don't know if I talked to -- I don't think I
  

23   talked to every member.  I didn't say I talked to every
  

24   member, but I --
  

25   Q    How many do you think you talked to before
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 1   dissolution?
  

 2   A    I don't know, Ms. Hodge.  I don't know how many.
  

 3   Q    Ten?  Twenty?  Fifty?
  

 4   A    A hundred.
  

 5   Q    A hundred?
  

 6   A    A hundred and twenty.
  

 7   Q    A hundred and twenty people prior to dissolution?
  

 8   A    Yes.
  

 9   Q    Not including the 40 who --
  

10   A    Prior to dissolution, yes, ma'am.
  

11   Q    But listen to my question.  Not including the 40
  

12   who attended the meeting, you talked to another 120
  

13   people?
  

14   A    Yes, ma'am.
  

15   Q    And those people did not get the opportunity to
  

16   vote via proxy?
  

17   A    They had the opportunity.  I just didn't do it as a
  

18   proxy.
  

19   Q    So they didn't vote, even though you're saying you
  

20   personally --
  

21   A    No.
  

22   Q    -- reached out to them?
  

23   A    No, they didn't vote.
  

24   Q    I understood your testimony to be, when Mr. Harris
  

25   was examining you, that you didn't -- at 2012, you
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 1   didn't believe, as secretary/treasurer, that you needed
  

 2   the Board's permission to dissolve the Drew County
  

 3   Burial Association; is that correct?
  

 4   A    I didn't think -- yes.
  

 5   Q    That's correct?
  

 6   A    Yes.
  

 7   Q    But that you voluntarily held off on dissolving for
  

 8   two and a half years, to the detriment of your members,
  

 9   so that you could be helpful to the Board; is that your
  

10   testimony?
  

11   A    Yes, ma'am, it is.
  

12   Q    In two and a half years, how many of your members
  

13   had passed away?
  

14   A    Too many.  I don't know exactly, but it's been too
  

15   many.
  

16   Q    More than 50?
  

17   A    No.
  

18   Q    More than that or less than that?
  

19   A    Less than that.
  

20   Q    Twenty-five?
  

21   A    Less than that.
  

22   Q    So in the two and a half years that you were being
  

23   helpful to the Board because you didn't believe they
  

24   needed their permission, would any of those 24 or less
  

25   people, did they stand to gain a greater benefit like
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 1   the ones who received checks this year?
  

 2   A    Yes.
  

 3   Q    If you believed that you didn't need the Board's
  

 4   permission to dissolve, wouldn't it have been to your
  

 5   members advantage -- because I understand your testimony
  

 6   to be that at all times you've been working for the
  

 7   benefit of your members.  Wouldn't it have been to the
  

 8   benefit of all your members, if you didn't believe you
  

 9   needed this Board's permission, to dissolve back in
  

10   2012?
  

11   A    Yes, ma'am, it would.
  

12   Q    So you acted -- if we believe -- if your testimony
  

13   is as it is, then you acted to the detriment of at least
  

14   those members who didn't receive a full payout by
  

15   waiting voluntarily on the Board if you didn't believe
  

16   you needed their permission.
  

17   A    It wasn't my -- only my decision.  It wasn't only
  

18   my decision to wait for the --
  

19   Q    But I'm talking about your decision, because your
  

20   testimony --
  

21   A    Yes, ma'am.
  

22   Q    -- has been what you believe --
  

23   A    Yes, ma'am.
  

24   Q    -- and Mr. Harris has asked you repeatedly what
  

25   authority you believe that the Board has --
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 1   A    Yes.
  

 2   Q    -- and your testimony has been, you didn't believe
  

 3   that they could permit or prohibit you from dissolving,
  

 4   and so I'm asking you, then you voluntarily waited two
  

 5   and a half years to the detriment of some of your
  

 6   members to dissolve --
  

 7   A    Yes.
  

 8   Q    -- if that's your testimony.
  

 9   A    That's my testimony.
  

10   Q    In 2012, in February, when the letter was submitted
  

11   to the Board, it's your position then that you could
  

12   have dissolved then, back in February 2012?
  

13   A    It's my position that we could have dissolved then?
  

14   Q    Yes.
  

15   A    Yes.
  

16   Q    But you didn't dissolve?
  

17   A    No.
  

18   Q    And instead, after -- let me ask you this.  In June
  

19   7, 2012, when the Board entered its Order saying it
  

20   would not approve the petition for dissolution, you
  

21   didn't dissolve at that time either.
  

22   A    No, ma'am.
  

23   Q    But your testimony today is that you thought you,
  

24   at all times, could dissolve; is that correct?
  

25   A    I thought we could.
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 1   Q    And even after the June 7, 2012, Order, instead of
  

 2   dissolving, were you aware the Board filed a declaratory
  

 3   judgment in Pulaski County Circuit Court?
  

 4   A    Yes.
  

 5   Q    And in that petition did you tell the court that
  

 6   you believed you had the authority to dissolve and that
  

 7   you wanted the court to intervene anyway?
  

 8   A    No.
  

 9   Q    So if you thought you had the authority to dissolve
  

10   back in 2012, why did you file the declaratory judgment
  

11   in Pulaski County Circuit Court?
  

12   A    I don't know.
  

13   Q    Doesn't that seem inconsistent?
  

14   A    Yes.
  

15   Q    So on the one hand you can't believe you have the
  

16   authority to do something and at the same time be asking
  

17   the court to give you that authority, wouldn't you agree
  

18   with me about that?
  

19   A    It seems that way.
  

20   Q    Were you aware that you -- let me scratch that.
  

21        I understood your earlier testimony to be that you
  

22   were working with the Board because you wanted to be
  

23   helpful to other associations who might follow Drew
  

24   County in dissolving; is that correct?
  

25   A    Yes, ma'am.
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 1   Q    And that you only sent these letters to the Board
  

 2   to give them notice; is that correct?
  

 3                  MR. HARRIS:  Objection.  I think that she's
  

 4             confusing Mr. Caveness' testimony.
  

 5   Q    (By Ms. Harris)  Why, then, did you send the
  

 6   petition and the plan for liquidation to the Board back
  

 7   in February of '12, if you didn't think you needed their
  

 8   permission?
  

 9   A    Well, the Board said that they needed this, right?
  

10   And I do want to work with -- did want to work with the
  

11   Board, still do, with whomever.  Because I wanted to
  

12   work with the Board.
  

13   Q    Following that testimony, did you call Ms. Goode,
  

14   the executive secretary, and tell her that you had
  

15   written 250 checks on or about December 13th, to
  

16   dissolve?
  

17   A    No, ma'am.
  

18   Q    And so if your testimony is you wanted to work with
  

19   the Board, why, then, would you not alert the Board as
  

20   early as December 13, 2014, that you had handwritten 250
  

21   checks to dissolve your association?
  

22   A    I don't know.
  

23   Q    And is it true that even to date you have not, as
  

24   the secretary/treasurer of the Drew County Burial
  

25   Association, contacted the Board formally to advise that
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 1   you dissolved?
  

 2   A    Is it true that I did not contact them?
  

 3   Q    Right.
  

 4   A    No, ma'am.  I am no longer the secretary/treasurer
  

 5   as of the 18th.
  

 6   Q    Right.  But you didn't call the Board to say, "I'm
  

 7   no longer the secretary/treasurer.  We have dissolved.
  

 8   I want to be helpful.  So you're aware that we're no
  

 9   longer in existence."
  

10   A    No, ma'am, I didn't do that, but the Board
  

11   contacted me the evening of the 18th.
  

12   Q    I know, but I'm asking about --
  

13   A    No, I didn't contact them.
  

14   Q    -- what you thought.
  

15   A    I didn't contact them.
  

16   Q    Your testimony is you, at all times, wanted to be
  

17   helpful, and that all members wanted to work with the
  

18   Board, and at all times you didn't think you needed to
  

19   Board's permission, and at all times you were keeping
  

20   them informed, but when you decided to dissolve you did
  

21   not contact the executive director to let her know you
  

22   had dissolved; is that correct?
  

23   A    That's correct.
  

24   Q    She had to contact you after she had heard that
  

25   people had received checks; is that correct?
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 1   A    That's correct.
  

 2   Q    Are you required to keep books as a
  

 3   secretary/treasurer?
  

 4   A    Yes.
  

 5   Q    Is the Drew County Burial Association required to
  

 6   be audited by Mr. Brooke?
  

 7   A    Yes.
  

 8   Q    And so wouldn't it stand to reason that if you're
  

 9   going to no longer be in existence, that you would then,
  

10   before that takes place, let the Board know so that they
  

11   know you're not going to maintain books or require
  

12   audits?
  

13   A    It would stand to reason.
  

14   Q    But you didn't do that?
  

15   A    No.
  

16   Q    I understood your earlier testimony to be that you
  

17   didn't think the Board could prohibit -- you didn't
  

18   think the Board had the authority to prohibit the Drew
  

19   County Burial Association from dissolving and that the
  

20   members were telling you over and over and over again
  

21   that they wanted to dissolve; is that correct?
  

22   A    Yes.
  

23   Q    Then why didn't you, at that time, dissolve the
  

24   Drew County Burial Association?
  

25   A    Same reason, we really were working with the Board.
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 1   Q    Despite what your members were requesting you to
  

 2   do?
  

 3   A    We were informing the members.  If you look at the
  

 4   minutes you'll see that we talked to the members about
  

 5   this.  They asked.  We were working with trying to get
  

 6   the wording correct so that, if this did happen, then
  

 7   you wouldn't come back saying you can't do it.  We were
  

 8   trying to get it all done correctly.
  

 9   Q    And you were in the room when I asked Mr. Caveness
  

10   about the July 2013 and July 2014 Drew County minutes.
  

11   A    Yes.
  

12   Q    And he says that you compiled the minutes; is that
  

13   correct?
  

14   A    That's correct.
  

15   Q    And you heard his testimony that as of July 2014,
  

16   your members made a motion to continue with court
  

17   action, and it was second and carried in the meeting.
  

18   Were you present at that meeting?
  

19   A    Yes.
  

20   Q    I didn't see anything in the meetings where the
  

21   members moved and second and that motion carried for you
  

22   guys to dissolve without approval of the court.  It's
  

23   not in the minutes, would you agree with that?
  

24   A    Yes.
  

25   Q    Do I understand your testimony to be that you, as
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 1   the secretary/treasurer, did not come up with the
  

 2   figures to write on the checks?
  

 3   A    Yes.
  

 4   Q    And so you don't know, sitting here today, whether
  

 5   or not the checks you actually wrote to the individual
  

 6   members represents an equitable distribution of any
  

 7   asset, do you?
  

 8   A    I do not understand what you said.
  

 9   Q    I'm a member of Drew County Burial Association and
  

10   you're going to dissolve, and you wrote a figure, say,
  

11   for me, Kat Hodge, in a check.  Do I understand your
  

12   testimony to be that the figure you wrote, say it was
  

13   $4,500, that you didn't actually calculate it?
  

14   A    I didn't calculate it.
  

15   Q    And so you don't know whether or not $4,500
  

16   represents the share of money I'm supposed to receive as
  

17   a member of the association?
  

18   A    I don't know because I didn't calculate, but I do
  

19   believe it to be accurate.
  

20   Q    But you didn't do any calculations?
  

21   A    I didn't calculate.
  

22   Q    And sitting here today, you don't know whether or
  

23   not the amount you wrote on the checks is an accurate
  

24   calculation?
  

25   A    No.
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 1   Q    And you're responsible for the books for the
  

 2   association; is that correct?
  

 3   A    I was.
  

 4   Q    I also understand your testimony to be that you
  

 5   liquidated the funds and compiled them all into a single
  

 6   checking account; is that correct?
  

 7   A    Correct.
  

 8   Q    And so that would mean that you liquidated funds
  

 9   from the mortuary fund; is that correct?
  

10   A    All of the funds of the Drew County Burial
  

11   Association that was not in the checking account was all
  

12   put into the checking account under one -- in one thing.
  

13   I didn't ever have anything separated saying this is one
  

14   fund and this is another fund.  It was all one fund.
  

15   Q    Are you a member of the Drew County Burial
  

16   Association?
  

17   A    Yes.
  

18   Q    And did you receive a check?
  

19   A    Yes.
  

20   Q    Did you receive more than one check?
  

21   A    Yes.
  

22   Q    What were the amounts of the checks you received as
  

23   a member?
  

24   A    As a member?  Twenty thousand and something.
  

25   Q    And did you cash your check?
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 1   A    No.
  

 2   Q    What was the amount of the other check that you
  

 3   received?
  

 4   A    Thirteen thousand.
  

 5   Q    And you received that amount for what?
  

 6   A    For the work I done.
  

 7   Q    Do you normally receive payment for work as a
  

 8   secretary/treasurer?
  

 9   A    Yes.
  

10   Q    In the past, how much have you received for payment
  

11   as secretary/treasurer?
  

12   A    It depend on the amount.  That would be the 25
  

13   percent.
  

14   Q    Did you calculate to determine whether or not the
  

15   amount you received -- you or anyone else received for
  

16   work done for the association exceeded 25 percent?
  

17   A    No, I didn't calculate.
  

18   Q    So sitting here today, you don't know whether or
  

19   not you paid out more than 25 percent in fees?
  

20   A    No, ma'am, I don't.
  

21   Q    Let me, just for the record, get you to look at
  

22   State's Exhibit 1.  We talked at length about Pages 16
  

23   through 39, and I just want you to verify for me whether
  

24   or not these checks that are present in the record are
  

25   checks that you wrote as secretary/treasurer.
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 1   A    If they had a what?
  

 2   Q    Checks that you wrote as secretary/treasurer, Pages
  

 3   16 through --
  

 4   A    They are.
  

 5   Q    -- actually, it's going to start on Page 18,
  

 6   because we're using the superscript number.  There's a
  

 7   summary on Page 18.  Eighteen through nineteen are the
  

 8   summary of the little checks, and then the individual
  

 9   checks I think appear at Page 21.  This is your
  

10   signature on these checks?
  

11   A    Yes.
  

12   Q    You signed all of the checks as
  

13   secretary/treasurer?
  

14   A    I did.
  

15   Q    When you became a member of the Drew County Burial
  

16   Association -- I asked these questions of Mr. Caveness
  

17   and I'll ask them of you -- what amount of a benefit did
  

18   you believe you were going to receive?
  

19   A    Five hundred dollars.
  

20   Q    And the benefit that the rules and the statutes
  

21   refer to in terms of payments out of the mortuary fund,
  

22   you understood that to be the $500 benefit you would
  

23   receive as a member; is that correct?
  

24   A    Correct.
  

25   Q    Mr. Harris asked you whether or not the statutes
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 1   permit you to pay back premiums paid in and you said
  

 2   yes.  Under what circumstances are you allowed to give a
  

 3   member back their premiums?
  

 4   A    I don't remember what it is -- where it is in
  

 5   there.  Is it Article 31?
  

 6   Q    I'm just asking you your understanding.  You said
  

 7   you were authorized to give back the member their
  

 8   premiums and I'm asking you under what circumstances do
  

 9   you believe you can refund premiums.
  

10   A    And your question again is?
  

11   Q    Under what circumstances can you refund premiums
  

12   under the Board's rule?
  

13   A    I think it says deemed advisable to refund a
  

14   member, so I thought it was advisable to refund the
  

15   members their premium.
  

16   Q    Refund a member any sum of money claimed due by
  

17   such member, which would be the amount of the policy,
  

18   which would be $500, if we're using you as an example,
  

19   correct?
  

20   A    I'm sorry, I didn't hear all that.  I'm sorry.
  

21   Q    The benefit that you're entitled to as a member --
  

22   let's use you as an example -- is $500, correct?
  

23   A    Okay.
  

24   Q    Do you agree with me?
  

25   A    Yes.
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 1   Q    And so the refund that you would be giving them
  

 2   back would be considered a benefit paid, which would be,
  

 3   in your case, $500; is that correct?
  

 4   A    Not if it's the dues that -- the premium that they
  

 5   had paid in.
  

 6   Q    I'm asking you where -- this rule doesn't say about
  

 7   premiums paid in, it says the benefit, and we've
  

 8   established that, using you as an example, the benefit
  

 9   that you're entitled to would be the $500.  So my
  

10   question was, where in the rules do you have the
  

11   authority as secretary/treasurer to refund premiums paid
  

12   in, and you cited to Rule 31.  It's not there.
  

13   A    It's not there?
  

14   Q    No.
  

15   A    Explain this to me then.
  

16   Q    I'm asking you to explain it to me.  I read it as a
  

17   benefit paid.  Any money claimed due --
  

18                  MR. HARRIS:  She's asked and answered.  I'm
  

19             going to have to object at this point.  She's
  

20             not giving the answer she wants, but she's
  

21             answered the question.
  

22                  MS. HODGE:  I don't think she has.
  

23   A    Well, I don't know the answer.
  

24                  HEARING OFFICER:  I think she has now.
  

25   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  If you're saying you don't know,
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 1   then you don't know.
  

 2   A    I don't know the answer.
  

 3                  HEARING OFFICER:  We'll take that as the
  

 4             answer.
  

 5   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  Let me show you what I think I'm
  

 6   going to mark as State's Exhibit 4.  You testified
  

 7   earlier that you began writing out checks on or about
  

 8   December, I think you said, 13, 2014.
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, I need to
  

10             clarify.  Mr. Harris, have you had an
  

11             opportunity to review that exhibit?
  

12                  MR. HARRIS:  I have.
  

13                  MS. HODGE:  It came from Mr. Harris.
  

14                  MR. HARRIS:  I actually provided it.
  

15                  HEARING OFFICER:  Do you have any objection
  

16             to it being admitted as State's Exhibit 4?
  

17                  MR. HARRIS:  No.
  

18                  MS. HODGE:  If we don't have any objection,
  

19             we'll just go ahead and mark it.
  

20                  (WHEREUPON, Exhibit Number 4 was marked for
  

21             identification and is attached hereto.)
  

22   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  And just for the record, I'm show
  

23   you -- and I don't know how many pages this is.  It
  

24   looks like at the top there's a fax that goes from Page
  

25   46 to Page 67.  Are these the check stubs relating to
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 1   all the checks you wrote as secretary/treasurer in
  

 2   dissolving Drew County Burial Association?
  

 3   A    Starting with this one?
  

 4   Q    Uh-huh.
  

 5   A    Yes.
  

 6   Q    And you're pointing to 2371, at the bottom right-
  

 7   hand corner.
  

 8   A    Yes.
  

 9   Q    I'll come back to this.  Let me have you look at
  

10   State's Exhibit 1, Page 14, and it's a December 15,
  

11   2014, letter from Mr. Caveness to the membership.  You
  

12   gave some testimony earlier that you -- regarding this
  

13   section in the letter about advising members -- or
  

14   informing members about problems they might have as a
  

15   result of the dissolution and receiving the payment.
  

16   A    Yes.
  

17   Q    And I thought I understood your testimony to be
  

18   that at the time of dissolution you were personally
  

19   aware that at least two of your members resided in
  

20   nursing homes; is that correct?
  

21   A    That is.  Yes.
  

22   Q    And so you were aware then that, if they received
  

23   this large amount of money, it might keep them from
  

24   continuing to reside in the nursing home?
  

25   A    No, it might -- not keep them from residing, and it
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 1   could have, it might have an adverse effect.
  

 2   Q    That was my question.  And I think I heard you
  

 3   testify that you knew from attending this Board's
  

 4   meeting that members might have their benefits cut off;
  

 5   is that correct?
  

 6   A    Yes.
  

 7   Q    So at the time you wrote the checks and agreed with
  

 8   the dissolution, you knew that there might be a
  

 9   detrimental effect to some of your membership?
  

10   A    Yes.  But I also had talked to members about that.
  

11   Q    The members who were going to be cut off from
  

12   Medicaid and Medicare?
  

13   A    I had talked to some members about that, that that
  

14   could happen.  I had already talked with some of them
  

15   about that.
  

16   Q    All of them?
  

17   A    No, some members.
  

18   Q    I'm going to just review my notes.  And just for
  

19   the record, all of the checks that you wrote went to the
  

20   members, correct?  They weren't for investment purposes;
  

21   is that correct?
  

22   A    That's correct.
  

23   Q    And some of the funds went to pay other folks for
  

24   services to the Board; is that correct?
  

25   A    Correct.
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 1   Q    You, for example?
  

 2   A    Yes.
  

 3   Q    And then we heard testimony that Mr. Michael Jones
  

 4   received a distribution for work done.
  

 5   A    Yes.
  

 6   Q    Is he a member of the Board?
  

 7   A    No.
  

 8   Q    Did any other persons other than yourself or Mr.
  

 9   Jones receive a distribution of money for work done --
  

10   A    Yes.
  

11   Q    -- in the dissolution?  Who were those persons?
  

12   A    There was one other person, Ms. Robiezine Owens.
  

13   Q    Say that name again.
  

14   A    Robiezine Owens.
  

15   Q    Do you know how to spell that, just for the record
  

16   -- for the court reporter?
  

17   A    R-O-B-I-E-Z-I-N-E.
  

18   Q    Her last name is?
  

19   A    Owens.
  

20   Q    And what did she receive payment for?
  

21   A    For administrative work, also.
  

22   Q    I mean -- I know that, but specifically, what did
  

23   she do?
  

24   A    Talk with members, help with calling members.
  

25   Q    And what specifically did Mr. Jones do?
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 1   A    He's our certified accountant.
  

 2   Q    So he's an accountant?
  

 3   A    Uh-huh.
  

 4                  MS. HODGE:  That's all the questions I
  

 5             have.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, any redirect?
  

 7                  MR. HARRIS:  Yes.  Thank you.
  

 8              FURTHER EXAMINATION OF LINDA SHEPHERD
  

 9   BY MR. HARRIS:
  

10   Q    The notice that you sent prior to the January 17,
  

11   2012, meeting, do you recall the information -- you said
  

12   you provided notice to the members of that meeting for
  

13   the dissolution.
  

14   A    Yes, I did.
  

15   Q    Was a proxy form included in the notice?
  

16   A    No.
  

17   Q    Was a document indicating what the meeting would be
  

18   about included in that notice?
  

19   A    I think so, but I don't remember the notice
  

20   exactly.
  

21   Q    Were each of the members afforded an opportunity to
  

22   vote for or against the dissolution?
  

23   A    Each of the members that attended the meeting, yes.
  

24   Q    But did notice -- when I say were they afforded an
  

25   opportunity, did you send notice to all of the members?

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



170

  
 1   A    Yes.
  

 2   Q    And so in the notice, then, they were afforded the
  

 3   opportunity to vote; is that correct?
  

 4                  MS. HODGE:  I object to the
  

 5             characterization of the question.  She has
  

 6             testified there was no proxy given, that they
  

 7             were given notice, which is not the same thing
  

 8             as afforded the opportunity to vote.
  

 9                  MR. HARRIS:  But if you were given notice
  

10             of the meeting --
  

11                  MS. HODGE:  I understand what you're -- I
  

12             understand, but your question -- I object to
  

13             the form of the question.
  

14                  MR. HARRIS:  So what's the objection, then
  

15             maybe I can rephrase the question.
  

16                  MS. HODGE:  I object to the form.  The
  

17             question is, was everybody given --
  

18                  MR. HARRIS:  An opportunity.
  

19                  MS. HODGE:  -- an opportunity to vote.
  

20                  MR. HARRIS:  Right.
  

21                  MS. HODGE:  And I think the witness has
  

22             testified that no proxy forms were mailed for
  

23             voting, but that she gave notice of the
  

24             meeting, which is not the same thing as saying
  

25             they were given an opportunity to vote.  It
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 1             just makes it look like, when they got the
  

 2             notice they were given the opportunity to vote.
  

 3             And to the extent she says no proxy form was
  

 4             there, then they were not given the opportunity
  

 5             to vote just by virtue of receiving the notice.
  

 6             Do you understand what I'm saying?
  

 7   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  So when you published the notice
  

 8   in the newspaper, how did you put a proxy in that?
  

 9   Because that's all that's required by the State.
  

10   A    I didn't put a proxy in it.  I couldn't put a proxy
  

11   in it, in the notice in the newspaper.
  

12   Q    But that's how you notified the members of the
  

13   burial association.
  

14   A    Yes.
  

15   Q    That's one of the methods you use as notification
  

16   for the burial association members; is that correct?
  

17   A    Correct.
  

18   Q    And when you give that notice, you give them an
  

19   opportunity to appear and cast a vote, do you not?
  

20   A    Yes.
  

21   Q    Thank you.  Now, there was a question asked by
  

22   Counsel about the members who had passed in the interim
  

23   here, from the time that the members approved the
  

24   dissolution until action was taken to effectuate the
  

25   dissolution.  Do you recall those questions?
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 1   A    Yes.
  

 2   Q    Did any of the members who died prior to you
  

 3   effectuating or attempting to effectuate a dissolution,
  

 4   did they get the benefit of their membership
  

 5   certificate?
  

 6   A    Yes.
  

 7   Q    And so were they denied any benefit that was due to
  

 8   them?
  

 9   A    No.
  

10   Q    They weren't?
  

11   A    No.
  

12   Q    There was also a question about what was included
  

13   in a court pleading filed, a petition for declaratory
  

14   judgment filed with the Pulaski County Circuit Court.
  

15   Do you recall that?
  

16   A    Yes.
  

17   Q    Are you the only person required to consent to an
  

18   action being taken by the Drew County Burial
  

19   Association?
  

20   A    I don't know.  I don't know what you just said.
  

21   Q    Let me ask it a different way.  How does the Drew
  

22   County Burial Association, the board of directors, take
  

23   action?
  

24   A    By a membership vote.
  

25   Q    And I want to -- so as a part of the plan of
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 1   dissolution, which was approved by the members,
  

 2   beginning in Paragraph 2, I want you to read the first
  

 3   three sentences.
  

 4                  HEARING OFFICER:  And this is Respondents'
  

 5             Exhibit 1.
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  Thank you.
  

 7                  MS. HODGE:  Which document, just for the
  

 8             record?
  

 9                  MR. HARRIS:  The plan of liquidation.
  

10   A    Paragraph 2, the first three sentences?
  

11   Q    (By Mr. Harris)  Uh-huh.
  

12   A    The board of directors shall sit as a liquidating
  

13   committee and is hereby authorized, directed and
  

14   empowered to do all things necessary to completely wind
  

15   up the active conduct of the Association's business and
  

16   liquidate and distribute all of its assets in complete
  

17   liquidation.  This liquidating committee is empowered to
  

18   hire employees or agents of the Association to implement
  

19   the plan and to pay such salaries as the committee deems
  

20   reasonable.
  

21        The liquidating committee is further empowered to
  

22   dispose of the assets or the properties of the
  

23   Association within a reasonable period of time for such
  

24   prices and on such terms and conditions and under such
  

25   provisions as it deems advisable and in the best
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 1   interest of the Association and its members, and to
  

 2   notify all potential claimants of the Association's of
  

 3   the liquidation and dissolution; review all claims
  

 4   against the Association; satisfy and pay all of the
  

 5   Association's rightful obligations; set aside and retain
  

 6   for such period as is deemed necessary a reserve
  

 7   sufficient to meet any contingent liabilities; and
  

 8   distribute the remaining assets to the members as their
  

 9   interest may appear, and otherwise perform any act
  

10   necessary to dissolve or otherwise bring about a
  

11   complete and full liquidation of the Association and its
  

12   affairs.
  

13   Q    So you can hire accountants, could you not?
  

14   A    Yes, sir, I thought so.
  

15   Q    And it did not require that you understood
  

16   everything that the accountant provided; is that
  

17   correct?
  

18   A    I didn't think it did.  That's correct.
  

19   Q    You could also hire, then, as a liquidating
  

20   committee, attorneys?
  

21   A    Yes, sir.
  

22   Q    And they could, in fact, help to advise and take
  

23   action to effectuate this plan of liquidation, which was
  

24   approved by the Board; is that correct?
  

25   A    Correct.
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 1   Q    And does that require any further -- did the plan
  

 2   of liquidation require any further action by the
  

 3   members?  What you just read didn't require any further
  

 4   consent from the members.  Once the members did it, then
  

 5   the liquidating committee was authorized to do whatever
  

 6   was necessary to effectuate the dissolution.
  

 7   A    That's how I understood it.
  

 8   Q    Did the board of directors come to the conclusion
  

 9   at some point even after the June 7, 2012, Order where
  

10   the State Board said that it did not have the authority
  

11   to approve or concur, did not the Board of Drew County
  

12   Burial Association find it advisable to still try to
  

13   work with the Board to come up with a rule?
  

14   A    Yes, sir.
  

15   Q    And that would be consistent with the plan of
  

16   liquidation, is it not?
  

17   A    Yes, sir.
  

18   Q    Were any of the members of the association, during
  

19   that period of time, denied any benefit that they claim?
  

20   A    No.
  

21   Q    So for every claim or every request for payment of
  

22   benefit from 2012 up until December of 2014, the Drew
  

23   County Burial Association made those claims; is that
  

24   correct?
  

25   A    Correct.
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 1   Q    I want to go to this Rule 31, refund of dues, and
  

 2   we view premiums and dues interchangeably here.  Is it
  

 3   your understanding that payment of premium and payment
  

 4   of dues is one and the same?
  

 5   A    Yes.
  

 6   Q    And in fact, either by rule or by statute, that is
  

 7   noted?
  

 8   A    Yes.
  

 9   Q    I read the refund of dues, Rules 31, to say any sum
  

10   of money claimed due.  Do you read that paragraph to say
  

11   any sum claimed due by the member?
  

12   A    Yes.
  

13   Q    Also, the beginning of that section says that the
  

14   secretary/treasurer has some discretion; is that not
  

15   correct?
  

16   A    Yes, sir.
  

17   Q    In determining what that amount should be; is that
  

18   correct?
  

19   A    That's correct.
  

20   Q    Does this provision limit the refund of dues to the
  

21   face amount of the membership certificate?
  

22   A    It does not.  It doesn't say that.
  

23   Q    Were you the only member of the liquidating
  

24   committee?
  

25   A    No.
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 1   Q    Who were the other members of the liquidating
  

 2   committee?
  

 3   A    The Board members.
  

 4   Q    And so despite what you thought personally, you
  

 5   still had to take whatever action that the Board voted
  

 6   as a whole, did you not?
  

 7   A    Correct.
  

 8   Q    Now, I heard testimony or a question from Counsel
  

 9   stating that your desire to work with this Board for a
  

10   period of time resulted in a detriment to the members of
  

11   the Drew County Burial Association.  Do you recall that?
  

12   A    Yes.
  

13   Q    In your opinion, was working with the Board to
  

14   attempt to resolve the issue of not having a rule or a
  

15   regulation in place for a voluntary dissolution, did
  

16   that work a detriment to the members of the Drew County
  

17   Burial Association?
  

18   A    I don't think so.
  

19   Q    Could you explain why you don't think it was.
  

20   A    I don't think so because as the -- members did die,
  

21   and as those members died, they were still getting the
  

22   claim that -- as Counsel stated, when you get a
  

23   certificate, then your claim is for that amount of the
  

24   certificate.  They were -- the beneficiary was paid that
  

25   amount.  I realize that we were working to get more for
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 1   the members, because we knew the amount on the policies
  

 2   was not enough to bury anybody.
  

 3        We have members who have policies from $100 to
  

 4   $2,500.  That's not enough to bury anyone.  And yet we
  

 5   were trying to get more money for the members so that
  

 6   when someone does die, they're not in a hardship, as
  

 7   some of our members have been.  The family is not put at
  

 8   a hardship to pay for that burial.  The family is doing
  

 9   -- is struggling.  We have family members who have
  

10   worked to pay $.75 for a $500 policy that doesn't do
  

11   anything at the time of death, but let the family down,
  

12   to let them know that it still doesn't work, it's not
  

13   enough, it doesn't cover it.
  

14        So we were trying to get policies and provisions
  

15   established so that when this came up, when someone
  

16   died, when the burial association dissolved, the
  

17   families would be given more money -- more of their own
  

18   money, money that was already put in, so that when that
  

19   person -- when the person who had the coverage died, the
  

20   family would not be, in some cases, asking people in the
  

21   community to please help.  We were working to try to get
  

22   this established so that when other burial associations
  

23   even came along and they wanted to resolve, they didn't
  

24   go through all of this.
  

25        At one of the meetings that I attended, it was
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 1   stated that it should only take 90 days for dissolution,
  

 2   and we have continued to work.  Yes, I know some of our
  

 3   members didn't get the extended pay, the extended money,
  

 4   the extended amount of the money that they had put in,
  

 5   and the interest that was earned, but it was in hopes of
  

 6   helping our members and other members who were coming on
  

 7   behind us.  And yes, I agree, I believe other
  

 8   associations will want to dissolve, but I think that's a
  

 9   decision for those members.
  

10        Even the ones here, this hearing Board -- I am a
  

11   senior.  I am one of the ones who's on social security.
  

12   I am one who's receiving other benefits.  This is for me
  

13   as well as for everybody else.  It wasn't just something
  

14   that's thrown out saying this is a warning, y'all look
  

15   out, we're doing something here that's going to hurt
  

16   you.  We weren't ever trying to hurt anybody.  We've
  

17   been trying to help people all along, all while this is
  

18   being done.  That's been our goal.  Whether it was your
  

19   association, your Board or our Board or Boards coming
  

20   along behind us.
  

21        We weren't doing anything to try to hold back.  We
  

22   were not trying to put up any detriments for any of our
  

23   -- trying to hurt my members is hurting my family.  It's
  

24   hurting my friends.  It's hurting people that I grew up
  

25   with.  It's hurting my grandparents who are gone, who
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 1   paid money into this association.  I'm not trying to
  

 2   take anything away from anybody.
  

 3        For those that died before it came into fruition,
  

 4   before we said okay, we're working with faith and hopes
  

 5   that the Arkansas State Burial Board would do what we
  

 6   hoped they would do, we're working with faith to try to
  

 7   get it done, but it didn't happen.  So on December the
  

 8   1st or so, we decided then to go on and start writing
  

 9   the checks and to give the members the money.  And for
  

10   those that wanted to buy additional insurance, that was
  

11   up to them.  For those that's trying to pay off a burial
  

12   that's already been done, that was up to them.  But that
  

13   was our idea, that was our goal, and that's all we were
  

14   trying to do.
  

15   Q    But it never worked a detriment to your members
  

16   because they still got the benefit of the bargain, so to
  

17   speak.
  

18   A    Yes.
  

19   Q    They got the face amount of the policies that they
  

20   had.
  

21   A    Yes.
  

22                  MR. HARRIS:  I pass the witness.
  

23                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, any recross?
  

24                  MS. HODGE:  I have maybe two questions.
  

25              FURTHER EXAMINATION OF LINDA SHEPHERD
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 1   BY MS. HODGE:
  

 2   Q    Ms. Shepherd, Mr. Harris just asked you whether or
  

 3   not you were the only person that moved or agreed with
  

 4   the dissolution, and I think your testimony was no.  And
  

 5   I think I heard you say --
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  Actually, I asked her was she
  

 7             the only one authorized.
  

 8                  MS. HODGE:  Authorized.  Thank you.
  

 9   Q    (By Ms. Hodge)  And your answer was no.  And I
  

10   think Mr. Harris asked you then, did you not basically
  

11   have a choice in issuing the checks once the dissolution
  

12   had been authorized.  Did I get that right?  And I
  

13   thought your testimony was no.
  

14   A    Did I have a choice?
  

15   Q    You had no choice.
  

16   A    Did I have a choice to issue the checks?
  

17   Q    Yes.
  

18   A    I don't think I did.
  

19   Q    So if the Board voted to write all one million
  

20   dollars -- to give all one million dollars to me, you
  

21   would have written that check?
  

22   A    No.
  

23   Q    So you did have a choice?
  

24   A    A choice in the amount to write?
  

25   Q    A choice in writing -- you said you didn't have a
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 1   choice to write the checks.
  

 2   A    I'm not understanding you, Ms. Hodge.
  

 3   Q    I'm following up on your testimony that your
  

 4   attorney asked you.
  

 5   A    But your question is, did I have a choice in
  

 6   writing?
  

 7   Q    Yes.
  

 8   A    In writing one check for one person for a million
  

 9   dollars?
  

10   Q    Did you have a choice in writing the checks that
  

11   you wrote December of 2014?
  

12   A    No, I don't think I had a choice.
  

13   Q    And you're saying you don't think you had a choice
  

14   because anytime the Board votes to authorize a payment
  

15   of amount of money, you have to automatically write the
  

16   check; is that correct, if you don't have a choice?
  

17   A    No.  I think it depends on what the check is for.
  

18   I think that the illustration you used earlier about the
  

19   landscaping and whatever, no.  These checks were being
  

20   written to members.  I wouldn't have written a check to
  

21   you because you wanted a check.  If the Board said write
  

22   a check to Ms. Hodge, no --
  

23   Q    You wouldn't have done that?
  

24   A    -- I would not have done that.
  

25   Q    So you have a choice?
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 1   A    So I have a choice in to whom I write the checks?
  

 2   Q    Yes.
  

 3   A    Yes.
  

 4   Q    How many members wrote to you as the
  

 5   secretary/treasurer and asked for a refund of any
  

 6   premiums paid or any benefit due?
  

 7   A    Nobody.
  

 8                  MS. HODGE:  That's all I have.
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, pretty
  

10             quickly.
  

11              FURTHER EXAMINATION OF LINDA SHEPHERD
  

12   BY MR. HARRIS:
  

13   Q    Did you consider the vote for dissolution be
  

14   request for a refund of their premiums?
  

15   A    Yes.
  

16   Q    And did you write a check for one million dollars?
  

17   A    No.
  

18   Q    Were you tempted to write a check for one million
  

19   dollars?
  

20   A    No.
  

21   Q    Did the burial association -- after the members
  

22   approved the dissolution, did the burial association
  

23   continue to have expenses?
  

24   A    Yes.
  

25   Q    And did the burial association continue to operate
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 1   within Arkansas law regarding those expenses?
  

 2   A    Yes.
  

 3   Q    Did the burial association Board consider the
  

 4   winding up for the dissolution purposes, did they
  

 5   consider that an expense of operating the burial
  

 6   association?
  

 7   A    Yes.
  

 8                  MR. HARRIS:  No further questions.
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Members of the Board, any
  

10             questions of this witness, Ms. Shepherd.
  

11                  MR. BALLARD:  I have just a couple.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Ballard.
  

13                  MR. BALLARD:  We were talking about the
  

14             benefits and whether the members are entitled
  

15             to the surplus, and it does specify what the
  

16             surplus is to be used for.  But you started
  

17             writing the checks on the 14th and the 16th.
  

18             Do you remember if there was any benefits
  

19             rendered to any member before that date, close
  

20             to that date, that they just received their,
  

21             say, $100, $200, $300, $400 or $500?
  

22                  THE WITNESS:  There was one in October.
  

23                  MR. BALLARD:  Did you have any objections
  

24             to that, saying, why didn't y'all go ahead and
  

25             do this in October because somebody's got some
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 1             additional money?
  

 2                  THE WITNESS:  No, sir.
  

 3                  MR. BALLARD:  You were talking about some
  

 4             of these benefits for help paid for maybe
  

 5             balances owed to existing services, and that
  

 6             this would help in the future.  But do we know
  

 7             that all of the people that received this money
  

 8             actually have it in some type of funeral
  

 9             benefit to be paid to a funeral home?
  

10                  THE WITNESS:  No, sir, we don't know that.
  

11                  MR. BALLARD:  So some of this money could
  

12             already be spent?
  

13                  THE WITNESS:  It could be.
  

14                  MR. BALLARD:  That's all.
  

15                  HEARING OFFICER:  Any additional questions?
  

16                  MR. BERNA:  You spoke that you received a
  

17             check for roughly $20,000.
  

18                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

19                  MR. BERNA:  And that was for benefits?
  

20                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

21                  MR. BERNA:  Were you the only person on
  

22             your policy?
  

23                  THE WITNESS:  No.
  

24                  MR. BERNA:  How many folks were on your
  

25             policy?

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



186

  
 1                  THE WITNESS:  Six.
  

 2                  MR. BERNA:  Were those other five people on
  

 3             your policy, do they receive any type of
  

 4             benefit?
  

 5                  THE WITNESS:  Will they receive any?  Yes.
  

 6                  MR. BERNA:  And would that have to come
  

 7             from you -- voluntarily from you?
  

 8                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

 9                  MR. BERNA:  So even though they were on
  

10             that policy, they did not receive any type of
  

11             compensation directly from that account?
  

12                  THE WITNESS:  They haven't yet.  I haven't
  

13             been able to cash the check.
  

14                  MR. BERNA:  No, my question is, the people
  

15             that were on the policy, was the check cut from
  

16             the account cut directly to you --
  

17                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

18                  MR. BERNA:  -- and then it's up to you to
  

19             voluntarily give them their pro rata share?
  

20                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

21                  MR. BERNA:  And if you chose not to do
  

22             that, there's nothing they could do to you?
  

23                  THE WITNESS:  Are you asking me if
  

24             there's --
  

25                  MR. BERNA:  Yes, I'm asking you.

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



187

  
 1                  THE WITNESS:  As far as I know, no.
  

 2                  MR. BERNA:  And then you said that you got
  

 3             a check for $13,000, is that right, for your
  

 4             administrative?
  

 5                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

 6                  MR. BERNA:  How was that calculated?
  

 7                  THE WITNESS:  I don't know how.  The Board
  

 8             members decided that's what they would pay me
  

 9             and that's what I wrote the check for.
  

10                  MR. BERNA:  And Ms. Owens also got a check?
  

11             Is that her last name?
  

12                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  

13                  MR. BERNA:  And how much -- do you recall
  

14             what her check was for?
  

15                  THE WITNESS:  Two thousand.
  

16                  MR. BERNA:  And was it your understanding
  

17             that the Board was waiting court direction,
  

18             that's the reason the lawsuit was going
  

19             forward?  Was it your understanding that once
  

20             that judgment was entered that we would have
  

21             direction on what to do?
  

22                  MR. HARRIS:  I'm going to object to the
  

23             form of the question.  The Board took no vote
  

24             on what Mr. Berna is suggesting.  I think that
  

25             was mentioned by an individual Board member,
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 1             but there was no vote by the Board stating that
  

 2             should -- after they approved or disapproved or
  

 3             -- this was at the time that they declined to
  

 4             adopt the rule, there was conversation among
  

 5             the members at the table, and I believe someone
  

 6             made the comment to the point of, well we'll
  

 7             just wait and see what the court does, as
  

 8             opposed to how you characterized today.  There
  

 9             was no formal vote, that I recall, from that
  

10             particular meeting on that issue.
  

11                  MR. BERNA:  Let me restate it.  What was
  

12             your thought?  Why was the lawsuit going
  

13             forward?  What was the purpose of the lawsuit?
  

14                  THE WITNESS:  I don't even -- I don't know
  

15             that I can answer that.  I don't know right
  

16             now.
  

17                  MR. BERNA:  Why did the lawsuit abruptly --
  

18             why was it abruptly pulled right before it was
  

19             to go to court?
  

20                  THE WITNESS:  I don't know.
  

21                  HEARING OFFICER:  Additional questions?
  

22                  MR. BROOKE:  I have one.
  

23                  HEARING OFFICER:  You're not a Board
  

24             member.  Are you on the Board?
  

25                  MR. BROOKE:  I'm just the auditor.
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 1                  HEARING OFFICER:  Any other questions from
  

 2             the Board?
  

 3                   (No audible response given.)
  

 4                  HEARING OFFICER:  Hearing none, Mr. Harris,
  

 5             do you have any additional evidence to present?
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  Testimonial evidence.  I think
  

 7             I'll call Mr. Bob Brooke, just briefly.
  

 8                  HEARING OFFICER:  Were you sworn in, Mr.
  

 9             Brooke?
  

10                  MR. BROOKE:  Yes.
  

11                     EXAMINATION OF BOB BROOKE
  

12   BY MR. HARRIS:
  

13   Q    Mr. Brooke, would you please state your name and
  

14   your role here in this meeting today.
  

15   A    Bob Brooke, I'm the Board auditor.
  

16   Q    And Mr. Brooke, in your role as the Board auditor,
  

17   have you had the opportunity to work with the Drew
  

18   County Burial Association?
  

19   A    Yes, I have.  I did an annual audit each year.
  

20   Q    And specifically, who do you work with in doing the
  

21   annual audit?
  

22   A    The last 12 years it's been Ms. Shepherd.
  

23   Q    And would Ms. Shepherd, in doing the audit, to the
  

24   best of your understanding, has Ms. Shepherd complied
  

25   with the requirements of the law in providing you
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 1   information and staying within the parameters described
  

 2   by law?
  

 3   A    I've had everything I needed.  I had something to
  

 4   say and it slipped away.  I've never had any issues over
  

 5   expenses or anything at all.  When she first started, of
  

 6   course she was somewhat nervous being new.  As the years
  

 7   went by, she learned more and more about it.  Anytime
  

 8   she had a question, any doubt how to handle something,
  

 9   she would call me.  I guess that's one reason there was
  

10   never any issues.
  

11   Q    Has Ms. Shepherd in particular, but the Drew County
  

12   Burial Association, in the 12 years since she's been the
  

13   secretary/treasurer, ever failed to account for monies
  

14   in the burial association?
  

15   A    Everything's been accounted for.
  

16                  MR. HARRIS:  I pass the witness.
  

17                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, any questions
  

18             for Mr. Brooke?
  

19                     EXAMINATION OF BOB BROOKE
  

20   BY MS. HODGE:
  

21   Q    Did Ms. Shepherd call you to seek guidance on how
  

22   to distribute the funds in December 2014?
  

23   A    No.
  

24   Q    If she had called you and told you she intended to
  

25   write checks in the amounts ranging from $4,000 to
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 1   $30,000, would that have been advisable by you, as the
  

 2   auditor, for her to do that?
  

 3   A    No.  But I do have a question to clarify this.
  

 4   Q    I don't -- you can't ask a question.  I'm sorry,
  

 5   you're a witness, so you can only answer questions, and
  

 6   I heard your answer to that question to be no.
  

 7   A    No.
  

 8                  MS. HODGE:  That's all I have.
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Any redirect, Mr. Harris?
  

10                FURTHER EXAMINATION OF BOB BROOKE
  

11   BY MR. HARRIS:
  

12   Q    At what point did you find out, or at what point
  

13   were you made aware that the Drew County Burial
  

14   Association was moving forward to effectuate a
  

15   dissolution?
  

16   A    Let me check and see if I have a date here.  I
  

17   believe I called Ms. Shepherd on the 17th of December to
  

18   ask her if, indeed, checks were being written, and we
  

19   had heard that it had been, and she told me checks had
  

20   been written.  The association was being dissolved and
  

21   distribution was being made of the assets.
  

22   Q    So even though she didn't contact you, you were
  

23   aware of it prior to the Order being entered on the 18th
  

24   of December?
  

25   A    Yes.
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 1                  MR. HARRIS:  I pass the witness.
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, any follow up?
  

 3                  MS. HODGE:  No.
  

 4                  HEARING OFFICER:  Members of the Board, any
  

 5             question of the witness?
  

 6                   (No audible response given.)
  

 7                  HEARING OFFICER:  Hearing none, Mr. Harris,
  

 8             any additional evidence or testimony to be
  

 9             presented at this time?
  

10                  MR. HARRIS:  None at this time.  And I
  

11             don't know how much time for public comment.
  

12             You have several who signed up.
  

13                  HEARING OFFICER:  We do.  I'm actually --
  

14             members of the Board, do we -- we may need a
  

15             very short break.  Let's take a very short
  

16             break.
  

17                  And members of the public, I appreciate
  

18             your patience.  And during this process, we'll
  

19             get to you.
  

20                  (WHEREUPON, after a break was taken, the
  

21             proceedings resumed as follows, to wit:)
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  I have a list of members
  

23             of the public to make comments.  Again, members
  

24             of the public, we very much appreciate your
  

25             patience through the process.  I know there are
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 1             a lot of personal statements that people want
  

 2             to make, and we do not want to short change
  

 3             that opportunity.  I do want everybody to just
  

 4             try to limit it to a couple of minutes each.
  

 5             Again, part of that is so that the Board -- I
  

 6             think everyone wants the Board to make a
  

 7             decision today and move forward so that we know
  

 8             where we stand.
  

 9                  So I'm going to call these names off one at
  

10             a time.  You're welcome to make a comment from
  

11             where you're standing.  Again, since there are
  

12             no microphones, just try to project as much as
  

13             possible.  I'd like to have James Ambrose to
  

14             come forward.  You can use the microphone.  If
  

15             you feel like you've got a loud enough voice,
  

16             don't worry about it.  And if you would, state
  

17             your name for the record.
  

18                  MR. AMBROSE:  James Ambrose.  I'm here
  

19             because I am very satisfied with what went on
  

20             here.  I went through all the processes and
  

21             went through this thing and we found no rules
  

22             and regulations on the Board that this could
  

23             not be resolved.  And my statement is that I
  

24             feel good about what the people said here and I
  

25             think we're on the right track, and thank you
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 1             very much.
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Mr. Ambrose.
  

 3                  MS. LACY:  My name is Marilyn Lacy.  I have
  

 4             a couple of questions.  The first one is, if I
  

 5             should die today, who's going to take care of
  

 6             my process, my funeral, since everything is
  

 7             frozen?  Second of all, why is it that it is
  

 8             such a hard time to get this money that all of
  

 9             us has decided to dissolve the association, but
  

10             the money is there, we can't get it, it's
  

11             frozen?  And then, who is it supposed to go to?
  

12             Third, does Stephenson have something to do
  

13             with affecting the way of this process, why
  

14             it's taking so long.  Those are my questions.
  

15                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Ms. Lacy.
  

16             Cherry Arnold?
  

17                  MS. ARNOLD:  Cherry Arnold.  My question
  

18             and my problem with the whole situation is like
  

19             everyone else, all the regulations that I read
  

20             through, you don't have the authority to stop a
  

21             dissolution.  You have the authority to issue
  

22             certificates and license, but you don't have
  

23             the authority to stop a dissolution.  And
  

24             that's mind boggling that you all sit there and
  

25             say that a burial association, members who
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 1             formed back in the 1930's and worked hard and
  

 2             placed their money in the fund and also placed
  

 3             it in whatever account and funded it and
  

 4             invested and got to this place but still paid
  

 5             out their benefits and able to take care of
  

 6             everything they need to take care of, and when
  

 7             they decide to dissolve, y'all have an issue
  

 8             with it.  But if they paid out all the
  

 9             benefits, even today, and the surplus was still
  

10             there and they paid to everyone else and you
  

11             still had some left, what is the issue?
  

12                  And the other issue is, the question was
  

13             asked, if you paid us the money you would have
  

14             a problem with wondering what we would do with
  

15             our money, are we going to go get insurance,
  

16             are we going to go get this.  Why is that a
  

17             concern to you?  It is ours.  Most of us are
  

18             going to go get life insurance or burial
  

19             insurance, but that's not your concern.  We are
  

20             the members.  That is our money.  We decided to
  

21             dissolve.
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Ms. Arnold.
  

23             Thomas C. Jordan, Jr.?
  

24                  MR. JORDAN:  Your Honor, first, I thank
  

25             God, you and this Board and all the members
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 1             here for allowing me this opportunity.  I'm
  

 2             Chaplain Thomas C. Jordan, Jr., a reverend of
  

 3             the African Methodist Episcopal Church.  As it
  

 4             has been said, our forefathers and foremothers
  

 5             made many sacrifices, and some of us here are
  

 6             still making sacrifices.  And I am humbly and
  

 7             respectfully asking that this Board, this
  

 8             Court, be merciful in your making your
  

 9             decisions and make merciful and just decisions
  

10             that would allow us members to use our money in
  

11             such ways that will lead our present and future
  

12             needs, as it relates to our families, according
  

13             to our present status in life as we journey and
  

14             seek the kingdom of God.
  

15                  And I applaud Mr. Caveness and Ms.
  

16             Shepherd.  And my mother has passed away, it'll
  

17             be two years in March.  For some 70 to 100
  

18             years, my grandmother and mother and all have
  

19             been a part of the Drew County Burial
  

20             Association, and they have provided a most
  

21             dignified and quality kind of services that we
  

22             have needed.
  

23                  As you can see, many of these members here
  

24             are in the evening of their lives where they
  

25             have health problems and sicknesses, and others
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 1             in their family have medical needs, and their
  

 2             children have needs.  Again, I appeal to you
  

 3             and ask that you be merciful and just and allow
  

 4             us to use our funds to meet the needs.  Thank
  

 5             you.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you Chaplain
  

 7             Jordan.  Terry Hopson?
  

 8                  MS. HOPSON:  I was going to opt out and not
  

 9             say anything, but I would like to let you all
  

10             know that I do agree with the prior speakers
  

11             and that I, too -- my mother passed away about
  

12             four years ago, and that I, too, was very
  

13             pleased with the service that I had been
  

14             receiving from them.  I didn't even know my mom
  

15             had us in a policy.  That's just how her life
  

16             has been.  But she stepped out and she did this
  

17             for us.  And like they said, this is the
  

18             members and the members have chosen to do, you
  

19             know, what we want to do with what is ours.
  

20             Thank you.
  

21                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Ms. Hopson.
  

22             Marcella Davis?
  

23                  MS. DAVIS:  I am the daughter of a deceased
  

24             member of the Drew County Burial Association,
  

25             and unlike many of the members here who will be
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 1             able to use their checks, my mom got her check
  

 2             in December and we had decided that we would
  

 3             roll it over into another policy.  Well, she
  

 4             died before we could do that.  As a matter of
  

 5             fact, she died last week and we buried her
  

 6             Sunday.  There will be no justice for her, for
  

 7             her part in this.
  

 8                  I had e-mailed Ms. Goode on about
  

 9             Wednesday.  Tuesday I started this process just
  

10             asking what.  I mean, with a funeral, every
  

11             penny counts, whether it's $500, whether it's
  

12             $200, whether it's $100, whether it's $1.  I
  

13             got no response until Monday -- Monday noon,
  

14             and that's well after the funeral.  So even the
  

15             $500 that y'all said she paid in, we were not
  

16             allowed to even use that, although she has paid
  

17             for over 40 years.  And even if she paid $1 a
  

18             month for 40 years, she's paid over $500.
  

19                  So what I want to know is, where is the
  

20             justice for my deceased mom who just died, who
  

21             couldn't even get the $500 to open the grave?
  

22             Nothing did she get.  I have a huge check in my
  

23             purse that she signed and she won't ever be
  

24             able to use it.  So I appreciate them for what
  

25             they did, but that's their money.  I mean, I'm
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 1             included on this as well, with my mom's, but
  

 2             she's gone, but I have siblings.  And what now
  

 3             we choose to do with it, I agree, why is it
  

 4             anybody's business, because when she was alive
  

 5             and able to do the right thing with the check,
  

 6             she died before she could.  So where will her
  

 7             justice be?  Where will Roxie Davis' justice be
  

 8             in this?
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Ms. Davis.
  

10             Larry Gragg, Sr.?
  

11                  MR. GRAGG:  I'm Larry Gragg, Sr., from
  

12             Monticello, Arkansas.  Monticello is a closely
  

13             knit community, and if it wasn't for a good
  

14             burial association and good Board members, we
  

15             wouldn't be up here today, because they've been
  

16             good stewards of our money.  They didn't spend
  

17             25 percent doing this or doing that.  They
  

18             could have swindled the money away.  They have
  

19             been honorable stewards.  That's why we're up
  

20             here, because the money is there.  And they
  

21             have paid us.  I got a check at home.  I got
  

22             burial for me, myself, my kids, and I got a
  

23             check sitting at home.
  

24                  And I heard some discussion about quorum.
  

25             I'm a past commander of the VFW in Monticello
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 1             and we have 200 members, and most of the time
  

 2             you got 15 or 20 members and you're not going
  

 3             to have a quorum when you get ready to do
  

 4             anything.  Just like when we voted on this
  

 5             dissolution, the people that were there voted.
  

 6             They voted for everybody.  And we're up here
  

 7             today because we're concerned about Joe and
  

 8             Linda and all of us, and you need to make a
  

 9             decision.  The young lady's mom that just died
  

10             and she didn't get anything, that was very
  

11             uncalled for.
  

12                  And somebody need to go ahead and make a
  

13             decision so that we can get our funds so we can
  

14             get other policies to take care of our family.
  

15             I put my kids in the burial and I've been
  

16             paying it all my life.  The check came to me,
  

17             but they are on it, but I've been paying the
  

18             policy, same as my parents did and on down the
  

19             line.  And we're going to look out for our
  

20             family.
  

21                  There's some intelligent people in this
  

22             room and they're not going to do anything
  

23             stupid with their money.  They're here because
  

24             they deserve what they paid for.  I got
  

25             insurance policy from State Farm.  If something
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 1             happens, I want my money.  I don't want them
  

 2             taking my money and locking it up someplace so
  

 3             I can't get it.  So the Board here needs to do
  

 4             the right thing for the Drew County Burial
  

 5             Association.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Mr. Gragg.  I
  

 7             apologize if I mispronounce the first name,
  

 8             Dorio J. Coleman.  This is beyond
  

 9             inappropriate, but I'm going to ask, what is
  

10             the first name for Ms. Coleman, so I can get it
  

11             in the record?
  

12                  MS. HODGE:  How do you pronounce Ms.
  

13             Coleman's first name.
  

14                  UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Probably Doris, but I'm
  

15             not sure.
  

16                  HEARING OFFICER:  Yes, it is, Doris J.
  

17             Coleman.  She was on the list to speak;
  

18             however, is not here.  Lereatha Hamilton?
  

19                  MS. HAMILTON:  Good afternoon.  I'm
  

20             Lereatha Hamilton and my mother has been a
  

21             policyholder for probably 70 years, and she's
  

22             89 right now, and I hope that she'll have a
  

23             long life -- longer life, but at this time in
  

24             her life she has received her check and she's
  

25             holding it right now, but she can't do anything
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 1             with it.  But she has sacrificed.
  

 2                  My father worked in a minimum wage job and
  

 3             he put all of us on a policy back in 1952,
  

 4             probably earlier than that, because we used to
  

 5             be in this burial association and he did it
  

 6             earlier than that and just transferred to that
  

 7             burial association, so he's had it a long time.
  

 8             But anyway, he died and he got whatever amount
  

 9             he was supposed to get, but we had to bury him.
  

10             But at this time it would be beneficial to our
  

11             family and to my mother if she could get the
  

12             money that she has paid in.
  

13                  And I'm thankful to the person who had the
  

14             foresight to invest that money such that the
  

15             people would have more money, but it would be a
  

16             shame for them not to be able to benefit from
  

17             the interest that that money has gained over
  

18             the years.  But seven years paying into a
  

19             burial association.  I know it's an archaic
  

20             idea to have burial at this time and people are
  

21             moving on to doing other things and putting
  

22             their money in an insurance policy or just
  

23             saving it themselves, but if they were given
  

24             the money, then they can take it and put it
  

25             into something so that at their demise they'll
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 1             be able to use that money such that it would
  

 2             benefit them or benefit their families in some
  

 3             way.  Thank you.
  

 4                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Ms. Hamilton.
  

 5             Thank you everyone for the public comment.
  

 6                  At this time, let me ask Ms. Hodge, do you
  

 7             have any additional evidence to present?
  

 8                  MS. HODGE:  No.
  

 9                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, do you have
  

10             any additional evidence or testimony that you
  

11             need to present?
  

12                  MR. HARRIS:  I do not.
  

13                  HEARING OFFICER:  I am going to ask the
  

14             Board if they have any questions before closing
  

15             and then we'll allow Counsels to close.
  

16                  Members of the Board, are there any final
  

17             questions for witnesses that we need to address
  

18             or answer before closing?
  

19                  MR. GILCHREST:  I don't have one for the
  

20             witnesses, but this probably goes to Counsel,
  

21             and I'll go back to Mr. Caveness.  1954, I
  

22             think it was, in the Board's agreement that the
  

23             Board could be -- that it could be resolved, am
  

24             I correct?
  

25                  MR. CAVENESS:  Right.

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



204

  
 1                  MR. GILCHREST:  And I guess my question is,
  

 2             if that agreement was made by the local Board,
  

 3             and as I see it now, the Board on the burial
  

 4             association has been dissolved, does this Board
  

 5             have the authority over an organization that's
  

 6             been dissolved?
  

 7                  MS. HODGE:  Does this Board have --
  

 8                  MR. GILCHREST:  If that was a local
  

 9             agreement based on the minutes that was read,
  

10             does this Board have authority if the
  

11             organization has already been dissolved, based
  

12             on that agreement that was with that Board?
  

13                  MS. HODGE:  Let me say this and then answer
  

14             your question.  I think the reason we have the
  

15             hearing is that your local Boards under your
  

16             statutes can only do the things that are
  

17             authorized by this Board via its statutes, and
  

18             so you don't have a statute that authorizes a
  

19             Board to dissolve.  And let me give you an
  

20             example.
  

21                  Your statutes say that a local Board can't
  

22             spend more than 25 percent of its funds on
  

23             expenses.  A Board couldn't then pass a rule
  

24             that say, "Well our Board is going to spend 75
  

25             percent of funds on expenses," and this Board
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 1             say, "Hey, well we don't have the authority to
  

 2             tell them they can't do that because they
  

 3             passed their own rule."  They can only operate
  

 4             under the authority that this Board gives them,
  

 5             and so they don't have the authority to
  

 6             dissolve, so you do have supervisory control
  

 7             over a Board, because they're acting outside of
  

 8             the scope of the authority that this Board has
  

 9             given or the statutes permit it to act.
  

10                  Am I answering your question?
  

11                  MR. GILCHREST:  Yes.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, do you have
  

13             any follow up?
  

14                  MR. HARRIS:  Yeah.  That's why we disagree
  

15             with Ms. Hodge in that the statute -- well,
  

16             burial associations are not limited to just
  

17             what the State Board authorizes.  That's
  

18             incorrect.  The reality is, where there is no
  

19             prohibition in the law or in the regulations --
  

20             and this was set forth in a 2007 Attorney
  

21             General's opinion.  It was actually Mr. Jim Bob
  

22             Humphrey.  It's Opinion 2007-035 that dealt
  

23             with this, among other issues.
  

24                  But the issue came up, and I think this is
  

25             known as the last man standing rule that
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 1             basically came from this deal with burial
  

 2             associations and if all of the members died and
  

 3             there was one member left, who would own the
  

 4             money.  Well, the members of the burial
  

 5             association would own the money.  That issue
  

 6             hadn't been addressed.  That issue wasn't
  

 7             addressed in 2007.
  

 8                  But what I found interesting was is the --
  

 9             and correct, too, by the way, is, in the
  

10             absence of any law or regulation governing the
  

11             question, and so the question is voluntary
  

12             dissolution.  There is no statute, law or
  

13             regulation governing a voluntary dissolution.
  

14             It says, "In the absence of any law or
  

15             regulation governing the question, the issue
  

16             may be determined by the corporate structure of
  

17             an individual burial association and by the
  

18             Articles of Incorporation or bylaws of such
  

19             association."  And I think that's been
  

20             instructive for this burial association.  We
  

21             understood that.
  

22                  That was a part of the reason -- and you
  

23             just shortened my closing argument, too, by the
  

24             way, by asking that question, because that's
  

25             really a part of this whole issue is, does this
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 1             Board have the authority to do -- Number One,
  

 2             there was an Emergency Order under a licensing
  

 3             provision, and you can agree or disagree about
  

 4             whether it's APA or whether it's the statute,
  

 5             the reality is, the officers are not required
  

 6             to have a license and the Board was without
  

 7             authority, given the circumstances, especially
  

 8             the fact cited was without authority to enter
  

 9             that Emergency Order.
  

10                  MS. HODGE:  We're off of his question.  I
  

11             do want to -- we're now into closing right now.
  

12                  MR. HARRIS:  Actually, I'm responding to
  

13             your answer.
  

14                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, I was going to
  

15             -- yes, you're correct.  Because we were --
  

16             that, I think, would be the only question.  I
  

17             was going to let you go ahead and respond, then
  

18             after you were done say, we're going to
  

19             consider that at least part of your closing
  

20             statement and I'll allow you to close.
  

21                  Are you okay if he continues or would you
  

22             like --
  

23                  MS. HODGE:  No.  I want us -- because I do
  

24             want to direct Mr. Gilchrest to what the Board
  

25             statute, because it's more pointed to his
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 1             question, and then I want us to do closing
  

 2             arguments when it's time to do closing
  

 3             arguments.
  

 4                  HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Harris, do you mind
  

 5             holding a few more of those thoughts.
  

 6                  MR. HARRIS:  Not a problem.
  

 7                  HEARING OFFICER:  Because I think you've
  

 8             kind of laid your part of that.
  

 9                  Do you want to respond?
  

10                  MS. HODGE:  Yeah, let me just direct Mr.
  

11             Gilchrest to the Board's statute at 23-78-102
  

12             to discuss the applicability of the Board
  

13             statutes, and Subsection (b) says, "All burial
  

14             associations" -- and I don't know if you have a
  

15             copy of it -- "organized in this state from and
  

16             after February 18, 1953" -- and Mr. Caveness
  

17             testified that those Articles of Incorporation
  

18             were signed in 1954 -- "shall organize
  

19             exclusively under the provisions of this
  

20             chapter and shall be subject to the authority,
  

21             control, and supervision of the board and to
  

22             all of the provisions of this chapter."
  

23                  So that's the answer to your question.  Any
  

24             association that incorporated after 1953 is
  

25             subject to this Board's exclusive authority,
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 1             not some other statute about non profit
  

 2             organizations or whatever.  It's this Board's
  

 3             rules that govern them exclusively, no other
  

 4             statute.
  

 5                  MR. HARRIS:  Then I would just say this one
  

 6             thing to follow up, not to be long.  There's no
  

 7             statute in this section governing voluntary
  

 8             dissolution.
  

 9                  MR. CAVENESS:  Okay --
  

10                  HEARING OFFICER:  Hang on, Mr. Caveness.
  

11             I'm going to let you, because I think Mr.
  

12             Gilchrest did direct a question to you, so
  

13             would you like to give a very quick answer?
  

14                  MR. CAVENESS:  Yeah.  The quick answer is
  

15             that in 1954, this Board, the State Board,
  

16             approved those Articles of Association, so it
  

17             was already approved by the State Board that
  

18             this was what we could do.  If you go back and
  

19             look at it, it was approved by the State Board
  

20             that we could -- that those Articles of
  

21             Association could govern our Board.
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Mr. Caveness.
  

23                  At this time we're going to close off
  

24             testimony.  Ms. Hodge, I turn it over to you.
  

25             You may close.
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 1                  MS. HODGE:  And I'll try to be very brief.
  

 2             The Board -- and let me direct the Board's
  

 3             attention to, first, the Emergency Order, which
  

 4             is found at Page 3, regarding the Emergency
  

 5             Order suspending both Ms. Shepherd and Mr.
  

 6             Caveness under the APA's Emergency Provision
  

 7             Order.  There can be no question that the APA
  

 8             applies to administrative agencies.  This Board
  

 9             is an administrative agency.
  

10                  And the Emergency Order itself relies both
  

11             on this Board's statutes codified at 23-78-109,
  

12             which says that all burial associations
  

13             organized or operating in the state shall be
  

14             under the authority, supervision, and control
  

15             of the Burial Board.  It doesn't say that there
  

16             has to be a specific statute that says this
  

17             Board's supervision, control and authority.
  

18             Which means an association in this state can
  

19             only do what this Board authorizes it to do,
  

20             and that authority may come from a statute, it
  

21             may come from an Order from this Board, or it
  

22             may come from a rule, but the only way an
  

23             association in this state can act is if you
  

24             give it the authority to do so.
  

25                  This Board previously declined to give Drew

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



211

  
 1             County Burial Association the authority to
  

 2             dissolve, and notwithstanding that Order, which
  

 3             was entered in June of 2012, they moved to
  

 4             dissolve.  So pursuant to the APA, this Board
  

 5             rightfully issued an Emergency Order suspending
  

 6             the certificate of authority or the authority
  

 7             for Ms. Shepherd and Mr. Caveness to act.
  

 8                  Now, there was some testimony about whether
  

 9             or not you actually give them a license,
  

10             whether or not its authority, but the
  

11             definition of license under the APA encompasses
  

12             all of that.  It could be a license.  It could
  

13             be permission.  It could be authority.  It
  

14             could be a certificate.  So I don't think
  

15             there's any question of whether or not the
  

16             APA's emergency suspension provision applies in
  

17             this situation.
  

18                  There was some question about whether or
  

19             not there was a threat to public welfare.
  

20             There was tons of testimony, even from Ms.
  

21             Shepherd herself, that said they knew that
  

22             there might be a problem or some detriment to
  

23             some of their members if they start receiving
  

24             these checks; for example, if social security
  

25             benefits were cut off.
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 1                  Ms. Shepherd herself testified that she was
  

 2             personally aware that there were at least two
  

 3             members in nursing homes.  And that's the
  

 4             reason that that provision in that December 15,
  

 5             2014, letter was put there is because Ms.
  

 6             Shepherd testified that, in attending this
  

 7             Board's previous meeting, she was aware that
  

 8             there might be some problems -- and her
  

 9             terminology was problem -- that there might be
  

10             a detrimental impact to some members who would
  

11             be receiving a large sum of money, because this
  

12             Board gives the statute to permit this Board to
  

13             give Ms. Shepherd and Mr. Caveness the
  

14             authority to operate.  Because the decision to
  

15             dissolve the Drew County Burial Association was
  

16             detrimental to the members, I think that there
  

17             would be no question that the Emergency Order
  

18             was proper.  They conceded that they received
  

19             notice of it.
  

20                  Let me move on to the notice of hearing
  

21             that's at Page 11, the allegations of fact.
  

22             Drew County Burial Association is a burial
  

23             association operating under the authority of
  

24             the Board, and I'm looking at Page 9.  That's
  

25             undisputed.
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 1                  Ms. Shepherd is the secretary/treasurer.
  

 2             That's undisputed.  Mr. Caveness is the
  

 3             president of the DCBA.  Finding of Fact 4, "In
  

 4             the early months of 2012, the DCBA petitioned
  

 5             the Board for approval of the DCBA's plan of
  

 6             voluntary dissolution."  That's undisputed.
  

 7                  There was some question and both Mr.
  

 8             Caveness and Ms. Shepherd testified that in
  

 9             2012 they did not believe they needed this
  

10             Board's authority to dissolve, and I think the
  

11             testimony would demonstrate that that's not
  

12             exactly true.  If they didn't believe they
  

13             needed the Board's authority to dissolve in
  

14             2012, they would have done it in 2012.
  

15                  There was testimony that as early as 1997
  

16             the Drew County Burial Association considered
  

17             the idea of dissolving, but that after a
  

18             representative of the association came and
  

19             spoke with the then secretary/treasurer, that
  

20             the message they received back then was that
  

21             the answer was no.
  

22                  It doesn't stand to reason that for two
  

23             years that the Drew County Burial Association
  

24             believed that they had the legal authority to
  

25             dissolve without the Board's permission, but
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 1             that they would send you letters, seek
  

 2             permission from this Board, approval of the
  

 3             Board of the DCBA's liquidation plan, not file
  

 4             an appeal from that Order but, instead, file a
  

 5             lawsuit in Pulaski County Circuit Court and let
  

 6             it rock on for nearly two years if they
  

 7             believed at all time that they could act
  

 8             without this Board's approval.
  

 9                  I think that that testimony is inconsistent
  

10             with the actions that they've taken before the
  

11             Board and in the Pulaski County Circuit Court,
  

12             and I think the logical conclusion is that DCBA
  

13             knew at all times that this Board -- that they
  

14             required this Board's permission to dissolve
  

15             and they knew at all times that this Board had
  

16             not provided that authority for them to
  

17             dissolve.
  

18                  Finding of Fact 5, 6 and 7 has been
  

19             established, that there was a hearing on May
  

20             23rd, and then there was an Order June 7, 2012,
  

21             where the Board concluded it lacked the
  

22             statutory authority to concur with the plans to
  

23             dissolve the burial association.
  

24                  And I want to mention something on this
  

25             point.  The fact that there was not statutory
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 1             authority, i.e., a statute that specifically
  

 2             established a mechanism for dissolution, does
  

 3             not mean that this Board did not have the
  

 4             authority to tell Drew County or any other
  

 5             association that it did not have the authority,
  

 6             because you fall back on your general statute,
  

 7             which is codified at 23-78-109, which is not
  

 8             withstanding whether or not there's a specific
  

 9             rule or statute that discusses dissolution.  An
  

10             association can only do what this Board says
  

11             it's authorized to do, and in June 7, 2012,
  

12             this Board said it could not concur with the
  

13             plan of dissolution.  You take from that, then,
  

14             that Drew County doesn't have the authority to
  

15             dissolve.
  

16                  The DCBA filed a petition for declaratory
  

17             judgment in July 2012.  No court has said that
  

18             DCBA has the authority under any rule, Articles
  

19             of Incorporation.  In fact, when asked, Ms.
  

20             Shepherd and Mr. Caveness testified that they
  

21             did not rely upon their Articles of
  

22             Incorporation as grounds for a dissolution both
  

23             before this Board or in the Pulaski County
  

24             Circuit Court.  Their testimony today is that
  

25             they believed that they were acting properly
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 1             because they have these 1954 Articles of
  

 2             Incorporation which allow them to dissolve, but
  

 3             that has never been their position before this
  

 4             Board, and it wasn't their position in Pulaski
  

 5             County Circuit Court.
  

 6                  I think that their conduct in coming to the
  

 7             Board and seeking Board intervention more
  

 8             clearly demonstrates that they knew they needed
  

 9             either court permission or this Board's -- they
  

10             needed, first, this Board's permission or court
  

11             intervention to properly dissolve.  Those 1954
  

12             Articles of Incorporation do say that the Board
  

13             shall continue perpetually -- that means
  

14             forever -- unless upon proper action by the
  

15             Board, and that proper action can only be
  

16             action that this Board has sanctioned.  And
  

17             since you didn't sanction their action, then
  

18             the officers weren't acting properly.
  

19                  The Respondents took steps to liquidate.
  

20             Mr. Caveness testified that he supported and
  

21             agreed and approved and authorized the -- and
  

22             I'm looking at Finding of Fact 9, that he
  

23             agreed and authorized the dissolution of the
  

24             Drew County Burial Association.  Ms. Shepherd
  

25             testified that she agreed with the dissolution
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 1             of the DCBA, and that she wrote the checks.
  

 2             And in the packet of material you see all the
  

 3             checks that were signed by Ms. Shepherd as
  

 4             secretary/treasurer.
  

 5                  In Finding of Fact Number 9, there's a
  

 6             reference to Arkansas Code Annotated 23-78-122,
  

 7             which says that 75 percent of the collections
  

 8             of any burial association or society shall be
  

 9             solely for the payment of benefits provided by
  

10             membership certificates and shall not be used
  

11             for the payment of operating expenses.  A
  

12             couple of things.  Both Mr. Caveness and Ms.
  

13             Shepherd testified that they understood that
  

14             the benefit that they were entitled to as
  

15             members was limited to a $500 policy.
  

16                  Ms. Shepherd testified that the checks that
  

17             she wrote to the members of the Drew County
  

18             Association far exceeded that $500 benefit.  We
  

19             used them as examples, the check that she
  

20             received.  And so in terms of 23-78-122,
  

21             Subsection (a), there can be no question that
  

22             more than the benefit that's authorized by the
  

23             mortuary fund was expended to the members, and
  

24             that that conduct was not authorized.  Ms.
  

25             Shepherd testified that she wrote all of the
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 1             checks to the members and that none of the
  

 2             checks were written for the purpose of
  

 3             investment, which would be an exception -- or
  

 4             not an exception, which would be permissible to
  

 5             those funds.
  

 6                  The other thing I think is worth mentioning
  

 7             is that your statutes allow an association to
  

 8             use funds for operating expenses, but they are
  

 9             limited to 25 percent.  Ms. Shepherd testified
  

10             that she didn't do any calculations.  So (A),
  

11             she doesn't know whether or not the checks that
  

12             were written to the members were for the
  

13             correct amount, per any pro rata distribution;
  

14             that they didn't do any calculations to make
  

15             sure that the funds or fees paid out for
  

16             administrative or operating expenses were
  

17             limited to the 25 percent.
  

18                  And so this whole idea of dissolution
  

19             wasn't approved and, furthermore, the mechanism
  

20             by which the DCBA dissolved itself, neither Mr.
  

21             Caveness nor Ms. Shepherd can testify with any
  

22             certainty that it followed this Board's rules
  

23             limiting to 75 percent of the mortuary fund and
  

24             25 percent of expenses.
  

25                  I want to turn your attention to the
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 1             charges, which is C1 and C2.  I submit that
  

 2             Findings of Fact 1 through 10 has definitely
  

 3             been established by State's Exhibit 1 and the
  

 4             testimony presented today.  In regard to
  

 5             Finding of Fact 10, your executive secretary,
  

 6             Amy Goode, testified that the Board learned of
  

 7             DCBA's actions on or around December 18th, and
  

 8             that there was an Emergency Order.  That the
  

 9             license and/or authority of the officers was
  

10             suspended, and that Ms. Goode was appointed the
  

11             secretary/treasurer of the DCBA and that the
  

12             DCBA accounts were frozen.
  

13                  Charge C1, by liquidating the assets of the
  

14             DCBA's mortuary fund and distributing them for
  

15             the purposes other than payment of benefits
  

16             provided by membership certificates, and those
  

17             would be limited, and we've heard testimony
  

18             today, in the amount of anywhere between $100
  

19             and $2,500.  Then the Respondents violated 23-
  

20             78-122.
  

21                  Charge Number 2, pursuant to 23-78-
  

22             124(e)(1), if the Board determines that either
  

23             Respondent is guilty of violating any provision
  

24             of its statute, that his or her license or
  

25             authority shall be revoked.  I want to just
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 1             draw the Board's attention also to 23-78-108,
  

 2             which is the Arkansas Code annotated section
  

 3             that sets out this Board's powers and duties.
  

 4             And if you look at Subsection (b), it says, the
  

 5             powers and authority set out in Subsection (a).
  

 6                  And so when you go to Subsection (a), what
  

 7             does this Board have the authority to do:  they
  

 8             can revoke certificates of authority or other
  

 9             authority granted to burial associations in the
  

10             state.  So this Board most certainly has the
  

11             statutory authority to revoke any authority of
  

12             any burial association in the state, including
  

13             Drew County.
  

14                  It says that these powers shall not be
  

15             limited, and the authority vested in the Board
  

16             by the various sections of this chapter, but
  

17             the Board shall possess all powers and
  

18             authority, whether set forth in this section or
  

19             not, to enable it to carry out the intent and
  

20             purpose of this chapter; the whole section.
  

21             That's what I was saying earlier, that
  

22             notwithstanding the fact that there is not a
  

23             specific statutory rule about dissolution, this
  

24             section says the Board has the authority to
  

25             possess all powers and authority to enable it
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 1             to carry out the intent and purpose of this
  

 2             chapter.  The intent and purpose of this
  

 3             chapter is to ensure that burial boards are
  

 4             operating pursuant to state law and pursuant to
  

 5             this Board's authority.
  

 6                  Unless there are any questions, I'll just
  

 7             end on that note.
  

 8                  HEARING OFFICER:  Ms. Hodge, would you very
  

 9             briefly just -- I want to make sure the Board
  

10             knows exactly what they're being asked to do.
  

11                  MS. HODGE:  I am specifically asking the
  

12             Board to find that the evidence presented today
  

13             establishes Findings of Fact 1 through 10, that
  

14             the Board find that Charges C1 and C2 have been
  

15             established, and once the Board establishes
  

16             that whether Charges C1 and/or C2 have been
  

17             established, then they have the authority to
  

18             revoke the authority of both Ms. Shepherd and
  

19             Mr. Caveness to serve as the officers, the
  

20             board of directors of the Drew County Burial
  

21             Association.  I would also mention that the APA
  

22             permits the Board to consider alternate
  

23             sanctions in this matter.
  

24                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Ms. Hodge.
  

25                  Mr. Harris, you may close.
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 1                  MR. HARRIS:  Thank you.  I can go through
  

 2             -- and I thank the Board for the time today.  I
  

 3             know it's been a little bit of a long day.  I
  

 4             want to go back, though, to the enabling laws,
  

 5             which is Act 91 of 1953 and the 1981 amendment;
  

 6             that's Act 360.  The purpose and the intent,
  

 7             Counsel stated that the Board has any authority
  

 8             to carry out the purpose and intent, it's
  

 9             Arkansas Code Annotated 23-78-101, et. seq.,
  

10             which is just Act 91 of 1953 and Act 360 of
  

11             1981.  That's the codification of those two
  

12             acts; the intent of that legislation, the
  

13             intent of the Act and the amendment.
  

14                  It says, clearly -- even the Board has this
  

15             on its website -- the Board is charged with
  

16             administering the Act and its subsequent
  

17             amendment.  The mission is to protect the
  

18             integrity and the solvency of burial
  

19             association fund held in trust for the
  

20             policyholders.
  

21                  I can make the argument, certainly, I
  

22             believe, that this Board acted without
  

23             authority in entering the Emergency Order,
  

24             because not only does it not apply to this
  

25             particular situation, regardless of this
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 1             alleged definition of any permitted use or any
  

 2             activity permitted by law.  The Drew County
  

 3             Burial Association has been authorized and the
  

 4             officers that it elects is authorized under
  

 5             existing statutes to carry out the daily
  

 6             operation of the burial association.  The
  

 7             intent is, again, to hold those funds in trust
  

 8             for the members.
  

 9                  Drew County -- there had been testimony
  

10             from Mr. Bob that there have been no issues as
  

11             to the solvency.  The auditor said that there
  

12             has been no issue as regards to the solvency of
  

13             the Drew County Burial Association.  He
  

14             testified also that he's gotten everything that
  

15             he's needed.  So there's been no question about
  

16             the integrity of how the secretary/treasurer,
  

17             Ms. Shepherd, has operated during the 12 years
  

18             that she served as secretary/treasurer.  And
  

19             you heard public comment of their intersections
  

20             with the Board members; the favorable public
  

21             comment.  So those funds were held in trust for
  

22             the benefit of the policyholders.
  

23                  Now, we can't ignore the fact that there is
  

24             no provision in the statute that deals with a
  

25             voluntary dissolution.  There is no rule that
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 1             has been promulgated by this Board to deal with
  

 2             the voluntary dissolution.  And in fact, every
  

 3             time that the Board -- well, the Board went
  

 4             through the motions of -- took the effort to
  

 5             assemble a rules committee, and there was a lot
  

 6             of effort, there was a lot of work put into
  

 7             promulgating a rule.  And I can recall several
  

 8             meetings, having been here, a lot of robust
  

 9             discussion about the implications that it would
  

10             have -- the potential implications that it
  

11             could have on the members.
  

12                  But the thing that was the most commonly
  

13             stated is, this money belongs to the members of
  

14             the association.  And if there is no rule
  

15             specifically prohibiting the voluntary
  

16             dissolution, then why can't they have those
  

17             funds.  Why can't they have those funds?
  

18             That's the question that we've been asking for
  

19             two years.
  

20                  Now, Counsel for the State would ask you to
  

21             believe that because the Drew County Burial
  

22             Association and the officers of the Drew County
  

23             Burial Association, because they acted in good
  

24             faith in trying to promulgate a rule, that that
  

25             means that they realized that they needed the
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 1             Board's authority in Order to do the voluntary
  

 2             dissolution.  That doesn't necessarily follow
  

 3             to that conclusion.
  

 4                  The members of the Drew County Burial
  

 5             Association, the officers of the Drew County
  

 6             Burial Association operated with the highest
  

 7             degree of integrity throughout this process.
  

 8             They've been transparent about what their
  

 9             intentions were, and this Board has known that
  

10             they have attempted to dissolve voluntarily
  

11             since February 14, 2012.  It has never been
  

12             hidden, and so it was not uncommon.  It doesn't
  

13             necessarily mean that they were trying to do
  

14             something without the Board's notice when they
  

15             moved to do the voluntary dissolution after the
  

16             Board declined to accept the proposed rule --
  

17             the rule that was proposed to the full Board --
  

18             submitted to the full Board from the rules
  

19             committee.
  

20                  So we get to the issue of whether or not
  

21             there was a violation of the particular statute
  

22             saying that the mortuary funds, if you would,
  

23             were used in an improper way.  The statute
  

24             states clearly that the mortuary funds are to
  

25             be used for member benefits.  The intent of the
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 1             statute, the whole point of all of the burial
  

 2             association laws is that the burial association
  

 3             will hold the funds in trust for the
  

 4             policyholders.  That's all that the Drew County
  

 5             Burial Association did.
  

 6                  When the Board would not act -- when the
  

 7             Board knew what their intentions were and would
  

 8             not act, the Board and the members of the Drew
  

 9             County Burial Association looked to their
  

10             governing body; they looked to their governing
  

11             document.  There's no law, there's no statute
  

12             that specifically addresses it.  And the Drew
  

13             County Burial Association had only received
  

14             from the State Board that we cannot approve or
  

15             concur with a voluntary dissolution because we
  

16             don't have statutory authority.
  

17                  You can't say in an Order dated June of
  

18             2012 that you don't have the statutory
  

19             authority and then turn back around today and
  

20             say, well, but the general statute covers
  

21             everything; it's like a catch-all provision.
  

22             That's inconsistent.  I believe this Board
  

23             understood that they did not have the authority
  

24             to concur with a voluntary dissolution.
  

25                  And initially we filed a lawsuit to seek
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 1             relief from the court.  And when I say "we", I
  

 2             mean the Drew County Burial Association, and I
  

 3             filed a lawsuit on their behalf.  And when we
  

 4             began to look at what the Board had actually
  

 5             done, we agreed with the Board, that they
  

 6             didn't have the authority to concur, to
  

 7             approve.  We also believe that that meant that
  

 8             they didn't have the statutory authority to
  

 9             prohibit.  There's no law.  There's no rule.
  

10             There's a rule for an assumption.  There's a
  

11             rule for a merger.
  

12                  There's been testimony today from Mr.
  

13             Caveness that they pursued those options, those
  

14             options were not fruitful, and they were left
  

15             with this option, the option of a voluntary
  

16             dissolution, because of what the members had
  

17             requested.
  

18                  Now again, I refer back to the Arkansas
  

19             Attorney General's opinion, 2007-035, where the
  

20             Attorney General's Office clearly argued that,
  

21             in the absence of any law or regulation
  

22             governing a question, the issue may be
  

23             determined by the corporate structure of the
  

24             association, or the organizing documents.
  

25             There's been no subsequent amendments to the
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 1             law since 2007.  There's been no subsequent
  

 2             amendment to the burial association laws.
  

 3             There's been no rule promulgated dealing with
  

 4             the issue of the voluntary dissolution.  That
  

 5             is the question involved in this particular
  

 6             instance.  And where there's no rule, there's
  

 7             no governing law.
  

 8                  The Drew County Burial Association relied
  

 9             on their governing body, their Articles of
  

10             Association which, in fact, this Board did, in
  

11             fact, approve.  They're in Respondents' Exhibit
  

12             1.  Thereby, proving the Drew County Burial
  

13             Association's right to voluntarily dissolve
  

14             upon proper action by the Board.  So we look to
  

15             the proper action by the Board, which occurred
  

16             with the meeting of the board of directors in
  

17             November of 2011, presenting a plan of
  

18             liquidation to the members in January of 2012,
  

19             which was approved by the vote of the members
  

20             present.
  

21                  You heard testimony about the efforts that
  

22             were made to provide notice to all of the
  

23             members.  You also heard testimony about the
  

24             average attendance.  And so the fact that there
  

25             weren't -- of the 200 -- I think at that point
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 1             it was either 289 or 290 members.  Because 290
  

 2             members weren't present doesn't somehow lessen
  

 3             or cast any dispersion on that particular vote,
  

 4             because that was par for the course.  And the
  

 5             members of the burial association had complied
  

 6             with their legal requirements to provide notice
  

 7             of the meeting.
  

 8                  If you look throughout the statute there
  

 9             are several different words that are defined.
  

10             And when I say "the statute", I'm referring to
  

11             Arkansas Code Annotated 23-78-101 and the
  

12             subsequent codification of the Acts of 1953 and
  

13             the amendment in 1981.  The word benefit is not
  

14             defined.  There's no definition of benefit.
  

15             And when the statute doesn't specifically
  

16             define it -- statutory instruction says that
  

17             it's used in the common sense of the word.  And
  

18             the members received benefits from the
  

19             distribution of their assets.  There was no
  

20             violation of the statute.
  

21                  For two years we asked for clarification
  

22             from this Board, promulgate a rule, give us
  

23             direction, give us a sense of what this means,
  

24             and for the better part of a year, the rules
  

25             committee worked toward that end and the Board
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 1             said no, we won't do it, we need a court to
  

 2             tell us what to do.  Well, the reality is, the
  

 3             enabling legislation authorizes this Board to
  

 4             promulgate rules.  It doesn't authorize this
  

 5             Board to promulgate rules and regulations with
  

 6             court assistance.  This Board can do it without
  

 7             court assistance.  We didn't need court
  

 8             assistance.  That was the preference.
  

 9                  And quite frankly, without filing any
  

10             lawsuit, this would have been a thing of the
  

11             past; it would have gone away.  But it got us
  

12             to a point where we at least said, okay, we're
  

13             not in a rush to go to court over this.  We'd
  

14             like to get this done.  And so there were
  

15             continuances.  We did work with the Board.  It
  

16             wasn't to the detriment of the members of Drew
  

17             County Burial Association.
  

18                  There's been testimony that no one was
  

19             shorted any of the benefits that they paid for.
  

20             Now, there were some that didn't receive the
  

21             full benefit of the distribution, but we knew
  

22             going into it -- they knew going into it that
  

23             that would take time.  Winding up an active
  

24             business and association takes time.
  

25                  The members of the Drew County Burial
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 1             Association have worked tirelessly to comply
  

 2             with the law to the best of their ability.  I
  

 3             think they've done it in this case.  I think
  

 4             that the Charges 1 and 2 are unsubstantiated
  

 5             because the liquidating of the funds went to
  

 6             the members.  They received a benefit.  They
  

 7             were refunded all of their dues.  That's the
  

 8             testimony.  I hadn't heard anything to the
  

 9             contrary.  They were refunded all of those dues
  

10             and then there was a pro rata after that.
  

11             That's the testimony.
  

12                  We believe the Drew County Burial
  

13             Association complied with the requirements of
  

14             the law.  We'd ask this Board to rescind its
  

15             Emergency Order.  We believe it was issued
  

16             without authority.  We ask the Board to
  

17             reinstate Joseph Caveness as president and
  

18             Linda Shepherd as secretary/treasurer so they
  

19             can continue to effectuate what they've started
  

20             with the dissolution, that the accounts be
  

21             released so that the members who have the funds
  

22             and the checks can actually get the funds.
  

23                  I think this decision was taken with haste,
  

24             because there doesn't appear to be a plan put
  

25             in place for the eventuality that happened,
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 1             which is, somebody died while all this was
  

 2             going on and someone wasn't able to receive
  

 3             their benefit, not even the $500 face value of
  

 4             the membership certificate.  I think this Board
  

 5             at this time can make all of that right, that
  

 6             they can dismiss all of the charges, find that
  

 7             they're unsubstantiated, and release the funds,
  

 8             reinstate Mr. Caveness and Ms. Shepherd so they
  

 9             can continue to effectuate the voluntary
  

10             dissolution.
  

11                  I say this in closing.  There appears to be
  

12             a reluctance for this Board to establish any
  

13             precedent as it relates to a voluntary
  

14             dissolution.  By dismissing the charges or
  

15             finding that they're unsubstantiated, this
  

16             Board doesn't set any precedent.  And I think
  

17             that it really would give this Board an
  

18             opportunity to go back now and revisit the
  

19             proposed rule, make any subsequent provisions
  

20             or revisions to it, and do that before others
  

21             do it, because the reality is, is that there
  

22             are burial associations that are solvent, that
  

23             this could be just the beginning.  Thank you.
  

24                  HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Mr. Harris.
  

25             We'll consider those statements finished.
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 1             Before I turn it over to the chairman for
  

 2             deliberation, which will be off the record, I
  

 3             assume -- I should have asked that before I was
  

 4             on the record.  All that means is that we'll
  

 5             close the court reporter during deliberation.
  

 6             So everybody's on the same page, there are six
  

 7             members in the room present, so any decision
  

 8             needs to be a majority of those members.  Are
  

 9             my numbers correct?  We're going to need four
  

10             votes to take any action.  So everybody's on
  

11             the same page with that.
  

12                  And as you're deliberating, I'm going to
  

13             ask that -- I'm going to get the exhibits that
  

14             the Board members have not been able to see and
  

15             we're going to lay them right in front of you,
  

16             Mr. Chairman, so that you'll be able to ask for
  

17             them.  That'll be Respondents' Exhibit 1, and
  

18             then the State's Exhibits 2, 3 and 4.
  

19                  And I think both Counsel made it clear what
  

20             they're asking for the Board to do, so at this
  

21             time I'll turn it over to you, Mr. Chairman.
  

22             At this time we'll close the record.
  

23                  (WHEREUPON, after an off-the-record
  

24             discussion, the proceedings resumed as follows,
  

25             to wit:)
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 1                  HEARING OFFICER:  The Board has requested
  

 2             some guidance on C2.  As the attorney for the
  

 3             Board, Ms. Hodge, can you provide the Board any
  

 4             guidance on C2?
  

 5                  MS. HODGE:  The charges are two separate
  

 6             charges, so ordinarily you can find Charge 1
  

 7             and not find Charge 2 or Charge 3 or 4,
  

 8             depending on what you believe the findings of
  

 9             fact support in relation to your charges.  The
  

10             specific provision mentioned in C2 has
  

11             mandatory language that says shall.  However,
  

12             the Board can fashion whatever penalty
  

13             consistent with the statutes in the APA that it
  

14             wants -- consistent with those statutes.
  

15                  I don't know if I'm answering your
  

16             question, but the statute says it shall revoke
  

17             if you find -- determine that either Respondent
  

18             is guilty of violating any provision of 23-78-
  

19             101 et. seq.  That they shall -- their
  

20             authority shall be revoked.  Am I answering
  

21             your question?
  

22                  MR. GILCHREST:  Yes.
  

23                  MS. HODGE:  It does have mandatory
  

24             language, but I think that Mr. Gilchrest is
  

25             correct in that the statute -- that all of the
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 1             statutes, et. seq., permit the Board.
  

 2                  HEARING OFFICER:  I think it would be
  

 3             helpful, too, Ms. Hodge, if you can look at
  

 4             (e)(2).  I'm leaning on you on that one,
  

 5             because I'm not really familiar.
  

 6                  MS. HODGE:  E2 refers to if the burial
  

 7             association board gives notice of appeal from
  

 8             any adverse decision, then the burial
  

 9             association may have discretion that the Board
  

10             continue to operate during the pendency of that
  

11             appeal.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  Page 12, 23-78-124.
  

13                  MS. HODGE:  If the Board chooses not to
  

14             permit the association or person to operate
  

15             during the pendency of appeal, then the Board
  

16             shall appoint a person to conduct the business
  

17             of the association until the appeal is heard.
  

18             I mean, 2 and 3 don't help you right now
  

19             because there hasn't been a notice of appeal.
  

20             But I don't think -- and I'm trying to remember
  

21             -- the statute has mandatory language, but I
  

22             think the Board can fashion other alternate
  

23             sanctions according to authority under the
  

24             statutes under the APA.  That's my answer.
  

25                  MR. BERNA:  Now say that again.
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 1                  MS. HODGE:  The specific language of (e)(1)
  

 2             does have mandatory language, and it says
  

 3             shall, but I think the Board has authority
  

 4             under the APA and its statutes, if you deem
  

 5             there to be another more suitable remedy when
  

 6             you're coming up with your punishment or
  

 7             sanction, that the Board has the authority to
  

 8             do that.  Am I making any sense?
  

 9                  So right now you're just determining the
  

10             charges.  But once you decide on the findings
  

11             of fact and the charges, then it becomes the
  

12             Board's responsibility to fashion your
  

13             sanctions, which are not in this document,
  

14             because that's the Board's responsibility.  I'm
  

15             getting some puzzled looks.  Are you with me or
  

16             not?
  

17                  MR. GILCHREST:  So you're saying that once
  

18             -- we have to determine what the charges are.
  

19             From that point, then we determine what the
  

20             sanctions are?
  

21                  MS. HODGE:  Yes, what the appropriate
  

22             remedy would be.
  

23                  MR. BALLARD:  Any other questions of
  

24             Counsel?
  

25                   (No audible response given.)
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 1                  HEARING OFFICER:  Hearing none at this
  

 2             time, we'll close the record again.
  

 3                  (WHEREUPON, after an off-the-record
  

 4             discussion, the proceedings resumed as follows,
  

 5             to wit:)
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  At this time we're going
  

 7             to go back on the record.  Mr. Gilchrest do you
  

 8             have any questions?
  

 9                  MR. GILCHREST:  Based on -- and I want to
  

10             make sure I'm clear on this.  Based on what you
  

11             said, when we look at Charge 2, we can charge
  

12             that there can be a, I'll just use guilty as a
  

13             term, for Charge 2.
  

14                  MS. HODGE:  Can I step in for a second?
  

15                  MR. GILCHREST:  Please.
  

16                  MS. HODGE:  I heard what you voted that
  

17             Charge 2 has not been found, and you're only
  

18             considering a sanction for Charge 1, if that
  

19             helps.  The Board is not even considering
  

20             Charge 2.
  

21                  MR. GILCHREST:  That does help.  I'm sorry.
  

22                  MS. HODGE:  But I want you to -- if you
  

23             have another legal question, I want you to ask
  

24             it, but before we re-plow, I understood that
  

25             the Board is only considering the appropriate
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 1             sanction, if any, for the violation of C1.
  

 2                  MR. GILCHREST:  You've answered my
  

 3             question.
  

 4                  HEARING OFFICER:  Also, Ms. Hodge, would
  

 5             you have any guidance on the Board, if there
  

 6             are any provisions in the Emergency Order that
  

 7             need to be discussed.
  

 8                  MS. HODGE:  Yes.  I mean, there is.  I
  

 9             mean, right now what you have is the funds
  

10             suspended, the bank accounts are frozen and you
  

11             have Amy Goode, who is the big Board's
  

12             executive secretary, operating as the executive
  

13             secretary for the Drew County Burial
  

14             Association.  And so it is my understanding
  

15             that, as the executive secretary, she could
  

16             authorize the approval of benefits for
  

17             certificates, whatever those amounts are.  But
  

18             I guess there does need to be action by the
  

19             Board to unfreeze the account to the extent
  

20             that she would need to approve the payment of
  

21             those face value certificate amounts to
  

22             whatever servicing funeral home.
  

23                  In the alternative, and I'm not telling the
  

24             Board what sanction, if they're going to
  

25             reinstate Mr. Caveness and Ms. Shepherd as the
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 1             secretary/treasurer, then perhaps there needs
  

 2             to be some guidance on how the accounts are to
  

 3             operate in the future if you're going to
  

 4             unfreeze funds, so that if she's reinstated as
  

 5             the secretary.  Because right now she's just
  

 6             suspended, so if you don't revoke her authority
  

 7             and you put her back in place, then perhaps the
  

 8             Board needs to consider what guidance to give
  

 9             the Drew County Burial Association as a whole
  

10             and specifically Ms. Shepherd as the
  

11             secretary/treasurer for how those funds are to
  

12             be used.  Specifically, they're only to be used
  

13             to pay face value.
  

14                  There's a third layer to that in that you
  

15             have -- well, I won't get there.
  

16                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  I have a question while
  

17             we're still on the record.  If the Board
  

18             unsuspends the funds, everyone that's holding a
  

19             check, can they still go cash the check if
  

20             that's what they choose or are we going to sit
  

21             here and --
  

22                  MS. HODGE:  Well, I mean, but if you're
  

23             going to reinstate -- I mean, that's what the
  

24             Board needs to consider if you're going to put
  

25             Ms. Shepherd back into place and Ms. Shepherd
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 1             signs a check.  So what Ms. Harris-Hill is
  

 2             saying is that there is a check authorized by
  

 3             the person that you put back in place, then can
  

 4             that check be taken to the bank for payment.
  

 5                  I mean, I guess there are a number of
  

 6             things that could be considered.  I don't know
  

 7             if you stop payment on all outstanding checks
  

 8             so that they can't be presented.  I don't know
  

 9             if that means until this issue is resolved that
  

10             you enter an Order that says that the Drew
  

11             County Burial Association can only spend funds
  

12             with the approval, and that includes -- I mean,
  

13             those are things the Board needs to consider.
  

14             There is a number of checks out there pending.
  

15             There was testimony and public comment that
  

16             somebody has one in their purse today.
  

17                  So I mean, you've got to -- I mean, that's
  

18             something you've got to deal with.  And that's
  

19             why I was saying, if you're going to reinstate
  

20             Mr. Caveness and Ms. Shepherd, then the Board
  

21             needs to consider what guidance it's going to
  

22             give the Drew County Burial Association for the
  

23             proper use of the funds, if you decided that
  

24             under C1 it's improper for them to use the
  

25             funds in a way other than to pay membership
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 1             certificates, which would be that face value.
  

 2             Any questions?
  

 3                  MR. BERNA:  So the next question, then,
  

 4             that opens up further, what about the checks
  

 5             that have already been cashed?
  

 6                  MS. HODGE:  If you find and vote C1, what
  

 7             you found is that those checks were not
  

 8             properly distributed or paid, because they
  

 9             should have been limited only to the value of
  

10             the membership certificates, which would be
  

11             above and beyond anywhere from $100 to $2,500.
  

12             I mean, I don't know how you unring a bell.
  

13                  MR. BERNA:  So who would be responsible for
  

14             those funds?
  

15                  MS. HODGE:  In the past -- and the Board
  

16             can correct me if I'm wrong -- when an
  

17             association has improperly paid membership
  

18             benefits, for example, when a policy has
  

19             lapsed, it has been the secretary/treasurer's
  

20             responsibility.  That's how it's operated in
  

21             the past, it has been the secretary/treasurer's
  

22             responsibility for those funds, assuming that
  

23             the Board found that the secretary/treasurer
  

24             improperly paid member benefits.  Am I making
  

25             any sense?
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 1                  That has been -- this is unprecedented.
  

 2             This has not been a situation, so I can only
  

 3             come up with an analogy where, like I said, for
  

 4             example, the secretary/treasurer authorized
  

 5             payment of benefits on, for example, an expired
  

 6             policy or policy that was reinstated, I think
  

 7             the Board has, in the past.  But this is not
  

 8             that situation, but that's the only one I can
  

 9             come up with by an analogy.  I haven't had --
  

10             as long as I've been Board Counsel, we haven't
  

11             had this particular.  And I heard the Board say
  

12             that they did not believe that the
  

13             secretary/treasurer or the president acted in
  

14             bad faith.
  

15                  HEARING OFFICER:  Any additional questions?
  

16                   (No audible response given.)
  

17                  HEARING OFFICER:  Hearing none, at this
  

18             time we'll close the record.
  

19                  (WHEREUPON, after an off-the-record
  

20             discussion, the proceedings resumed as follows,
  

21             to wit:)
  

22                  HEARING OFFICER:  At this time, let's go
  

23             back on the record.  Mr. Harris, I think it's
  

24             appropriate for you to ask a question.  Yes,
  

25             sir.
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 1                  MR. HARRIS:  And so if the Board is
  

 2             considering leaving Ms. Goode in that position
  

 3             and withholding the termination until, I think
  

 4             you said, the next Board meeting.
  

 5                  MR. BALLARD:  That's right.  It's scheduled
  

 6             for April 22nd.
  

 7                  MR. HARRIS:  So April 22nd?  I did notice,
  

 8             and I'm not sure what's happened in the
  

 9             interim, but there were charges occurring, NSF
  

10             charges for those people who were presenting
  

11             payment of those checks, not knowing what was
  

12             going on, because some people live out of
  

13             state, and it's further diminishing the amount
  

14             of funds if the bank is going to be allowed to
  

15             continue to charge insufficient fund fees until
  

16             April.
  

17                  MR. BERNA:  Well, with all due respect, I
  

18             mean, that was because of actions by the
  

19             secretary/treasurer.
  

20                  MR. HARRIS:  Actually, it would be because
  

21             of action by the Board.
  

22                  MR. BALLARD:  I don't think so.
  

23                  MR. BERNA:  No.
  

24                  MR. HARRIS:  The Board freezing the account
  

25             caused them to --
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 1                  MR. BALLARD:  Why did we freeze the
  

 2             account?
  

 3                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, I mean, it's a circular
  

 4             argument but, I mean, the reality is that if
  

 5             that hadn't happened, there wouldn't be any
  

 6             NSF.  I don't mean to get into that.
  

 7                  MS. HODGE:  Is there -- and I don't know
  

 8             what your communication was with the bank.  Is
  

 9             there a way for Amy to authorize individually
  

10             -- leave the account in a semi-frozen state and
  

11             that for however -- I don't know, whatever, and
  

12             then she say, "Yes, I'm going to approve this
  

13             check," or "No."
  

14                  MR. BALLARD:  That's what I'm saying.
  

15                  MS. HODGE:  Is there a way for you to do
  

16             that?
  

17                  MS. GOODE:  I believe so.
  

18                  MR. BALLARD:  Yes.
  

19                  MS. GOODE:  Even with it frozen.
  

20                  MR. BERNA:  Is there a way of stipulating
  

21             that no checks prior to this date are
  

22             acceptable and it has to be checks going
  

23             forward?
  

24                  MS. GOODE:  It would just be whatever
  

25             checks I authorize, which I don't have the
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 1             checkbook.
  

 2                  MS. HODGE:  Well, the Board can order the
  

 3             DCBA to submit the checkbook over by a date
  

 4             certain.
  

 5                  MR. BALLARD:  Does anybody want to put that
  

 6             in the form of a motion?
  

 7                  HEARING OFFICER:  Do we want to stay on the
  

 8             record?
  

 9                  MR. BALLARD:  I mean, I thought we had to
  

10             go back on the record to do everything we've
  

11             done.
  

12                  HEARING OFFICER:  We are on the record
  

13             right now.
  

14                  MR. BALLARD:  But I'm talking about, even
  

15             -- we voted on the facts and the charges, but
  

16             that was off the record.  We got to go back on
  

17             the record to vote for that.  But I would
  

18             rather, when we go back on the record --
  

19                  HEARING OFFICER:  We're on the record right
  

20             now.
  

21                  MR. BALLARD:  Well, to do them -- you know,
  

22             we discussed them and we found that through 1
  

23             -- I don't know if we can just take one motion
  

24             to cover F1 through F10 and then we need a
  

25             motion for the C1 and that would be it.  We
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 1             need two motions.
  

 2                  MS. HODGE:  You need a motion for C2,
  

 3             because you voted against.
  

 4                  MR. BALLARD:  Three motions.
  

 5                  MS. HODGE:  You need four motions.  You
  

 6             need a motion for whatever sanction or remedy
  

 7             that you're going to --
  

 8                  MR. BERNA:  Do we need to go back on the
  

 9             record to do that?
  

10                  MR. BALLARD:  No, we were off the record.
  

11             We're back on to do it.  You got to go back on.
  

12                  MR. HARRIS:  Well, I'm done with the
  

13             question, so you can go back off the record.
  

14                  HEARING OFFICER:  I think based on the
  

15             Chairman's discussion, I think it needs to stay
  

16             on the record.
  

17                  MR. BALLARD:  Any other discussion?
  

18                  MR. BERNA:  Let me clarify.  Are we going
  

19             to discuss the Number 4, the sanctions.  We
  

20             found Charge 1.  We didn't find Charge 2.
  

21             We're going to find Charge 3, I assume, but
  

22             we're got to discuss how we're going to tailor
  

23             that.  Is that discussion going to happen now?
  

24             And if so, doesn't it need to be off the
  

25             record?
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 1                  MR. BALLARD:  Go off the record and do
  

 2             Number 3.
  

 3                  HEARING OFFICER:  So at this time we'll
  

 4             close the record.
  

 5                  (WHEREUPON, after an off-the-record
  

 6             discussion, the proceedings resumed as follows,
  

 7             to wit:)
  

 8                  HEARING OFFICER:  At this time we're going
  

 9             back on the record, and Mr. Chairman, I will
  

10             turn it over to you for a motion.
  

11                  MR. BALLARD:  We have several motions, but
  

12             Motion Number 1 would be for C1, that we found
  

13             that to be true.
  

14                  MS. HODGE:  Mr. Chairman, you need to do
  

15             your findings of fact first.
  

16                  MR. BALLARD:  I'm sorry.  We're going to
  

17             group these.  We won't do them individually.
  

18             We're going to group the findings of fact.
  

19             Fact 1 through Fact 10 was all found to be
  

20             true, so I need a motion to accept Facts 1
  

21             through 10 as true, and then discussion and
  

22             then we'll need a second.  Does anyone want to
  

23             make that form of a motion?
  

24                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  So moved.
  

25                  MR. BALLARD:  Haylee made the motion.
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 1                  MR. GILCHREST:  Second.
  

 2                  MR. BALLARD:  Normal made the second.  Any
  

 3             discussion on those?
  

 4                   (No audible response given.)
  

 5                  MR. BALLARD:  All in favor of Fact 1
  

 6             through 10 as true, please say aye.
  

 7                (Aye heard by each Board member.)
  

 8                  MR. BALLARD:  Likewise?
  

 9                   (No audible response given.)
  

10                  MR. BALLARD:  There are none.  Motion two
  

11             would be Charge C1, that we found by
  

12             liquidating -- I need a motion to the effect
  

13             that by liquidating the assets of the Drew
  

14             County Burial Mortuary Fund and distribute to
  

15             them for purposes other than payments of
  

16             benefits provided by member certificates or
  

17             making authorized investments on Drew County's
  

18             behalf, the Respondents violated Arkansas Code
  

19             Annotated 23-78-122.  Do I have a motion on
  

20             that?
  

21                  MS. HOVARTER:  So moved.
  

22                  MR. BALLARD:  So moved, Barbara.  I need a
  

23             second.
  

24                  MR. BERNA:  Second.
  

25                  MR. BALLARD:  Any discussion before we
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 1             vote?
  

 2                   (No audible response given.)
  

 3                  MR. BALLARD:  All in favor, please say aye.
  

 4               (Aye heard by three Board members.)
  

 5                  MR. BALLARD:  Opposed, same sign.
  

 6                (Aye heard by two Board members.)
  

 7                  MR. BALLARD:  Pardon me?
  

 8                  MS. McDONALD:  We opposed.  Well, I
  

 9             opposed.
  

10                  MR. GILCHREST:  I opposed, too.
  

11                  MR. BALLARD:  I apologize.  We have
  

12             three/two.
  

13                  MR. BERNA:  And you're the fourth.
  

14                  MR. BALLARD:  That's right.  We did that in
  

15             closed session.
  

16                  C2, pursuant to Arkansas Code Annotated 23-
  

17             78-124, the Board determines that either
  

18             Respondent is guilty of violating any of these
  

19             provisions, his or her license or other
  

20             authority shall be revoked.  I need a motion to
  

21             the effect that we did not find that to be
  

22             true.  Do you want to make that motion, Normal.
  

23                  MR. GILCHREST:  I move.
  

24                  MR. BALLARD:  Second?
  

25                  MS. McDONALD:  I'll second.
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 1                  MR. BALLARD:  Any discussion on that?
  

 2                   (No audible response given.)
  

 3                  MR. BALLARD:  All in favor of that motion,
  

 4             please say aye.
  

 5                (Aye heard by each Board member.)
  

 6                  MR. BALLARD:  Likewise, no, for the same.
  

 7                   (No audible response given.)
  

 8                  MR. BALLARD:  There are none.
  

 9                  I'm going to have to refer to Scott on
  

10             this, or to read it.
  

11                  MR. BERNA:  Do you have it written down
  

12             there or do you want me to read it?  I make a
  

13             motion allowing for the continuance of the
  

14             Emergency Order dated December 18, 2014.
  

15             Further build off that, but allow Amy Goode to
  

16             approve any death claims for Drew County Burial
  

17             Association but no checks written for
  

18             distribution are to be accepted by her or the
  

19             bank.
  

20                  MR. BALLARD:  Everybody understand the
  

21             motion?
  

22                  MR. BERNA:  Should I put in there, until
  

23             further discussion by the Board or is that
  

24             understood?  Is that an understood?
  

25                  MR. BALLARD:  To be discussed at the next

                      GRIGSBY REPORTING SERVICES
                            (501) 580-5117



251

  
 1             Board meeting.
  

 2                  MR. BERNA:  Until further discussed by the
  

 3             Board.
  

 4                  MR. BALLARD:  The next Board meeting.  And
  

 5             here's the date on that if you want to put that
  

 6             in there.  That would be April the 22nd, 2015.
  

 7                  I have a motion.  Do I have a second?
  

 8                  MS. HARRIS-HILL:  I second that.
  

 9                  MR. BALLARD:  Haylee second.  Any
  

10             discussion on that?  Everybody understands?
  

11                   (No audible response given.)
  

12                  MR. BALLARD:  All in favor, please say aye.
  

13               (Aye heard by three Board members.)
  

14                  MR. BALLARD:  Opposed, aye.
  

15                (Aye heard by two Board members.)
  

16                  MR. BALLARD:  Three yes's/two no's.  Motion
  

17             carried.
  

18                  MR. BERNA:  You'll have to vote, won't you?
  

19                  MR. BALLARD:  Huh?
  

20                  MR. BERNA:  Won't you have to vote?
  

21                  MR. BALLARD:  Yeah, I vote yes.  Any
  

22             additional discussion?
  

23                   (No audible response given.)
  

24                  HEARING OFFICER:  Let the record reflect
  

25             that the decision was as stated in the motions,
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 1             which I'm not going to restate.
  

 2                  I want to clarify with the court reporter.
  

 3             Do you feel comfortable with the motions that
  

 4             you've got?
  

 5                  COURT REPORTER:  Uh-huh.
  

 6                  HEARING OFFICER:  Good.  So we don't need
  

 7             to restate anything.
  

 8                  The decision will be reduced to writing and
  

 9             service will be made upon the parties, or at
  

10             least attempted.  If you care to appeal that
  

11             decision, the appeal can be taken under the
  

12             Administrative Procedures Act, Section 25-15-
  

13             201.
  

14                  If there is no other business at this time,
  

15             we'll consider the matter closed.
  

16                  (WHEREUPON, the proceedings were concluded
  

17             in the matter at 6:05 p.m.)
  

18
  

19
  

20
  

21
  

22
  

23
  

24
  

25
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                            CERTIFICATE
  
  
   STATE OF ARKANSAS      )
                            )ss
   COUNTY OF PULASKI      )
  
  
        I, Faith Grigsby, CCR, Certified Stenomask
   Reporter before whom the foregoing testimony was
   taken, do hereby certify that the witness was duly
   sworn by me; that the testimony of said witness was
   taken by me and was thereafter reduced to typewritten
   form under my supervision; that the deposition is a
   true and correct record of the testimony given by said
   witness; that I am neither counsel for, related to,
   nor employed by the parties to the action in which
   this deposition was taken, and further, that I am not
   a relative or employee of any attorney or counsel
   employed by the parties hereto, nor financially
   interested in the outcome of this action.
        I FURTHER CERTIFY, that I have no contract with
   the parties within this action that affects or has a
   substantial tendency to affect impartiality, that
   requires me to relinquish control of an original
   deposition transcript or copies of the transcript
   before it is certified and delivered to the custodial
   attorney, or that requires me to provide any service
   not made available to all parties to the action.
        WITNESS MY HAND AND SEAL this 11th day of March,
   2015.
  
  
  
  
   _____________________________________
   FAITH GRIGSBY
   Arkansas State Supreme Court
   Certified Court Reporter #686
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